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Financial Highlights
ISR

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of HIHERNMEEERARAR (AXAAT])E
C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (the “Company”) reports the =F((EE)g((EEg)EhBELRF
annual consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries LEWB AR (B RER]) HE2023F

(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023, NRANBULEFEMNEFREER  ERE
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 F2022F 12 A3 B IEFEMLRET -
December 2022.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MBRE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12 A31 HLEEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$000
FEr FET
Revenue g 1,923,964 1,731,903 11.1%
— Core medical service — L BERE
revenue Wz 1,904,531 1,433,561 32.9%
— Sales of COVID-19 related —iH% CovID-19
medical consumables 1ERE B B
revenue W g 19,433 298,342 (93.5%)
Gross profit EF 618,962 447,697 38.3%
Profit/(loss) before income tax B BS54 Al
B/ (B18) 124,269 (11,227) N/A 38 B
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE,/ (EE) 86,335 (46,225) N/A 3 B
Profit/(loss) for the year KRR
attributable to equity holders AEIEFA
of the Company FIE,/ (&8) 61,998 (21,875) N/A 7R3 B
Eamnings before interest, taxes, ~ BFIS « i1 - &
depreciation and amortisation % 5 22 F 7 343,491 225,351 52.4%
Gross profit margin (%) EHE (%) 32.2% 259% 63ppMABEMZ
Net profit margin (%) FFE R (%) 4.5% N/ATNE F N/ANE A
Note: B 5
1 This is not a measure of performance under Hong Kong 1 ZEBWHEAMBRESER((EBUB
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"), but is widely used by WERER]) TFERRNEEZE  EEEE
management for monitoring business performance of a company EREEAEEZEANREZEARERE
from operational perspective. It may not be comparable to similar Wo HRMATHEAMARZINOEUE
measures presented by other companies. FEIEIELLE -

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A




STRIVING TO CAPITALISE ON NEW
OPPORTUNITIES ARISING FROM MEDICAL
SERVICES INTEGRATION BETWEEN HONG
KONG AND MAINLAND THROUGH SUCCESSFUL
IMPLEMENTATION OF OUR “BRIGHT EYES &
SHINY TEETH” DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present to the shareholders of
the Company the annual report of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023.

2023 was a fruitful year for the Group in multiple facets. With
operations fully resumed after the pandemic, the Group’s business
rapidly regained its momentum and grew beyond the pre-
pandemic level, with revenue from core medical service increased
by 32.9% year-on-year to HK$1.9 billion, a record high since
the listing. Our ophthalmic business grew steadily and achieved
a record high revenue of HK$1.43 billion, representing a year-
on-year growth of 15.7%, which further cemented its leading
position among the ophthalmic service providers in Shenzhen
and Hong Kong. The Group’s Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental
Group Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen CKJ"), which has been serving
Hong Kong residents for over 28 years, rebounded strongly
following the end of the pandemic, with revenue surging to
HK$384.7 million in 2023, representing a year-on-year growth
of 208%. Contributing almost 90% of the Group’s revenue from
dental services of HK$428.1 million, Shenzhen CKJ has already
become a major source of our revenue. In February 2024, under
the recommendation of the Shenzhen Municipal Government,
Shenzhen CKJ became the only specialised dental hospital
among the seven medical institutions shortlisted under HKSAR
Government’s “Elderly Health Care Voucher Greater Bay Area Pilot
Scheme”, further establishing its vital role as one of the leading
medical institutions in promoting medical services integration
between Shenzhen and Hong Kong, and laying a solid foundation
for the Group to explore the future opportunities arising from
medical services integration between Shenzhen and Hong Kong,
including those in ophthalmology.

Leveraging C-MER’s brand and professional, quality services, we
stepped up the effort in accelerating our “Bright Eyes & Shiny
Teeth” development strategy, thereby enhancing our presence
as one of the leading Hong Kong medical groups within the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area (the "GBA").

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

[BRRE RS & | SR RERRE A 2D - BB
i B RS AT

AANERREFEMAMAABREIRES
BEEZ2023F 12 A3 HILFENFR -

2023F REEZ FEISERMKEN—F o
BERGREEXEEY SEEBRRMR
B BBZEBRIKE &L BEERRE
BREFTHSLEMI9EST RLiER
329% RBEBEBXERMBAT S -
WAZE143EB T RLEEIST%
BEZEERRXESMHBREENEBEMM - &
EHE T RSB ARBIB228FHRYIFIHE R
EEt ((BER]) Z%a%RE  2023F
WAKIBRAE3847EB T ALER
208% - B2 (h B F B A £ 90%
EA42811B8 T KASEETERARIE -
f£2024F2 B BEREEFINITERFAE
EBETEXAIKAABESFRBMFI AR
EEEESFAL: +¥IJJE*J7*@H%%EPDE
—WERFRER -SRI REEE
BHEE) R E,ﬂﬂéqﬂ%ﬁaﬂ’q%{%%sﬁ
EZAGC bASERRARBERBE
NEREBERAMBE TEEER -

BREBIBHMENEXEE RS - [HELE
BB RIRERERE £ FREARM
EREBRNER ((KBEB])) REEER
BEBMTES -
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRE

MAINTAINING STEADY GROWTH IN OPHTHALMIC
BUSINESS

As Hong Kong’s largest and one of GBA's leading ophthalmic
medical services chains with national presence, C-MER’s
ophthalmic business had been making steady progress, with
revenue reaching HK$1.43 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 15.7%. In particular, while Hong Kong’s ophthalmic
business delivered solid growth and remained our largest source
of revenue and profit, Mainland China’s ophthalmic division had
also kept developing with continued improvement in operational
efficiency, resulting in a significant decrease in the losses thereof.
Among which, the C-MER Eye Hospitals in Beijing, Kunming and
Zhuhai all reported notable turnaround in EBITDA in 2023, which
reflected the increased maturity of the ophthalmic hospitals in
Mainland China, which is expected to drive the Group’s overall
profitability in coming years.

As an exemplary enterprise in the medical services integration
between Shenzhen and Hong Kong, C-MER Eye Care saw
Guangzhou C-MER, following the footstep of Shenzhen Futian
C-MER and Zhuhai C-MER Hospital, being selected into the List
under the Measure of allowing Designated Healthcare Institutions
operating in the GBA to use drugs and medical devices that are
registered and being used in Hong Kong but are not yet registered
by the National Medical Products Administration (75 & %& i
38) this year, enabling it to provide more patients in Mainland
China with priority access to innovative treatment options on
par with the world. The Group has also entered into strategic
cooperations with, among others, Luohu, Longgang and Futian
district governments, Shenzhen Institute of Advanced Technology
of Chinese Academy of Sciences, China Resources Guangdong
Pharmaceutical, Johnson & Johnson Vision, Zeiss and Roche,
in a bid to achieve rapid and high-quality development in the
ophthalmology field.

RMEBRFIRER

EABBBHER RERBILHZEMERE
HHEEEE FERMNEBESHT
BERWKRA143EE T ALEEI57% -
HE - EEBRBEBELER EEASE
B & KU A R FDE SRR o A M R B 37
BISRA  BEMETEHIES  HB A
REHEEABUE - 9 LR HIF - B8
35 B & IHER B B8 BT 7£ 2023 F EBITDA
R FEEE 1T+ fo R (A b BR ) B8 Be 033 AR 2
EEHIEBERREERFGE IR -

HIBRHEAREERRANAR  5F
BEMNABBEAFRINEERBERKEHIHE
e - RN ABRFFERERAZENET
BERRBEERCAET ML EEERAE
MAEERBEEREREEREMMNER R
BESMOERCERERR) B8 RE
LMK ABERIEBERAF N AETR
EHE-SENARERENR EEHR 18
HEBA - P RBRI R FHER
BE R2L20 A ERFRERER
B 1F - EEBUR MR 4 1 R KR ERBHE
BERMBENERE -
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DENTAL BUSINESS CONSISTENTLY REACHING
NEW HEIGHTS

C-MER’s dental business achieved remarkable growth in 2023,
with revenue amounting to HK$428.1 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of 161.3%. Thanks to the full reopening of the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong border, our Mainland China dental business
(i.e. Shenzhen CKJ) saw an explosive rebound with revenue rising
to HK$380 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 208%.
Following its merger with C-MER, Shenzhen CKJ experienced
significant improvement in its quality and efficiency, with its
annual average revenue per dental chair reaching HK$1.75 million
in 2023. Since the full reopening of the border in February 2023,
Shenzhen CKJ, with its reliable, high quality medical services,
convenient location and respected service reputation, has been
providing Hong Kong patients with another option for quality
dental services, serving as a complement to Hong Kong'’s dental
services. In 2023, Shenzhen CKJ registered more than 240,000
patient visits, with approximately 50% of them from Hong Kong.
Founded 29 years ago in Shenzhen, it currently has one hospital
and 13 outpatient clinics in Shenzhen, with half of them located
in proximity of the Shenzhen-Hong Kong border. The quality of
Shenzhen CKJ's medical services has been well recognised by
the government and has been awarded for consecutive years
with the highest “A"” rating for healthcare quality by the Health
Commission of Shenzhen.

As facilitated by the Group, Shenzhen CKJ had successfully
entered into a cooperation with the Hong Kong Federation of
Trade Unions (“FTU") in December 2023 in offering dental
services discounts to over 400,000 FTU members in Hong Kong.
Meanwhile, a new clinic had been set up by Shenzhen CKJ at
Futian Port in the first quarter of 2024, which further optimized
our dental services network in the Shenzhen-Hong Kong border
area.

Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRE

TREBEFREAFNS

FIBT R ¥R 2023 FEBRBERIGLE
WAZEL281EBB L AL K161.3% ¢
FTEXENRBZMEBEE R I RIES ()
ERB)EBHEERE  WALEAZISES
7T BB R 208 % o FEAFIGE - B2
TH WA 2023 FE FHERTFRW
AEFN758BEL, F-H2023F A2
AREBAUR BERESREERENEERS
K - ERAOMIBME R R REOE -
BEBRARE—EEE FRRSEE -
REKEEEFREERENMHET BF
22023 FRMARD N BB24E R - EF
EBBEAELLA50% o B FERERIIK L
29 - BRITERYIHES 1 RER +13RF2 -
HEP B —¥REEEMOEFEED  BF
fEHEELEE —EHESIRNNET  BE
ZERBSFRINERZEMNETEESRD
LMALGEE o

EEBAOHEET - H2023F12 8 EHERE
RIWEREBTIHEEREE ALEZHE
BAERLZEELNTINREER R
BEETR AR BREDE2024F —ZF
EERBORHE—MEMAZ E—FPEE
AETFRER R HELE -
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRE

GRASPING OPPORTUNITIES FROM MEDICAL
SERVICES DEMAND IN GBA: SPEEDING UP
MEDICAL SERVICES INTEGRATION BETWEEN
SHENZHEN AND HONG KONG AND INITIAL
FORMATION OF THE “BORDER AREA MEDICAL
SERVICES ECOSYSTEM”

After a decade of groundwork development, reflection and
consolidation, the Group has become one of the key driving
forces of medical services integration in GBA through its eye care
and dental care services. C-MER will continue to promote the
“Bright Eyes & Shiny Teeth” strategy to capitalise on the giant
market potential and growth opportunities brought about by the
87 million population in GBA.

The prospect of bilateral, cross-border medical services between
Hong Kong and the Mainland is promising. With favourable
policies such as the Measure, the Elderly Health Care Voucher
Greater Bay Area Pilot Scheme, cross-border inter-connection
in medical services and cross-border exchange of medical data,
medical services integration in GBA is set to gather pace further.
Combining with the trend of Hong Kong people opting for
medical services in the Mainland following the full reopening of
border, the “Cross-border Medical Services Ecosystem” of the
Hong Kong-Shenzhen border area has gradually been taken shape
and Shenzhen CKJ is one telling example of this development.

According to forecasts, the proportion of elderly people aged 65
or above in Hong Kong is expected to rise to 25.3% in 2028. With
the elderly population in Hong Kong on the road to surpass 2.5
million, healthcare expenditure and demand for medical services
will continue to increase, and the healthcare expenditure of the
HKSAR Government for 2023-24 is already estimated to exceed
HK$120 billion.

Driven by government policies and overflowing demand from
Hong Kong's aging population, and leveraging the successful
example of Shenzhen CKJ as well as its leading medical services
network in Shenzhen and Hong Kong, the Group has stepped up
its development effort since 2023 and obtained multiple important
achievements:

EEXNEEBREREE  RER
BNERS [DFERLEE D
HRE

KBTFHRERH - TBRES  £EBES
REMFRRECKABRNEREBERESN
BEEMFr— - HIBBEERD [ BRMEE
B RK B R - RIE K2R 8,700 B A O &5 2R 1Y
BEATMSE N REE#S -

FERAEERBERERANSER T8
REWE NERREBEFAMNE
BERBERAERSNERBRBBE R
EMHRRTE-TNERNEREFRA -
EeEMmE2E@EARKRE AL EREEH
A —EERER  REDFHNOFER
HEREE AN MEFRRELE TN
TR

RAFETEA - BHESmaA EREABD LG
JEFT2028F LA E253% - BEEBE AN K
FAO KRR LM 250 8 - & 2 R
EERBMNZRGFELIN  EEFRK
FTIE2023-24F EMBERIEECDHA
1,20018 °

EREMEEA D ZEREHFROHED
T BREE RO P T MRE MM E
EBEBKRNOER L SEB2023FH%H
MEMR - A TEESEERMR
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In January 2024, the Government of Luohu District, Shenzhen
entered into a strategic agreement with the Group in relation
to the development of “Hong Kong-style” medical services near
Luohu port, pursuant to which the Group will invest to establish a
general hospital with an area of 10,000 sq.m.in Lo Wu Port area,
namely the Aikangjian Fukang Hospital (“Fukang Hospital”).
Adopting a model primarily focusing on ophthalmic and dental
services with other general medical services as support (/NéR &
K EHE}L), Fukang Hospital is scheduled to commence operation
in phases from the second half of 2024. On top of dental and
ophthalmic services, Fukang Hospital will also provide specialised
medical services such as medical imaging and traditional Chinese
medicine in its phase one operation to meet the demand of elderly
patients from Hong Kong, which has been increasing under an
ageing population. Fukang Hospital will serve as an important pilot
unit for the Group to launch ophthalmic services in the “Cross-
border Medical Services Ecosystem”, setting a new precedent and
benchmark for the development of quality cross-border medical
services and driving further growth in our business.

Secondly, the HKSAR Government announced in February 2024
that Shenzhen C.K.J Stomatological Hospital has been selected as
one of the new batch of medical institutions under the “Elderly
Health Care Voucher Greater Bay Area Pilot Scheme”, which is
the only dental hospital on the list. Such inclusion is expected to
alleviate the shortage of dental services in Hong Kong.

With favourable policies and resources integration between
Shenzhen and Hong Kong, the Cross-border Medical Services
Ecosystem will bring unprecedented development opportunities.
The Group will continue to promote the integration and
development in medical services on both sides of the border, with
ophthalmic and dental services as its core, to provide support to
Hong Kong people looking for medical services in Mainland China,
and alleviate the pressure on Hong Kong's public healthcare
system. On the other hand, the Group will endeavour to bring the
essence of Hong Kong’s medical services system into the Mainland
to make contribution to its development in medical services, and
capitalise on the economy of scale of its Hong Kong-Shenzhen
business to offer one-stop, high quality Hong Kong-style medical
services options for Hong Kong patients residing in the Mainland
and travelling northbound, doing our part to build a “Healthy Bay
Area”.

Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRE

E2024¢1ﬂ 2RI 78 80 (& BRI B L 78 8
EEROFEBERRNESEEZHRH
u&'m.ﬂ#ﬁ:ﬁ&/ﬁﬂmf&é{ S E AR B
10,000 F F KM B SRR EEE
bt (EREERR]) WIRERIA R A O
[Nzra RERHERX - 5T 87/£2024F T
FERBOBBEEARE =RERNE
BEMNERRBER T FRIMBEER - it
HEBTEAOZBETTEENNREERA
MNEREHREEEEZEBNPEZER
ks - ERERBKASELOFEEE
REEHHBRERBREHNEZHE - BEHE
REERGNERPEI I LG RELE
HBEBIEENIEE -

HR #2024F2 A EBREBRFEM
AYERROBRERAEH —HIREBR
FREBAHMAE]  ZE-AENTHE
RIER - B2 EEBTHRBETEX
MR -

EE&“?‘Jﬂfﬂﬁﬂiﬂéﬁ CARBAE
BRLIEES Xﬁﬁi\iﬁ*}?& o 5H

BREREIMBEERS TR - LAEEH%D
FRIBZL Eﬁ/%mﬁittﬁvt SRR

BXF BRBERALBEERLS E‘]Fﬂ
SO E SEOEHNLEEABRERR

EVIEBESEANM - BB BN E RN R -
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EAEREREEE ARAEEREER]
EE e
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRE

Riding on the continued expansion of the Group’s three principal
business segments including the steady growth in Hong Kong's
medical services segment led by the Hong Kong ophthalmic
business, maturing of the Mainland’s ophthalmic operation and
rapid development in the Mainland’s dental services segment,
combining with the gradual emergence of the “Cross-border
Medical Services Ecosystem” at the Hong Kong-Shenzhen border
area, it is expected that the Group’s overall development will
enter an entirely new phase. Going forward, | am fully confident
of the future development of the Group. With the double drivers
of our ophthalmic and dental services, overall profitability and
competitiveness of the Group would be further enhanced.

Last but not least, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to
all our customers, shareholders, employees and business partners
for their unswerving support and trust over past years. We, C-MER
Eye Care, will continue to uphold our motto of “patients come
first” in striving to provide high quality Hong Kong-style medical
services to patients while generating returns for our shareholders.
Looking ahead, we will capitalise on new opportunities arising
from the medical services integration between Shenzhen and
Hong Kong and expand our cross-border medical services
operation to provide comprehensive, high quality medical services
with Hong Kong-style management on both sides of the border.

Chairman
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
26 March 2024, Hong Kong

FEE-REBRRNBFEZET B
BEREAENEEBERBIREBE S
b ot R BHAR R 5 46 AK PR I i OF B AR
ROERER  NEFEORNIORERE
EREE | HAN A B RS
BEADHEE BEERK  KAYUHEH
BARRER T ML EREAIFTRAG®
SIEHSH T EEBENANENFIHE
G — 2 e o

RiE RARLREHAEES - 28EER
BETMEBRBHBEZERZENIER
B FERMESEERATABART O]
MIES  RRARKEEEERERS
RS BB R A& B - R EARK - HAI
EEMBBERETHE ARERBER
X% pmtigftem - BXAEEMNEEZ
HY B8 B AR

*E
R IE 0 B8 4
B 202493 H26H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

The Group experienced a strong rebound in our medical service
business for the year ended 31 December 2023. Leveraging on
our strong reputation in providing quality medical services, our
core medical service revenue (comprising provision of ophthalmic
services, provision of dental and other medical services and sales
of vision aid products) increased by 32.9%, reaching a record
high of HK$1,904.5 million in 2023 from HK$1,433.6 million
in 2022. The significant increase in revenue generated from
medical services was due to the sustained demand on the Group'’s
ophthalmic and dental service businesses in both Hong Kong and
Mainland China, and riding on the positive traffic flow between
Shenzhen and Hong Kong through the reopening of the border
between Hong Kong and Shenzhen, the Group’s dental business
in Shenzhen under the brand “Shenzhen CKJ” had recorded a
notable revenue growth for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Despite the decrease in revenue generated from sales of COVID-19
related medical consumables to HK$19.4 million in 2023 from
HK$298.3 million in 2022, our diverse portfolio of businesses has
shown resilience in challenging macro-economic conditions while
achieving growth in the post-COVID-19 era, and the total revenue
of the Group increased by 11.1% to HK$1,924.0 million in 2023
from HK$1,731.9 million in 2022.

In addition, the Group has been closely monitoring the market
condition and adjusting its business strategies and operations to
prioritize our core business segments. In addition, the Group also
prudently manages its working capital to ensure a healthy balance
sheet.

Our operations in Hong Kong

Under the brand of “C-MER Dennis Lam (F IS FR)IEHR )", we offer
ophthalmic services of international calibre in treating a wide
range of common to rare and complex eye problems. In addition,
the Group operated (i) Champion Eye Centre Limited (“Champion
Eye") (= EREH L AR A A]), which has over 20 years of
history for offering ophthalmic services in Hong Kong; and (ii)
The Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited (“OPT"), an optometry
group to offer services in Hong Kong in the areas of myopia
control, optometry assessments and spectacles and contact lens
prescriptions in Hong Kong. In total, the ophthalmic and related
services network mainly included our five day surgery centres,
eight satellite clinics, seven optometry centres, and a one-stop
centre for medical aesthetics, dental and ophthalmic services.

EEENRR TN

e JE) ]
BE

HE2023F12A831HIEFE  KEEH
EERBSESRYRE - RERMERE
BEEERETEAMNEOESE  BRMOZ
DEERSNE (BERERBRS - 214
TR EAME BRI AR IEER NEBIER)
BIT %= - B20229 /K 1,433.6 5 & B Li%
J032.9% E 20234 K 1,9045H BB T - &
T AR 75 M2 B0 K MR 42 00 TY R 7 R B R Hb 3
AEBRBERIIMREEBBFENT K
I 2B R M b IR 18 B R 1 89 R B AR
WIEmESFE  BHE2023F12A310 14
B ASBERRYADRYIE 2] @K
EMTREBBRSEREELER -

BEHECOVID-19EBEREMEERK
FHH2022F /2983 F &8 TR 4 £ 2023
FW194B8EE L BERMZTIENER
EFmkEs R BB R TRIELE N -
WHERBERERIER  AQaMARKERA
2022F M1, 731 9B EB TN 111%E
20235 81,924 0B 8B TT °

AN REB BBV EEMR - LHE
HEBRMREE NELXEERLES
DED WS ARENBEERELEES
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEERENWR DN

Since 2021, we started our dental, oncology and other medical
services business in Hong Kong which included six dental clinics,
three general practice clinics and an oncology centre as at 31
December 2023. Further, we started our clinical research business
in July 2022, which may bring us opportunities for collaboration
with different biotech companies for, among other things,
research and clinical work.

In addition, the Group has been a distributor of COVID-19 related
medical consumables in Hong Kong since February 2022. The
revenue from the sales of COVID-19 related medical consumables
decreased to HK$19.4 million in 2023 from HK$298.3 million in
2022 due to the relaxation of requirements for COVID-19 testing
in Hong Kong.

Our operations and recent business developments in
Mainland China

In Mainland China, our ophthalmic service network included nine
eye hospitals in Shenzhen (Futian and Baoan), Beijing, Shanghai,
Guangzhou, Zhuhai, Kunming, Huizhou, Jieyang, our two eye
centres in Fuzhou and Shenzhen (Nanshan) and our three satellite
eye clinics in Shanghai mainly under the brand of “C-MER
Dennis Lam (7535 #KJIE#H)”. In addition, our tenth eye hospital in
Foshan (f#1L1) of Guangdong Province (&3 4 ) commenced full
operations in late August 2023. This will further strengthen our
service network in the GBA. On the other hand, we ceased the
operation of the eye centre in Fuzhou in August 2023 mainly due
to the limitation on the development to a full size eye hospital.
In the meantime, we continued to optimize the organizational
structure and implement refined management in our operations.

Our hospitals in Zhuhai, Shenzhen (Futian) and Guangzhou are
designated hospitals under the Measure of allowing Designated
Healthcare Institutions operating in the GBA to use drugs and
medical devices that are registered and being used in Hong
Kong but are not yet registered by the National Medical Products
Administration (&% 254 i8 ). With the supportive measures and
our clinical experiences in Hong Kong, the Group is expected to
be at a better position to serve the patients in the GBA giving
patients who receive treatment from us in the GBA faster access
to innovative and effective treatments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In February 2022, we completed our investment of 61.5% equity
interest of Shenzhen CKJ, which became a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. Shenzhen CKJ has a dental hospital
and 12 dental clinics in Shenzhen as at 31 December 2023. One
more dental clinic was opened in Futian, Shenzhen in February
2024. Benefitting from the robust demand for quality dental
services and full reopening of the border between Hong Kong and
Shenzhen, the business of Shenzhen CKJ experienced significant
growth by 207.9% in 2023 to HK$384.7 million from HK$125.0
million in 2022. The depreciation of Renminbi ("RMB") has
affected our revenue growth when reporting in Hong Kong dollar
terms. In RMB terms, our revenue of Shenzhen CKJ increased by
223.6% in 2023 as compared with that in 2022.

On 5 February 2024, the Company entered into a strategic
agreement with Shenzhen Luohu District Government (J% 31 Z& /4
[% BT ) in relation to the construction of a “Hong Kong-style”
private hospital near Shenzhen’s Luohu port (Z&# 0 =8 = 0 &=
EPTiER R B A (EW ). It is expected that this hospital,
which is within a five-minute walk from the Luohu border land
crossing, will become the first port hospital adopting Hong
Kong-style medical services, bringing Hong Kong's healthcare
management systems, medical technologies and healthcare
services serving residents of both Shenzhen and Hong Kong. The
hospital will have departments including dentistry, ophthalmology,
medical imaging, health check-ups, gynecology, traditional
Chinese medicine, internal medicine, surgery and urology and
the Group intends to introduce more departments in subsequent
phases. The hospital will operate within a seven-storey building,
having a gross floor area of over 10,000 sq. m. and is expected to
commence operation in the second half of 2024.

As part of Cross-boundary Medical Collaboration under 2023
Policy Address of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government (the “"HK Government”), and as announced by
the HK Government on 19 February 2024, our Shenzhen C.K.J
Stomatological Hospital (RIIE FEfE O &t ) (the “Shenzhen
CKJ Hospital”) has been selected under the “Elderly Health Care
Voucher Greater Bay Area Pilot Scheme” (the “Pilot Scheme”) as
one of the seven medical institutions and the only dental hospital
in the Pilot Scheme in the GBA as trial service points where the
elderly health care vouchers may be used to cover the dental
services provided. It is estimated that some 1.7 million eligible
Hong Kong elderly persons will benefit from the Pilot Scheme.

EEENWE DT
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Revenue Overview

The total revenue in 2023 amounted to HK$1,924.0 million (2022:

W= E
20235 BN A 1,924.0 8B 7T (2022

HK$1,731.9 million), representing a mild increase of 11.1% F:1,73198 8B T) © 20225 05 &1
from 2022, due to the combined effect of (i) increase in the core I011.1% » VAU TR IEMGRE 2 (i)
medical service revenue (comprising of provision of ophthalmic 2023 F Mz L EE RS WS (B IE R (A

services, provision of dental and other medical services and sales
of vision aid products) by 32.9%, reaching a record high of
HK$1,904.5 million in 2023 from HK$1,433.6 million in 2022,
but is partially offset by the (ii) reduction in revenue generated
from sale of COVID-19 related medical consumables by 93.5% to
HK$19.4 million in 2023.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by
segment for the years indicated as a percentage of total revenue:

BIARTS - BT R R H 058 fﬂﬁ%a‘&u&ﬁ%
ERNBHER) B THE  A2022F K
1,433.6 BEBTIER329%F 1904585
BT MRS COVID-19+8 R B EFE M
7 4 25 8 4> 93. 5%i2023¢E’J19.4§%7§
TR R

TREJNRMNZEFERD HBE DK
@ A (AE AR B DL ROR) ¢

Year ended 31 December

BE12A3MBLEE
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
HK medical business BEREEER 932,087 485 805,656 466 126,431 15.7
Mainland China ophthalmic business /3 i 4 3 7% 587,710 30.5 502,943 290 84,767 16.9
Mainland China dental business W T BT 384,734 20.0 124,962 72 259,772 207.9
Sales of medical consumables HEBBREM 19,433 1.0 298,342 17.2 (278,909) (93.5)
1,923,964 100.0 1,731,903 100.0 192,061 1.1

In Hong Kong, our operations consisted of the provision of
medical services (comprising of provision of ophthalmic services,
provision of dental and other medical services) and the related
businesses (including the sales of vision aid products), and the
distribution of COVID-19 related medical consumables. With the
increasing demand of quality medical services, and the sizeable
and well-built network of our clinics in Hong Kong, our revenue
from medical services and related businesses derived from our
operation in Hong Kong increased by 15.7% to HK$932.1 million
(2022: HK$805.7 million) due to the successful integration of
our acquired businesses of Champion Eye and The Optometry
(OPT) Centre Limited and the organic growth from our core
medical services. The revenue from the sales of COVID-19 related
medical consumables decreased to HK$19.4 million in 2023 from
HK$298.3 million in 2022 due to relaxation of requirements for
COVID-19 testing in Hong Kong.

BMEESENESBREREEERSE (28
IRERBR Tﬁfﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂg{ﬁﬁ%)
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Our revenue in the Mainland China was mainly derived from
our provision of ophthalmic services and dental services, and we
recorded an increase of 54.9% in 2023 to HK$972.4 million from
HK$627.9 million in 2022. In RMB terms, the revenue increased
by 62.8%.

We provided our ophthalmic services in Mainland China in our eye
hospitals, eye centres and satellite eye clinics. The total revenue
from the eye hospitals in Futian and Baoan, Shenzhen and the
eye centre in Nanshan, Shenzhen increased slightly by 5.6% and
amounted to HK$276.6 million in 2023 (2022: HK$261.9 million).
In RMB terms, the revenue increased by 11.0%.

The revenue of the eye hospital in Beijing, which commenced its
operations in January 2018, increased by 67.2% and amounted to
HK$100.2 million in 2023 (2022: HK$59.9 million). The revenue
of the operations in Shanghai, the acquisition of which was
completed in November 2019, increased by 6.8% and amounted
to HK$53.1 million in 2023 (2022: HK$49.7 million). In RMB
terms, the revenue derived from Beijing and Shanghai increased
by 75.8% and 12.4%, respectively.

The other two acquired eye hospitals in Kunming, the acquisition
of which was completed in June 2019, and Zhuhai, the acquisition
of which was completed in December 2020, contributed HK$67.6
million (2022: HK$60.6 million), and HK$42.8 million (2022:
HK$37.2 million) to the revenue of the Group, respectively, in
2023, and their operations have been running smoothly and
positively since the acquisitions.

The eye hospitals in Huizhou, Guangzhou, Jieyang and Foshan
commenced full operations in March 2021, April 2022, August
2022 and August 2023, respectively, and contributed HK$12.0
million (2022: HK$13.9 million), HK$22.7 million (2022: HK$11.4
million), HK$7.7 million (2022: HK$2.1 million) and HK$0.9 million
(2022: nil) to the revenue of the Group, respectively, in 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, we provided our dental
services in Mainland China in the dental hospital and 12 dental
clinics in Shenzhen under Shenzhen CKJ. Following the reopening
of the border between Hong Kong and Shenzhen, the recovery
momentum was very strong and the revenue of Shenzhen CKJ
soared by 207.9% to HK$384.7 million in 2023 from HK$125.0
million in 2022.

EEENWERDN
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EEEFWE DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

We are an ophthalmic, dental and other medical service provider
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Our ophthalmologists/
physicians are specialised in the fields of cataract, glaucoma,
strabismus and refractive surgeries and external eye diseases. Our
dentists have expertise and qualifications across a wide range
of specialty areas, covering general dentistry, orthodontics and
implantology. Our revenue is derived from our fees charged to our
clients on consultation, procedures, surgeries, and other medical
services, as well as the sales of vision aid products, including
glasses and lens, and medical consumables. The following table
sets forth our revenue by nature for the years indicated as a
percentage of total revenue:

5t %5 o iR
i 28

AR —RUREFRERTEAMAORE
FRIMEMERRGEMRE - RFAORRY
BE/BEERAANE BB RREK
By Fi Rk RRABAE - RFIWTER
BEREXAENEINER  RELRE
R ERMEBER - RMANKEERS
RPE -RBF FHEAEMBERBRAR
FYERERIARHESR N HEE @ (AR
BRER) RBEEEN o TREHEPIRAT
REEMREGE R rhakEa
palvE

Year ended 31 December

BZENA3MBLEE
2023 2022 Change
2023 2022 2E)

HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

FET FET FET
Provision of ophthalmic services RERBHRTS 1,266,248 65.7 1,074,301 62.0 191,947 179
Provision of dental services RETR BB 428,098 223 163,853 95 264,245 1613
Provision of other medical services  fR it H (2 & fR 7% 47,580 25 34,426 20 13,154 38.2
Sales of vision aid products HERNBYER 162,605 85 160,981 93 1,624 1.0
Sales of medical consumables HEBBEMN 19,433 1.0 298342 172 (278,909) (93.5)
1,923,964 100.0 1,731,903 100.0 192,061 M.

Our total revenue in 2023 recorded a slight increase of 11.1%
as compared with our total revenue in 2022. The increase was
primarily driven by (i) the increase in the revenue generated from
the provision of ophthalmic services to HK$1,266.2 million in
2023 from HK$1,074.3 million in 2022, representing an increase
of 17.9%, which was primarily attributable to the increase in
the number of surgeries performed by us in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, (ii) the increase in the revenue generated from
the provision of dental services to HK$428.1 million in 2023 from
HK$163.9 million in 2022, representing an increase of 161.3%,
which was primarily attributable to reopening of the border
between Hong Kong and Shenzhen leading to the significant
growth in business volume for Shenzhen CKJ, but is partially offset
by (iii) the decrease in the revenue generated from the sales of
medical consumables to HK$19.4 million in 2023 from HK$298.3
million in 2022.

B AR 2023 F A A UL S B 2022 FF 4B U 25 X
WIBIM11.1% c ZBMFEZHUTHAETE :
() IR AR L BR 75 19 U 25 F1 2022 FF 79 1,074.3
BEBILEIN17.9% £ 2023F 81,2662 7
SEAET FTEZHRBEMREERFBE AL
EITHF TS E B MATE - ()R T RR
TEE W 25 B 2022 F 9 163.9 & & 78 Jo 8 N
161.3% £ 2023F 428 1B & BT &8
RRB R ERE S8R R
WEBSREZLR  HHEG)IBEEBEREN
B 25 2022 F M2983 B EB TR &
2023 FM19.4 B BB IKE -
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TREIIBMIREU IR TS5 85 6K PR
HRkEA DL

The following table sets forth our revenue according to
geographical markets as a percentage of total revenue:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022 Change

2023 F 2022 F =

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

FET FETL FET
Hong Kong BE 951,520 49.5 1,103,998 63.7 (152,478) (13.8)
Mainland China FEI A 972,444 50.5 627,905 363 344,539 54.9
1,923,964 100.0 1,731,903 1000 192,061 111

The revenue generated by our business operations in Hong Kong
accounted for 49.5% of our total revenue. As a percentage of our
total revenue, revenue from Hong Kong decreased from 63.7%
for the year ended 31 December 2023 due to the decrease in
revenue from sale of COVID-19 related medical consumables in
Hong Kong and the faster growth in revenue from our dental
services in Mainland China.

Provision of ophthalmic services

Our revenue generated from the provision of ophthalmic
services may be broadly divided into two categories, namely (1)
consultation and other medical service fees and (2) surgery fees.
The following table sets forth our revenue by category for the
years indicated as a percentage of total revenue generated from
the provision of ophthalmic services:

BMEESEEEBEEN KRG BN
B149.5% - BB FHBIWEZHE Db
BAEE2023F12A31H IEFEM63.7%
BB - RHRESR ST ECOVID-194
BEEEMHRERY BB A TR
FR 755 B9 Uit 25 388 R BRI B o

RAR B AR S

HAKRERHEBEHMBREDREATARS B
MR (M2 e REMERERBERQ)F
M2 o TREHARFERBFE D oK
S ATERERMIRGAEAKEE DL

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

Consultation and other medical

vERAMBERE R

2023

2023 %
HKS$000
TER

2022
2022F

HK$ 000
FET

HK$000
FET

service fees
- Hong Kong -Bk 321,524 254 250,254 233 71,270 285
- Mainland China —HHE R 146,064 11.5 97,929 9.1 48,135 49.2
467,588 36.9 348,183 324 119,405 343
Surgery fees FE
—Hong Kong ~&% 483,838 382 449,078 418 34,760 7.7
- Mainland China —HE A 314,822 249 277,040 258 37,782 13.6
798,660 63.1 726,118 67.6 72,542 10.0
Total w@Et 1,266,248 100.0 1,074,301 100.0 191,947 17.9
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The ophthalmic services provided by us focused on surgeries for
the treatment of not only cataract, glaucoma and strabismus,
but also eye diseases including corneal and vitreoretinal diseases.
Generally speaking, ophthalmic services provided by us are
outpatient or day care procedures, performed under local
anaesthesia. Hence, unlike other hospitals, clinics or nursing
homes, we are not constrained by bed capacity and do not focus
on providing large inpatient facilities at our eye centres, hospitals
or clinics.

Our revenue generated from our eye hospitals, eye centres,
eye clinics and optometry centres can be broadly divided into
different categories, namely (1) consultation, examination, laser
procedures and other procedures, (2) refractive surgeries, (3)
cataract surgeries, (4) other surgeries and (5) sales of vision aid
products which included our optometry services, which accounted
for 32.7%, 24.6%, 20.1%, 11.2% and 11.4% (2022: 28.2%,
28.1%, 17.1%, 13.6% and 13.0%), respectively, as a percentage
of the total revenue for the Group derived from our ophthalmic
business during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The following table sets forth the total surgery fees, the total
number of surgeries performed by us and the average fee per
surgery:

HPRHAOBRMBRBEIIORARNE -
FAREREOFMAL AR - FIFEER
BIRABERRERR - — &M s - HFIR
TR RE AN BEME T ETHMD
AMERERE -Hgt BEMBER 2
P& AR RATIRUETERS -
TRIFFITRNRPNRBA L - BlKD AT
R RIEF R

RAKBBRRER BRSO BR2M
MEREHE R OB KB 5 BT
AEER Bl RE - BkaERE
HRE : QEXTFM: Q) EREFM : @)
EmFM: ROEERNBHER (BF
BB IRT) - REE2023F12 A31
BIEFE  9MhASEBRERE RS A
BN BER32.7% ~ 24.6% * 20.1% -
11.2% K 11.4% (20224 : 28.2% -
28.1% ~17.1% ~ 13.6% [ 13.0%) °

TR FMEBELRE HIETHFNR
L EBHFMEOFHER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12B31BLFE

In Hong Kong BB
Total surgery fee (in HK$'000) FirBgEE(TAT)
Number of surgeries performed by us #7175 F 178 B

Average surgery fee (HK$) FHFME (Bx)
In Mainland China Bl Ry it
Total surgery fee (in HK$'000) FirEHEE(TAT)

Number of surgeries performed by us FFIsE 1769 F 7&K A
Average surgery fee (HK$) FHFME (BT)

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 €
483,838 449,078 7.7
17,358 15,969 8.7
27,874 28,122 (0.9)
314,822 277,040 13.6
25,528 19,062 33.9
12,332 14,534 (15.2)

In Hong Kong, the average surgery fee remained roughly the
same. The surgery volume increased by 8.7% during the year
ended 31 December 2023 as a result of the increasing demand
of quality medical services with the total surgery fee increased by
7.7% in 2023.

EEE FHFINEREEFTF - H 22023
FNRANBLEFE BRNEEEERBES
KN WFMTEB L IN8.7% * ™M2023F
R FIiT B AERIEINT7.7% °
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In Mainland China, the average surgery fee in Hong Kong dollar
terms decreased by 15.2% due to price adjustment for promoting
of our refractive surgeries in certain locations and the depreciation
of RMB against Hong Kong dollar in 2023. In RMB terms, the
average surgery fee decreased by 10.8%. The number of surgeries
increased by 33.9% in 2023, which was mainly attributable to
the increase in the number of surgeries performed in the eye
hospitals in  Shenzhen, Beijing and Guangzhou, which resulted in
an increased of total surgery fee by 13.6% in 2023.

Provision of dental services

The following table sets forth the total revenue from dental
services, the total number of patient visits, total number of dental
chairs, visits per dental chair and revenue per dental chair:

EEENWERDN

FEFRBE A - 2023 F 89 F35 F it & LUB
TCHIER T 15.2% @ b DA R EE T
HERBAXFMAOERABRURARE LE
TREFAHR - UAREFE  FHFWE
T#£10.8% © 2023 F 1T HY F T 2L B 18 h1
33.9% F EZHMNFI - LR REMNREE
PriEfTR FITEE 8500 - (52023 F /M) F1if
BAEEHNN13.6% °

RETF R

TR ITHRGENS A2 BE - F
MEas SRAMERZRERERSF
Rha et

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MHILEE

Total revenue (in HK$'000) iz (FA&7T)
Total patient visits B BE
Total number of dental chairs FRUG B E

BRI MERDRE

Visits per dental chair

Revenue per dental chair (in HK$'000) &3k 7F &HF U 5 (Fi87T)

2023 2022

2023 2022 4
428,098 163,853 161.3
257,387 131,425 95.8
235 233 0.9
1,095 564 94.1
1,822 703 159.2

Our revenue generated from dental services recorded a significant
increase of 161.3% in 2023, which amounted to HK$428.1
million (2022: HK$163.9 million), representing 22.3% (2022:
9.5%) of our total revenue.

The number of patient visits for dental services increased by
95.8% from 131,425 to 257,387 during 2023. Visits per dental
chair increased by 94.1% from 564 to 1,095, while revenue
per dental chair recorded a significant increase of 159.2% to
HK$1,822,000 in 2023 (2022: HK$703,000). The increase was
primarily attributable to the rebound in demand for dental services
of Shenzhen CKJ after the reopening of the border between Hong
Kong and Shenzhen, which led to significant growth in business
volume for Shenzhen CKJ in 2023.

Provision of other medical services

Our revenue generated from oncology, medical aesthetics,
general practice and other services during 2023 amounted
to approximately HK$47.6 million (2022: HK$34.4 million),
representing approximately 2.5% (2022: 2.0%) of our total
revenue.

T2k B FRR A W= R 2023 F K iR
EIN1613% E428.1H BB T (2022 F -
163.98 & B L)  h# W E22.3% (2022
% :95%) °

FRIREFLZ N E A 131,425 )X )095.8%
F2023F H)257,387 R - B R AR B D
R BN 564 )X # N94.1% & 1,095 X © &R
oF Bl Uk 25 K08 18 10 159.2% = 2023 F /Y
1,822,000 7T (2022 £ : 703,000 7T) °
U 2548 hn == B2 A7 2023 F 78 K M b Ik 18
AR ARYERENTRIREH R

HERYIEREHEBEEZ RN -
RERMERRSE

R2023F R MAREBERE BEE2XSA -
ERMEMREHRENAELIT6EEDT
(2022F 1344 BEBT) RN 2.5%
(20224 : 2.0%) °
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Sales of vision aid products

We also generated revenue from the sales of vision aid products
including glasses and lens. The sales were conducted by us
through the assessment of the optometrists employed by us
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. During 2023, our revenue
generated from the sales of vision aid products amounted to
HK$162.6 million, representing an increase of 1.0% as compared
to 2022.

Sales of medical consumables

The Group has been a distributor of COVID-19 related medical
consumables in Hong Kong since February 2022, and the
revenue from their sales decreased by 93.5% and amounted to
HK$19.4 million in 2023 (2022: HK$298.3 million), representing
approximately 1.0% (2022: 17.2%) of our total revenue for 2023,
and the decrease in revenue and revenue contribution from this
segment was mainly attributable to relaxation of requirements for
COVID-19 testing in Hong Kong.

Cost of revenue

The following table sets forth an analysis of our cost of revenue
for the years indicated, both in terms of Hong Kong dollars and as
a percentage of total revenue:

HER WY ER

BAMREER I EES (RENMER)
RERYE KRMBEBREBRPE AL
EAKR ARSI HEITHE - R 20234 -
KPR EHEESE NEMERMNKEE162.6
BEBIL 82022FEN1.0% °

HEBEREM

B2022%F2 A A& E /COVID-194H
BEEMOBEEDHE - N2023F  BE
FEMEEWZRRA935%E194R 88T
(20224 : 2983 B BB L) hBAKRED
1.0% (20224 : 17.2%) » th > BBUL 6 I UL
=B  TEHREBHCOVID-194
B ERKRERE -

HERAE
TREIRMRARFENHERA (G
BITA LG BY I B 2 IR DT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2023 2022 Change
2023 % 2002%F 29
% to % to
HK$000 revenue  HK$'000  revenue  HK$'000
ik z iz
FELT BAR  FET B FETL
Doctors' consultation fees BEVe 400,902 20.8 342,978 19.8 57,924 16.9
Cost of inventories and consumables 72 & #+1 Bk Z8 395,133 205 504,901 29.2  (109,768) 21.7)
Staff salaries and allowance I REH 312,116 16.2 245,696 142 66,420 27.0
Depreciation of right-of-use assets & BIEEEHTE 87,722 46 84,093 48 3,629 43
Depreciation of property, plantand  #1% - BiE RiRENE
equipment 55,201 2.9 56,349 3.2 (1,148) (2.0)
Others Hip 53,928 2.8 50,189 2.9 3,739 7.4
Total st 1,305,002 67.8 1,284,206 74.1 20,796 1.6
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Our cost of revenue increased by 1.6% from HK$1,284.2 million
in 2022 to HK$1,305.0 million in 2023, primarily as a result of (i)
an increase in doctors’ consultation fees of HK$57.9 million with
the increase in medical services revenue in Hong Kong, and (i) an
increase in staff salaries and allowance of HK$66.4 million mainly
attributable to Shenzhen CKJ, but was partially offset by (iii) a
decrease in cost of inventories and medical consumables sold of
HK$109.8 million.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit
margin according to our business segments for the years
indicated:

EEENWE DT

AP 80 5 B AR 1 2022 6F #01,284.2 B B35
TCIBNN1.6% = 2023 F#91,305.0 HEE T
FEHN()BEZESBBRG RS -
BADSEMS7TIFEST: RMHELH
S REHMMNE6 4T BB T (EBRAFY
BER)  RBIVEEREHEBERMN
AR 109.8 B BB TTRE D H K

EFNRERNR

HEFIREFI%

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023
2023 F

Gross
Profit
EZ|
HK$000
FET

2022 Change
2022 F 23
Gross Gross
Profit Profit
EM EM
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET

HK medical business ERBERER 251,248 27.0 187,122 232 64,126 343
Mainland China MR RIS
ophthalmic business 207,510 35.3 139,457 21.7 68,053 488
Mainland China dental Wit F RIE#%
business 152,075 395 12,216 9.8 139,859 1,144.9
Sales of medical HEBBREN
consumables 8,129 41.8 108,902 36.5 (100,773) (92.5)
618,962 32.2 447,697 25.9 171,265 383
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With the growth of operations, our gross profit in 2023 amounted
to HK$619.0 million, representing an increase of 38.3% from
HK$447.7 million in 2022. Our gross profit margin was 32.2% in
2023, as compared with 25.9% in 2022. The gross profit margin
for our HK medical business segment recorded an increase to
27.0% from 23.2% in 2022 due to the increase in cost efficiency
resulted from the revenue growth. The gross profit margin for our
Mainland China ophthalmic business segment increased to 35.3%
from 27.7% in 2022, primarily due to the recovery of business
operations from the adverse impact COVID-19. The gross profit
margin for our Mainland China dental business segment increased
to 39.5% from 9.8% in 2022, which was mainly attributable
to the recovery of business accompanied by the reopening of
border between Hong Kong and Shenzhen and in particular the
significant increase in revenue per dental chair in 2023. The gross
profit margin for our sales of medical consumables segment
increased to 41.8% from 36.5% in 2022 as a result of less
discounted bulk purchases made by our customers.

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses had an increase of 16.6% and amounted
to HK$147.8 million during 2023 (2022: HK$126.8 million). The
amount of selling expenses, as a percentage of our total revenue,
increased from 7.3% in 2022 to 7.7% in 2023. The fees paid to
online platforms represented the major component of our selling
expenses.

Administrative expenses

Our total administrative expenses in 2023 amounted to HK$354.9
million and had an increase of 2.8% as compared with HK$345.3
million in 2022. The increase in our administrative expenses in
2023 was primarily driven by the increase in our staff salaries and
allowances as a result of business expansion.

Other income

Our other income in 2023 consisted primarily of the management
fee income from an associate and government grants, and
decreased to HK$8.4 million from HK$28.7 million in 2022. The
decrease was mainly contributed by the decrease in management
fee income from an associate.

HREKIER  2023F0EFA619.08
BB 20229 M447.7 8 &8 U IE
N38.3% 2023 F W EF X 532.2% * M
2022F B25.9% - A ABBEEKH I E
AR B 2022FH23.2% 8 E27.0% - it
ThA A = 18 R SR AN s S 00 o b
REIEBDEEFEH2022FH27.7%
WZE353% FTEAREFLED EH
COVID-19 /) 71~ FI) 52 28 iy iR 18 o A i 7F &}
EBEDIEFNRH2022FH9.8%EE
395% TEHREBKHME RSB B ER
Y EF BRI - &R T EHE W E R 2023
FREELEBE -HEEBERAMOHE
AR 2022 F #)36.5% 1 E41.8% ' Jh H
REFHERBITNRD -

HEMX

FPREERA L IN16.6% E 2023 F H
1478 BBEHIT (2022 : 1268 AEBTT) °
HEMST S BEBWENE D LR 2022F
B17.3% B IMNE2023FH7.7% ° B4R E
FTENEBERGHEAIM AR -

THAX

20234F  BPIMWITH A X 8% £354.9
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R2023F - HMIHEMBAFERERE
—MBERNEREBWARBRF/ME
20226 W28 7TEBA LRV 2848 S
BLoRALEEANKRE—HBE QAN
ERBWRARA AT o
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Other losses, net

Our other losses, net in 2023 amounted to HK$5.3 million and
mainly consisted of loss on a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss and exchange losses, net, and partially offset by gain
on fair value change of contingent consideration receivables.

Finance income/(costs), net

Our finance income/(costs), net in 2023 amounted to HK$1.8
million and mainly consisted of bank interest income netted off by
interest expenses on leases.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense in 2023 amounted to HK$37.9 million,
representing an increase of 8.3% from HK$35.0 million in 2022.
The increase was primarily due to the increase in the income tax
expense for operations in Mainland China.

Profit/(loss) for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit in 2023 amounted to
HK$86.3 million (2022: loss of HK$46.2 million), the turnaround
was primarily due to the recovery of the growth of business from
the adverse impact of COVID-19 and coupled with the reopening
of the border between Hong Kong and Shenzhen, the notable
revenue growth in 2023 recorded by Group’s dental business in
Shenzhen under the brand “Shenzhen CKJ” and its turnaround
to profitability, which was partially offset by decrease in profits
derived from the sales of COVID-19 related medical consumables
in Hong Kong.

Capital expenditure and commitments

During 2023, the Group incurred capital expenditures of
HK$224.2 million, primarily due to addition of right-of-use assets
and purchase of equipment and leasehold improvements for our
hospitals, centres and clinics.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total capital
commitment of approximately HK$107.2 million (2022: HK$47.7
million), mainly comprising the related contracts of capital
expenditure for construction of our headquarters in Pingshan,
Shenzhen and leasehold improvements for our hospitals.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio, which is calculated as
net debt divided by total capital, is not applicable due to net cash
position (2022: same).
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Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December
2023.

Pledge of assets

On 17 February 2022, the Group completed its investment to own
an 61.5% equity interest of Shenzhen CKJ at a total consideration
of RMB430,500,000. Under the relevant equity investment
agreements, the Group shall give security against its payment
obligations under the said agreements, and interests representing
approximately RMB34.6 million, or 55.0%, of Shenzhen CKlJ’s
registered capital had been pledged under this arrangement (the
“Shenzhen CKJ Share Pledge”), and such security have been
fully released on 9 March 2023 as all payment obligations by the
Group have been fulfilled.

Further details of the Shenzhen CKJ Share Pledge and the
Shenzhen CKJ investment can be found in the announcements of
the Company dated 3 September 2021, 24 November 2021 and
17 February 2022, respectively.

In addition, the Group had buildings of HK$50.8 million in
Mainland China which were pledged as security for bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2022. The security have been
released during 2023 upon repayment of the bank borrowings.

Save for the above, the Group had no pledge of assets as at 31
December 2023.

Financial instruments

Our major financial instruments include trade receivables, other
receivables excluding prepayments, cash and cash equivalents,
bank deposits, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
trade payables, other payables excluding non-financial liabilities,
amount due to non-controlling interests, bank borrowings and
lease liabilities. Our management manages such exposure to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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Foreign exchange risk

Our subsidiaries mainly operate in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the transactions settled in HK$ and RMB,
respectively. Foreign exchange rate risk arises when recognised
financial assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency.

As at 31 December 2023, the financial assets and liabilities of our
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China were primarily
denominated in HK$ and RMB, respectively. Currently, the Group
has not entered into agreements or purchased instruments to
hedge the Group’s foreign exchange rate risks. Any material
fluctuation in the exchange rates of HK$ or RMB may have an
impact on the operating results of the Group. The Group manages
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. We do not
anticipate significant impact resulted from the reasonable possible
change in interest rates.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk mainly arises from lease
liabilities at fixed interest rates.

Credit risk

Our credit risk mainly arises from trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The credit risk of cash and cash equivalents are limited because
the counterparties are state- owned or reputable commercial
banks which are high-credit-quality financial institutions located in
Hong Kong or Mainland China.

We have a highly diversified source of patients, without any
single patient contributing material revenue. Moreover, some
of our revenue is settled by reputable commercial companies
and local government on behalf of patients. We have controls
to closely monitor the patients’ billing and payment status by
communication with commercial companies and local government
to minimise the credit risk.
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Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of
3,273 employees (2022: 2,115). The increase in the number of
employees was mainly due to the increase in the scale of the
Group's business.

The Group ensures that its remuneration packages are
comprehensive and competitive from time to time. When
determining the emolument payable to the Directors (including
the executive Directors), we take into account the experience
of the Directors, their level of responsibility and general market
conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments of
the Directors are linked to the profit performance of the Group
and the individual performance of the Directors. Employees
are remunerated with a fixed monthly income plus annual
performance related bonus. Share options and/or awards are
granted to selected employees to reward their contributions
under the share option scheme and the share award scheme of
the Company, details of which are set forth in the Report of the
Directors on page 50 to 62 of this report. The Group also sponsors
selected employees to attend external training courses that suit
the needs of the Group’s business.

Events after the date of statement of financial
position

There were no significant events affecting the Group which have
occurred after 31 December 2023 and up to date of this report.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

The implementation of the favorable policies to the medical
industry in Mainland China, the development of the GBA are
expected to stimulate the demand for quality ophthalmic, dental
and other medical services. The Group is prepared to exploit the
business opportunities by implementing the following strategies:

o establish or acquire eye hospitals, eye centres and clinics in
Hong Kong, Shenzhen and selected Mainland China cities
including cities in the GBA;

o establish or acquire dental clinics and other speciality
medical clinics in Hong Kong and Shenzhen;

o continue to improve our operational capacity and service
capability; and
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o identify suitable strategic partners for development,
manufacture and distribution of myopia control related
products.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our liquidity requirements are primarily used to satisfy the working
capital needs for our business operations. Our principal sources
of liquidity are cash generated from our business operations,
our bank deposits and our bank borrowings. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient bank balances,
committed credit lines available and interest bearing borrowings
that would enable the Group to implement its business strategies
while maintaining its continued provision of medical services to
our customer base. As at 31 December 2023, we had cash and
cash equivalents of HK$512.8 million, short-term bank deposits of
HK$32.9 million and bank borrowings of HK$1.7 million, most of
which were denominated in either US dollars, Renminbi or Hong
Kong dollars.

As at 31 December 2023, all of the Group’s borrowings of HK$1.7
million (2022: 34.3 million) are repayable on demand or repayable
within one year and the effective interest rate of borrowings was
2.75% per annum (2022: 5.49%). All of these borrowings were
denominated in either Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars, and were
subject to either fixed interest rates or floating interest rates.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not use
any financial instruments, currency borrowings or other hedging
instruments for hedging purposes.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. As at 31 December 2023, the
gearing ratio is not applicable due to net cash position (2022:
same).

The current ratio (calculated as current assets over current
liabilities) was 1.85 times as at 31 December 2023 compared with
1.63 times as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group reported net current assets
of HK$330.8 million, as compared with HK$331.8 million as at 31
December 2022.

Net cash generated from operating activities was HK$361.2 million
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$164.9
million). The increase was mainly attributed to the improvements
in the performance of our businesses during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Net cash used in investing activities amounted to HK$245.4
million during the year ended 31 December 2023 as compared
to HK$195.7 million during the year ended 31 December 2022.
The Group settled the final payment of HK$152.9 million for
acquisition of Shenzhen CKJ which was completed in 2022, and
spent HK$115.5 million on acquisition of property, plant and
equipment during the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, net cash used in
financing activities amounted to HK$242.9 million, as compared
to net cash generated from financing activities of HK$293.7
million during the year ended 31 December 2022. The cash used
in financing activities for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
mainly for the lease payments of HK$148.0 million, net repayment
of borrowings of HK$32.5 million and on-market repurchases of
the Company’s shares of HK$58.3 million for cancellation and
purchase of shares for future grants under  share award scheme
by the scheme trustee.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

To explore opportunities for strategic partnerships, alliances and
investment and expand our service offerings into other medical
services and projects including medical laboratory, dental and
optometry services, the Group made the following significant
investments and acquisitions to complement and leverage the
Group's existing services and enhance the Group’s medical services
as an integrated medical service provider.

To establish the Group’'s presence in the prescription lens
development and distribution market in Mainland China, on 1
June 2023, the Company entered into the sale and purchase
agreement with Hong Kong Optical Lens Company Limited (BA
EREEHK AR QA ("HK Optical”), pursuant to which
HK Optical has agreed to sell and the Company has agreed to
purchase 55% of the entire issued share capital of Apollo Lens
Company Limited (“Apollo”) at the consideration of RMB50.49
million (subject to adjustment) (the “Acquisition”). A bond
certificate in the principal amount of RMB50.49 million (subject
to adjustment based on the total actual net profit of Apollo Lens
Company Limited) was issued as the consideration to the vendor.
Apollo and its subsidiaries have been engaging in lens distribution
business in the Mainland China since 2002. HK Optical is an
independent third party, and a leading manufacturer of and
coating service provider for optical lenses with prescriptions in
Asia. The Acquisition was completed on 6 October 2023. For
further details, please refer to the announcement dated 1 June
2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant investments, acquisitions or disposals for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

UPDATES ON THE RESULTS OF REVENUE
GUARANTEES AFTER ACQUISITIONS

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement on 28 August
2020 in relation to acquisition of a satellite clinic (the “Acquired
Practice”) in Central from an ophthalmologist. The Company
prepared the management accounts of the Acquired Practice
for the third twelve months after the closing of the acquisition
(i.e. from September 2022 to August 2023) and the revenue
guarantee of not less than HK$12.0 million for the said period had
been met.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement on 10
February 2021 in relation to acquisition of 60% of the equity
interests in CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre Limited. The
Company prepared the management accounts of the CAD/CAM
Restorative Dental Centre Limited for the second twelve months
after the closing of the acquisition (i.e. from April 2022 to March
2023) and the revenue guarantee of not less than HK$7.2 million
for the same period had been met.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed (the “Listing”) on the
Stock Exchange since 15 January 2018 (the “Listing Date”),
and the net proceeds from the global offering (the “Global
Offering”) amounted to HK$609.8 million.

To maximise the flexibility of the Group in capturing potential
acquisition opportunities as and when such opportunities arise,
the Board has resolved and announced on 29 March 2022 to
expand the use of the unutilised net proceeds from the Global
Offering towards possible acquisition(s), and/or establishment of
eye clinic(s), eye centre(s) and eye hospital(s) in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Directors expect that the amount remaining
will be used by the end of 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, net proceeds in the
amount of approximately HK$77.0 million were used, consisting
of (1) HK$35.8 million for establishing the eye hospitals in Jieyang
and Foshan, and (2) HK$41.2 million for operating cash for the
hospitals in Guangzhou, Shanghai and Huizhou.
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BEERENWR DN

The table below sets out the actual use of unutilised net proceeds
from the Global Offering during the year ended 31 December
2023:

Planned

application

Use of net proceeds of net

from the Global Offering proceeds

BNE

R

2RBEMBREFEAR RERR

HK$'000

FHET

Possible acquisition(s), and/ ARAgEEREERFAER 151,121
or establishment of eye R/ R LR

dinic(s), eye centre(s) and eye 21+ BEH L RRER

hospital(s) in Hong Kong and B
Mainland China

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE 2022 FIRST
SUBSCRIPTION

On 13 January 2022, the Company entered into a placing and
subscription agreement with C-MER Group Limited (the “Seller”),
Dr. Lam and UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, as the placing agent,
in respect of the placing of an aggregate amount of 90,000,000
existing ordinary shares of the Company (the “Placing Shares”)
at the price of HK$6.48 per Placing Share to not less than six
independent professional, institutional and/or individual investors
(the 2022 Placing”). The aggregate nominal or par value of
the Placing Shares is HK$9,000,000, and the closing price of the
Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange on 12 January 2022, being the last full trading
date prior to the date of the placing and subscription agreement,
was HK$7.18 per Placing Share. The Seller then subscribed (the
“2022 First Subscription”) for 76,500,000 ordinary class of
Shares (the “Subscription Shares”) that were subsequently
issued by the Company at the subscription price of HK$6.48
per Subscription Share (collectively, “the 2022 Placing and the
2022 First Subscription”). The Directors considered that the
2022 Placing and the 2022 First Subscription represented an
opportunity to strengthen the financial position of the Group and
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1January 31 December 31 December unutilised
2023 2023 2023 net proceeds
R2023F R2023 & BAKT
1A188 12A318# AEH
8 BE023F *BA FrERE
FiBHME  12A31H FRBHE R
BE WEERRZ R RABER

HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000

FBT FHET FET
107,248 120,837 30,284 By the end
of 2024
2024 ERT

2022 FFE—RRBEERBNRE
A&

F2022F1A138  AAREFIFERS
RAR([EF])  MBERKTRITES
21T (ERRERE) I EE MRERZ
NEEBEUSREERD6.48BTETD
RABBLEE BER/REAARESE
fii & (12022 F B EEE ) 4 90,000,000
BALARREEAER ((BERSB] &
E R/ 42 % % B H B 49,000,000
JC MR 2022F 1128 (BNEE & KR
WEEPHINRE —EAEEISH)BR
FTHZENSARERAMTAR MK TE
AEREERN7ISHE T - B KR AE
([202FE FE—-—RRABEE]) AR A HE
BERABESRAENRM648BILEITH
76,500,000 1% F @ Aa pl iz h (R B2 1)
(ATB2022FBMEEER2022FF— K
RBEE]) - BEFERAE 202FKEEE
M202FE—RAREBEEB—INHREB - #
A LB BT ETEENE
AREBIREEEES AR (EFE) 5

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A




Management Discussion and Analysis

raise capital to provide working capital for the Group, on, among
others, merger and acquisition and/or expansion of our hospital
and service network while broadening its shareholder and capital
base. The 2022 Placing and the 2022 First Subscription were
completed on 17 January 2022 and 20 January 2022, respectively.
The aggregate nominal or par value of the Subscription Shares
is HK$7,650,000. The net subscription price (after deduction of
the expenses incurred by the Seller in relation to the 2022 Placing
and the 2022 First Subscription) of each Subscription Share was
approximately HK$6.41. The net proceeds from the 2022 First
Subscription (after deducting relevant fees and expenses borne or
incurred by the Company) were approximately HK$490.6 million.
The table below sets out the planned applications of the net
proceeds and their actual usage up to 31 December 2023:

Planned

Use of net proceeds applications  Percentage
of total

net proceeds

from the 2022 of net
First Subscription

proceeds

FERE  EREXE
W2EF-RAREE FEN FRAR
FERERERE RERR [E:1:1
HK$ 000

L
fir g
FET

For funding merger and ARfENES  BX 490,600 100%
acquisition; expansion of R BB MRS
our hospital and service & REFAEEN
network; and as general  —REEES

working capital for the
Group

During the year ended 31 December 2023, net proceeds from the
2022 First Subscription in the amount of approximately HK$244.9
million were used, consisting of (1) HK$150.4 million for the
payment of the investment in Shenzhen CKJ, which operates a
dental business in Shenzhen, (2) HK$59.2 million for construction
of our headquarters in Pingshan, Shenzhen, (3) HK$21.8 million
for the working capital to our hospitals at investment stage in
Mainland China and some of the clinics in Hong Kong, and (4)
HK$13.5 million for enhancing the facilities and establishment
of the optometry centres, dental clinics and other clinics in Hong
Kong.

Net proceeds
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BEERENWR DN

The net proceeds from the 2022 First Subscription have been
utilised in accordance with the planned applications as announced
in the announcements of the Company dated 13 January 2022
and 20 January 2022 respectively and the Company currently
expects to use the unutilised net proceeds by the end of 2024.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM DECEMBER 2022
SUBSCRIPTION

On 2 December 2022, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with a strategic investor in respect of the subscription
of an aggregate amount of 30,056,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company at the price of HK$3.87 per share to the strategic
investor (the “December 2022 Subscription”). The aggregate
nominal or par value of the shares was HK$3,056,000, and the
closing price of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on 2 December 2022, being the last
full trading date prior to the date of the subscription agreement,
was HK$4.07 per share. The strategic investor is Ginkgo Capital
Global Fund SPC — Ginkgo Capital Global Fund | SP, a segregated
portfolio of Ginkgo Capital Global Fund SPC, and as at the date
of the subscription, all the participating, redeemable, non-voting
shares in Ginkgo Capital Global Fund SPC attributable to Ginkgo
Capital Global Fund | SP were issued to Wealth Strategy Holding
Limited, which was in turn wholly owned by Mr. Kung Hung Ka
(B2 4] 5 % 4 ). The Directors considered that the subscription
represents an opportunity to introduce a long-term and highly
respected strategic shareholder with strong background in
healthcare industry in Mainland China, and will help accelerate
our network expansion in the Greater Bay Area and our research
and development in relevant medical devices and therapeutics.
The Group may also enter into business cooperation with the
strategic investor when suitable opportunities arise. The December
2022 Subscription was completed on 8 December 2022. The net
subscription price (after deduction of the expenses incurred by
the Company in relation to the subscription) of each share was
approximately HK$3.86. The net proceeds from the December
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2022 Subscription (after deducting relevant fees and expenses 2023F 12 A31 B W5 I F S #E F A
borne or incurred by the Company) were approximately HK$116.2 BREERAS

million. The table below sets out the planned applications of the

net proceeds and their actual usage up to 31 December 2023:

Net proceeds Expected
brought Unutilised  timeline for
Planned forward Actual usage netproceeds utilising the
Use of net proceeds applications  Percentage as at up to as at remaining
from the December 2022 of net of total 1January 31December 31 December unutilised
Subscription proceeds  net proceeds 2023 2023 2023  net proceeds
R2023 % R2023 5§ BAKT
FE%E HRBRE  1B1EM  EHE2023% 128318K XBAME
WRFENARESE FEN FRAR GEME NANAN  ADARE REREN
FeRaRERE RERR Batt REER ERAE REFR  RARER
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
AT AT TAT TET
Forthe expansion of our  RERFRASEMER 116,161 100% 116,161 - 116,161 By the end of
ophthalmic service network ~ FRISA4E : BHERE 2025
inthe Greater Bay Area; &% RERAEEN 20255 KAl

the funding of mergerand ~ —REEES
acquisition; and as general

working capital for the

Group

No net proceeds from the December 2022 Subscription were used BHZE2023F12A318 1t BESFH 2022
up to 31 December 2023. The Company intends to use the net FNRARBEENMERIEFEE - A QA
proceeds from the December 2022 Subscription in accordance ¥R 2025 F F K AT - IR A QN F SLRIE A
with the intention previously disclosed by the Company in its HA2022F 12 A2 BN AEFREEHNER -
announcement dated 2 December 2022 by the end of 2025. fEF 2022 5 12 ARBESIENFTSHIEFE
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EE  SREERBRATIMENEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP (# )i 8 B 4 ), aged 64, is the
Chairman of the Board, our Chief Executive Officer and our
executive Director. Dr. LAM is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Dr. Dennis LAM is our founder and has been
leading our business growth for over ten years. Dr. Dennis LAM
obtained a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1984. Dr. Dennis LAM has
become a Fellow of The Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh
since 1988, Fellow of The Royal College of Ophthalmologists
since 1990 and a Fellow of The College of Ophthalmologists of
Hong Kong since 1994. Dr. Dennis LAM obtained the Doctor of
Medicine degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
2003. Dr. Dennis LAM has been a registered medical practitioner
in Hong Kong since 1984, and a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Academy of Medicine in the speciality of ophthalmology since
1998.

Dr. Dennis LAM is the Past President of the Asia-Pacific Academy
of Ophthalmology (APAO) and the Asia-Pacific Vitreo-Retina
Society (APVRS), and the Founding President of the Asia-Pacific
Society of Eye Genetics (APSEG). He is currently the Editor-in-
Chief of the Asia-Pacific Journal of Ophthalmology (APJO), the
Secretary-General of the Academy of Asia-Pacific Professors of
Ophthalmology (AAPPO), the Asia-Pacific Myopia Society (APMS)
and the Asia-Pacific Artificial Cornea Society (APACS), a Executive
Committee Member of the World Glaucoma Association (WGA), a
Lifelong Fellow of the Academia Ophthalmologica Internationalis
(AOI) (AQI Fellows are the world's leading ophthalmologists (the
number of Fellows is limited to 70 worldwide)), a Council Member
of the World Glaucoma Association (WGA), and a member of the
board of trustee of the International Council of Ophthalmology
(ICO). Dr. Dennis LAM was the Associate Dean (External Affairs)
of the Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong
from 2004 to 2009, and the Chairman of the Department of
Ophthalmology & Visual Sciences, The Chinese University of
Hong Kong for 13 years (from 1998 to 2011). Over the years,
a number of awards have been bestowed to Dr. Dennis LAM,
including: on the “Top 100 Power List of The Ophthalmologist”
for 6 consecutive years and ranked No. 1 in 2022, the Naumann
Award for Global Leadership in Ophthalmology and “ICO Mark
Tso Golden Apple Award” (Best Clinical Professor Award in
Asia-Pacific Ophthalmology) from the International Council
of Ophthalmology (ICO), “De Ocampo Lecture” (Highest
Academic Achievement Award in Asia-Pacific Ophthalmology),
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"JoseRizal Medal” (Most Outstanding Achievement Award in
Asia-Pacific Ophthalmology) and “Arthur Lim Award” (Most
Outstanding Training and Teaching Leader Award in Asia-Pacific
Ophthalmology) from the Asia-Pacific Academy of Ophthalmology
(APAQ), “Senior Achievement Award” from the American
Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO), Hundred “Global Leader for
Tomorrow” by the World Economic Forum, “Ten Outstanding
Young Persons of the World”, “Hong Kong Humanity Award”
and many more. Dr. Dennis LAM has been appointed as a “Justice
of the Peace” in Hong Kong since 2004. Dr. Dennis LAM has been
serving as a Deputy of the National People’s Congress of China
since 2008. Dr. Dennis Lam has been elected as a member of
the Legislative Council of Hong Kong for the Election Committee
Constituency in December 2021.

Dr. Dennis LAM is the spouse of Ms. LI Xiaoting, an executive
Director. Dr. Dennis LAM is also a director of C-MER Group
Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company. Dr. Dennis
LAM has not held any directorship in other listed public companies
in the last three years.

Ms. LI Xiaoting (Z H & Z 1), aged 45, is our executive Director
since June 2017. Ms. LI is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Ms. Ll is a member of the remuneration committee
of the Company and had been a member of the nomination
committee of the Company from 30 May 2023 to 3 July 2023.
Ms. LI obtained a Bachelor of Tourism Management from
Shenyang University in China in July 2001 and a Postgraduate
Diploma in Business and Administration in Management from
Massey University in New Zealand in 2004. Ms. LI was the project
coordinator and executive officer Il at The Chinese University
of Hong Kong from 2005 to 2007 and from 2007 to 2009,
respectively. Ms. LI has been the general manager of our eye
centre in Hong Kong since January 2012 and the general manager
of the Shenzhen C-MER Hospital since March 2013. Ms. LI was
elected as a member of the National Committee of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Pingshan, Shenzhen
in November 2021.

Ms. LI is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, an executive Director.
Ms. Ll is also a director of C-MER Group Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Ms. LI has not held any directorship
in other listed public companies in the last three years.
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EX  SREEERARNENEE

Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent (Z{h 8 8 4 ), aged 55, is our
executive Director. Dr. LEE has been practicing for us since
January 2012 and is our Head of Hong Kong Operation. Dr. LEE
obtained a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1993. Dr.
LEE completed the Postgraduate Diploma in Epidemiology and
Biostatistics in 2008 and was awarded a Master of Science degree
in Epidemiology and Biostatistics in 2009 all from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE has been a registered medical
practitioner in Hong Kong since 1994.

Dr. LEE has been a Fellow of Royal College of Surgeons of
Edinburgh since 1998, Fellow of College of Ophthalmologists of
Hong Kong since 1998, a Fellow of College of Surgeons of Hong
Kong since 1998 and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of
Medicine in the specialty of ophthalmology since 2002.

Dr. LEE was the President of the Hong Kong Ophthalmological
Society (“HKOS"). Dr. LEE was the Chief Editor of the Newsletter
of the HKOS called Eye Opener. Dr. LEE was elected as the
regional secretary of Hong Kong and has represented Hong Kong
in the Asia-Pacific Academy of Ophthalmology. Dr. LEE holds
two ophthalmic patents as an inventor. He was awarded “Ten
Outstanding Young Person of Hong Kong” in 2009.

Prior to joining us, Dr. LEE was the Honorary Clinical Assistant
Professor (from 2003 to 2007) and later the Honorary Clinical
Associate Professor since March 2011 in the Department of
Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE was the Assistant
Professor, the Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences,
Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong,
the Visiting Professor, Shantou University Medical College and
the Consultant, the Department of Ophthalmology and Visual
Sciences, New Territories East Cluster, Hospital Authority.

Dr. LEE has no relationship with any Directors, senior management
or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. LEE does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Dr. LEE has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen GBS JP, (B [5 H# 18 L), aged
71, is our independent non-executive Director since November
2020 and vice chairman since November 2021. Dr. AUYEUNG
is a chairperson of the nomination committee of the Company
and had been a member of the audit committee of the Company
from 30 May 2023 to 3 July 2023. He is currently the chairman
and non-executive director of MTR Corporation Limited (stock
code: 0066), an independent non-executive director of China
Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited and an advisor
to Nippon Life Asia Pacific (Regional HQ) Pte. Ltd (a company
incorporated in Singapore). Dr. AUYEUNG has over 40 years of
experience in the insurance industry in Canada and Hong Kong.
Dr. AUYEUNG was Chairman — Asia of the Principal Financial
Group Inc. (“PFG"), a Fortune 500 company, responsible for
PFG’s overall businesses in Asia. During his time with PFG, Dr.
AUYEUNG represented PFG and its member companies across
Asia in building and expanding PFG’s relationship with clients, joint
venture partners and strategic investors, and assisting in business
development across all products lines of PFG. Dr. AUYEUNG also
actively serves the public sector and is currently a member of the
Board of Directors of the Investor and Financial Education Council
under the Securities and Futures Commission, a board member
of Bo Charity Foundation (Food Angel) and a convenor of the
Advisory Committee of the Jockey Club Community eHealth Care
Project. Dr. AUYEUNG was previously the chairman of Hong Kong
Strategy for Financial Literacy Sub-committee on Stakeholder
Coordination and Collaboration, an observer of the Independent
Police Complaints Council Observers Scheme and a member of
the Independent Review Committee on Hong Kong's Franchised
Bus Service. Dr. AUYEUNG holds a Bachelor of Environmental
Studies (Urban and Regional Planning) Honours Degree from the
University of Waterloo, Canada. He was awarded an Honorary
Fellowship by the City University of Hong Kong in 2013 and
conferred a Doctor of Business Administration, honoris causa, by
Lingnan University in 2020.

Dr. AUYEUNG has no relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. AUYEUNG does not hold any other
positions with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. AUYEUNG has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years.
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EX  SREEERARNENEE

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung (5 BB ¥ 5t &), aged 82, is our
independent non-executive Director since December 2017. Mr.
MA is the chairperson of the audit committee and a member of
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company.

Mr. MA holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from The London
School of Economics and Political Science (The University of
London). Mr. MA is the Fellow Member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a full
member of The Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. MA has over 40 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and finance. Mr. MA is a founder and served as a director of
Mayee Management Limited until his retirement on 1 January
2024. He is the founder and former director of AMA CPA Limited
(formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Ltd).

Mr. MA is also an independent non-executive director of Asiaray
Media Group Limited (Stock code: 01993), and S.A.l. Leisure
Group Company Limited (Stock code: 01832) all of which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. MA previously served as
an independent non-executive director of C.P. Pokphand Co.
Ltd. (Stock code: 00043) Chong Hing Bank Limited (Stock code:
01111) and China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited
(Stock code: 00836), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, until his retirement on 5 June 2020,
14 May 2021 and 15 September 2021, respectively.

Mr. MA has no relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. MA does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. MA has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen GBS JP, (& BE %t %) aged 72, is
our independent non-executive Director since November 2020.
Mr. IP is the chairperson of the remuneration committee of the
Company and a member of the audit committee of the Company.
Mr. IP graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
degree in social sciences in 1973 and completed the Program
for Management Development of the Harvard Business School
in 1986. Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government in November
1973 and was promoted to the rank of Director of Bureau in
April 1997. He worked in the Hong Kong Government as a
Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007. Senior positions
held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of Insurance,
Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of
Secretary for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His
portfolio in respect of economic development covered air and sea
transport, logistics development, tourism, energy, postal services,
meteorological services, competition and consumer protection. He
was also responsible for labour policies including matters relating
to employment services, labour relations and employees rights.

In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and Labour,
Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority Board,
the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the Hong Kong
International Theme Parks Company Board as well as the Chairman
of the Logistics Development Council, Port Development Board,
Maritime Industry Council and Aviation Development Advisory
Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong Government in
July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from the
Hong Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice of the
Peace since 2007. Mr. IP has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of six other listed companies on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, namely, China Resources Building
Materials Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1313) since
August 2008, Lai Sun Development Company Limited (stock
code: 0488) since December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1888) since May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited (stock code: 0590) since October 2011,
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April 2018
and Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since June
2018.
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EX  SREEERARNENEE

Mr. IP has no relationship with any Directors, senior management
or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. IP does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. IP has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. YIN Ke (BE% ®T), aged 60, is our independent non-executive
Director since July 2023. Mr. YIN is the member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. YIN graduated with a bachelor’s degree in electrical
engineering and a master’s degree in economics from Zhejiang
University, the PRC.

Mr. YIN previously worked as a Secretary to the President of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He also served as the Deputy General
Manager and an Executive Director of Jun’an Securities Co., Ltd.,
a Board Director of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd., the President
and an Executive Director of China United Securities Co., Ltd., a
Director and the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of CITIC Capital
Holdings Limited, a Non-executive Director of CITIC Dameng
Holdings Limited, an Independent Director of CCB Principal Asset
Management Co., Ltd., the Chief Executive Officer of CITIC
Securities International Limited and an Executive Director and the
Vice Chairman of CITIC Pacific Limited. In addition, Mr. YIN served
as the Vice Chairman of CITIC Securities Company Limited (Stock
Code: 6030) from 2011 to 2016 and its Executive Director from
2009 to 2017, and a Non-executive Director of CITIC Limited
(formerly known as CITIC Pacific Limited) (Stock Code: 267) from
2009 to 2014, both of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He
was also a Non-executive Director of Dah Chong Hong Holdings
Limited from 2010 to 2012 and from 2018 to 2020, which was
delisted from the Stock Exchange in 2020. He was a non-executive
director of Hui Xian Asset Management Limited from October
2011 to January 2018. Mr. YIN was a member of the Financial
Service Committee of Hong Kong Trade Development Council
from 2017 to 2022.
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Mr. YIN currently serves as an External Director of Shandong
Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. and an Independent Non-executive
Director of Hui Xian Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code:
87001), the units of which listed on the Stock Exchange, an
Independent Non-executive Director of Focus Media Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 002027.5Z), which is listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. YIN also serves as a
Senior Advisor to CPP Investments. He is a director of Beijing
Oriental Plaza Co., Ltd.* (3t RE HEHER A 7]). Mr. YIN was
appointed as the independent non-executive dlrector of Morgan
Stanley Securities (China) Limited with effect from 26 February
2024.

Mr. YIN has no relationship with any Director, senior management
or substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. YIN does not hold any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. YIN has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Wa Ping (BR # ¥ %&£ %), aged 39, is our Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary. Mr. CHAN joined
us in April 2017 and is responsible for overseeing the finance,
compliance, merger and acquisition, and investor relations of the
Group. Mr. CHAN graduated from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor in Business Administration in 2006 and has
over 10 years of financial and accounting related experience.

Mr. CHAN is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Prior to joining us, Mr. CHAN worked for
PricewaterhouseCoopers and was involved in a number of
audit and assurance, capital market transactions and advisory
projects advising corporate clients including listed companies and
conglomerates worldwide.
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EX  SREEERARNENEE

Ms. SIU Man Yi (B8 52 Z 1), aged 42, is our Chief Operation
Officer in Hong Kong. Ms. SIU joined us in January 2012 and
is responsible for the overall management of clinic services and
daily operations of our eye centre and satellite clinics in Hong
Kong. Ms. SIU also designs and implements standard operating
procedures to maintain a consistent and efficient work flow in the
eye centres and all satellite clinics. Ms. SIU graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Nursing in 2006 and a
Master of Social Sciences in Behavioural Health in 2010.

Ms. SIU is a registered nurse since 2006. Before joining us, Ms.
SIU worked for Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital during
the year between July 2006 and September 2007, the Chinese
University of Hong Kong during the year between September
2007 and January 2008, St Paul’s Eye Centre during the year
between January 2008 to September 2010, and Asia Medical
Specialists Limited in the period between November 2010 and
May 2011.

Each of the senior management members has no relationship with
any Directors, senior management or substantial shareholders (as
defined in the Listing Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, each of the senior management members
does not hold any other positions with the Company or other
members of the Group.

Each of the senior management members is not or has not been a
director of any other listed company in Hong Kong and overseas
in the past three years.
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Our Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of our Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of ophthalmic,
dental and other medical services, sales of vision aid products and
sales of medical consumables in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

An analysis of our Group’s performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of our Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on page 111
of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”). The Company endeavours to maintain
sufficient operating capital to develop and operate the Group’s
business, and to provide stable and sustainable returns to its
shareholders.

In deciding whether to recommend dividends and determining the
amount of dividends, the Board will consider the following factors:

o the Group’s financial results and general financial condition;

o liquidity position and capital requirement of the Group;
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EEERE

o the Group’s current and future operations;

o the Group's business development strategies and future
expansion plans;

° the general market conditions;

o any relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will also constantly review the Dividend Policy and
retain the discretion to update, revise, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy will not in any
way constitute a legally binding commitment of the Group in
relation to its future dividends and/or will not in any way render
the Company obligated to declare dividends at any time or from
time to time.

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of our Company on 28 May 2024 are entitled to attend and vote
at the Annual General Meeting (the "AGM"). The register of
members of our Company will be closed from Thursday, 23 May
2024 to Tuesday, 28 May 2024, both days inclusive. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, shareholders should
ensure that all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 May 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of our Group during the year and a
discussion on our Group's future business development are set
out in the Chairman’s Statement as well as the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 10 and pages 11 to 33 of
this report respectively.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's results and operations are subject to various factors
with the key risks summarised below:

Reputation risk

Our business depends significantly on the soundness of our
reputation. Failure to develop, maintain and enhance our
reputation, or any negative publicity or allegations in the media
against us, may adversely affect the level of market recognition
of, and trust in, our services, and failure to properly manage
our ophthalmologists’, dentists’, physicians’ or other medical
professionals’ clinical activities may expose us to medical disputes,
which could result in a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Our reputation and
business may be harmed accordingly.

Customer risk

As we provide mid- to high-end medical services, our business,
financial condition and results of operations are subject to changes
in patient preference, consumption capacity, consumer confidence
index and general economic conditions in our market.

Regulatory risk

Changes in government policies, relevant regulations and
guidelines established by the regulatory authorities would have
an impact on the business operation of the Group in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties imposed or suspension of
the business operation ordered by the authorities. The Group
has closely monitored changes in relevant government policies,
regulations and guidelines as well as assessing the impact of such
changes.

Price Risk

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk. The
Directors will closely monitor the exposure.
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Talent risk

If we are unable to attract, train and retain a sufficient number
of qualified ophthalmologists, dentists, physicians, optometrists,
management staff and other hospital personnel, our hospital/clinic
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Key Relationship

The Group fully understands that employees, customers and
partners are the key to our sustainable and stable development.
We are committed to establishing a close relationship with
our employees, enhancing cooperation with our partners and
providing high-quality services to our customers so as to ensure
the Group’s sustainable development.

Staff

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the
Group. The Group has been endeavoring to provide our staff
with a competitive compensation packages, attractive promotion
opportunities, comprehensive training courses and a professional
working environment. In order to assist us in attracting, retaining
and motivating our key employees, the Group has adopted a share
award scheme and share option schemes, pursuant to which share
awards and share options may be granted to eligible employees.
The Group provides ongoing training to our employees.

Customers

We uphold the principle of providing high-quality medical services
throughout our operation, which we believe is vital to achieving
customer satisfaction and maintaining our reputation.
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Suppliers

We firmly believe that our suppliers are equally important in
providing high-quality medical services. When selecting suppliers,
we consider, among other things, their product offerings, pricing,
reputation, service or product quality and delivery schedule. We
conduct regular review of our suppliers and will remove any
suppliers who do not meet our supply standards or requirements
from our list of approved suppliers. We usually have more than
one supplier for each kind of our medical supplies needed to
ensure we maintain sufficient inventory levels and bargaining
power to deal with price fluctuations. We do not rely on any
single supplier for any of our major pharmaceuticals, medical
consumables or medical devices. We had stable business
relationships with our suppliers in 2023.

Environmental Policies and Performance

We are subject to various Hong Kong and PRC laws, rules and
regulations with regard to environmental matters, including clinic/
hospital sanitation, disease control, disposal of medical waste, and
discharge of wastewater, pollutants and radioactive substances.
We have established systems and procedures in place concerning
environmental protection, such as requiring all our hospitals to
engage qualified service providers to dispose of medical waste
and radioactive substances. In 2023, our businesses were in
compliance with all the relevant laws and regulations with regard
to environmental protection in all material aspects.

As reported by senior management, which is delegated by
the Board to control and monitor the Group’s day-to-day ESG
performances, the Board considers that the Group’s performance
on environmental matters, with respect to the applicable subject
areas and individual aspects that are set out in Appendix C2 to the
Listing Rules, has been satisfactory.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China while the Company
is a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
its shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Our
establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Mainland China and
the Cayman Islands. In 2023, our businesses were in compliance
with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, and the Cayman Islands in all material aspects.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of our Group for the past five years ended 31 December 2023 are
set on page 245 of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of our Company are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of our Group and
our Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2023, the reserves of our Company available
for distribution to the shareholders of our Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,610.0 million (2022: HK$1,681.1 million).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige our Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED BE HESERLHmES
SECURITIES

During the year, the Company repurchased an aggregate of RER - RNRBIRE R T4 $£ 10,998,000
10,998,000 ordinary shares at an aggregate consideration of P @mAs - R NE 541,631,058 8T 0 &+

HK$41,631,058 on the Stock Exchange as follows: BT
No. of shares Total
repurchased Consideration
2 5 B it 43 Consideration per share Paid
Month of Repurchase 2B BRAE ERARKE
Highest HK$  Lowest HK$ HK$
REETT REET BT
September 2023 202349 A 4,684,000 3.82 3.55 17,327,369
October 2023 202310 A 4,048,000 3.98 3.67 15,605,302
November 2023 2023F 11 H 2,266,000 3.98 3.68 8,698,387
Total BEt 10,998,000 41,631,058

The Board considers that the share repurchases were in the best E52RA ROLEIFEARA LA
interests of the Company and its shareholders and would lead to BREzHEEMNZE  TARSARATZER
an enhancement of the net assets value per share and/or earnings BEFER NERET -BEAFREAH -
per share of the Company. As at the date of this report, all of the FHEEROE 2EEHE  ERARANE
above repurchased shares were cancelled and the issued share BIIRACEZEROOEBEMERLD K
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of BTHRED RO EERP B -

these shares accordingly and the balance of consideration was

charged against the share premium account.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of B ESCREEE SN RELE 2023512 A 31
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the HIEFE - ARQRSE RN E R R &
Company'’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December BE HEeEBELEAAQR EHES -
2023.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND POST-IPO
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Our Company approved and adopted a share option scheme (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme"”) pursuant to the resolutions of
the shareholders passed on 28 June 2017.

Since there were no outstanding options as at 1 January 2023
and that no further options will be granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme after the Listing Date, the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme expired as of 1 January 2023 and that there were
no options granted, lapsed, cancelled or exercised during the
year ended 31 December 2023 under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme. As such, there is no required disclosure in this report
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules with regard to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme.

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 13 December 2017, our Company has adopted another share
option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”).

The shareholders of our Company approved and adopted the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to enable our Company to grant
options to eligible participants as incentives and rewards for their
contribution to our Group. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
took effect on the Listing Date.

As at 31 December 2023, 7,880,000 post-IPO share options
were granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. As at 31
December 2023, 1,882,000 post-IPO share options granted under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme have been exercised pursuant
to the terms of grant of the share options.

As at 31 December 2023, options granted to the Grantees to
subscribe for an aggregate of 200,000 shares (representing
approximately 0.02% of the issued share capital of our Company
as of 31 December 2023) were outstanding under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme.
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The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme:

(@) Who may participate

Our Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options to
subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the
terms set forth in the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to:

() any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial,
supervisory or similar position in any member of our
Group (the "Executive”), any full-time or part-time
employee, or a person for the time being seconded
to work full-time or part-time for any member of our
Group (the “Employee”),

(i) a director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member
of our Group;

(i) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of our
Group;

(iv) a supplier of goods or services to any member of our
Group;

(v) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture
partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative
of any member of our Group;

(vi) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of our Group; and

(vii) an associate of any of the persons referred to in
paragraphs (i) to (iii) above.

(the persons referred above are the “Eligible Persons”)
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(b)

(9,

(d)

Maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options maybe granted

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme and any options granted under any
other share option scheme must not in aggregate exceed
100,000,000 Shares (being 10% of the Shares in issue as
of the Listing Date) unless our Company obtains a fresh
approval.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

Unless approved by the shareholders of our Company in
the general meeting in the manner prescribed in the Listing
Rules, the maximum number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each Eligible Person under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of our
Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not at the time of
grant exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

Acceptance of an offer of options

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Person concerned for a period of
28 days from the offer date provided that no such grant of
an option may be accepted after the expiry of the effective
period of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. An option
shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the
Eligible Person and to have taken effect when the duplicate
offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer of the option
duly signed by the grantee together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1.0 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof is received by our Company on or
before the date upon which an offer of an option must be
accepted by the relevant Eligible Person, being a date not
later than 30 days after the offer date. Such remittance shall
in no circumstances be refundable.

(b)

(c)

(d)
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(e)

(f)

(9)

Exercise price

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular
option shall be such price as our Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant
option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer
of the grant of the option) but the exercise price shall not be
less than whichever is the highest of: (i) the nominal value of
a share; (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; and
(iii) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business
days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding
the date of grant.

Time for exercise of options

An option may be exercised at any time during the year
which is notified by our Board at the offer date when
making an offer to an Eligible Person but such period not to
exceed the period of 10 years from the offer date of such
option. There is no minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised.

Duration of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
Listing Date, until 14 January 2028, with remaining life less
than 4 years from the date of this report, after which period
no further options will be granted but the provisions of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted prior thereto which are at that time
or become thereafter capable of exercise under the rules
of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, or otherwise to the
extent as may be required in accordance with the provisions
of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

(e)

U

(9)
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Details of the shares options outstanding on which options are
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to (i) each of
the Directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders of the

Company, or their respective associates, and (ii) other employee EELEE HEEB2HEERRGHE
participants, related entity participants and service providers by

BRENBRES MR EIET W ARTTE

54

category, as at 31 December 2023, under the scheme are as
follows:

AR 2023F 12 A31BHFBWT ¢
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Number of options
kiR
Closing
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Service providers mean non-employee consultants of the Group.

Among these 2,605,000 share options, (i) 2,370,000 share options
granted by the Company on 18 July 2019 shall vest in three
tranches within a period of 3 years in proportions of 20%, 30%
and 50% of the share options granted, i.e. 20% of the share
options granted shall vest on the 1st anniversary of the grant (i.e.
18 July 2020), another 30% shall vest on the 2nd anniversary of
the grant (i.e. 18 July 2021), and the remaining 50% shall vest on
the 3rd anniversary of the grant (i.e. 18 July 2022); (ii) 200,000
share options granted by the Company on 18 July 2019 shall vest in
one tranche in a period of 3 years, i.e. 100% of the share options
granted shall vest on the 3rd anniversary of the grant (i.e. 18 July
2022); (iii) 35,000 share options granted by the Company on 18
July 2019 shall vest in three tranches within a period of 3 years in
proportions of 7%, 35% and 58% of the share options granted, i.e.
7% of the share options granted shall vest on the 1st anniversary
of the grant (i.e. 18 July 2020), another 35% shall vest on the 2nd
anniversary of the grant (i.e. 18 July 2021), and the remaining 58%
shall vest on the 3rd anniversary of the grant (i.e. 18 July 2022).

Since there was no exercise of options during the year ended 31
December 2023, therefore this report is not required to disclose the
weighted average closing prices of the Shares immediately before
the dates on which the options were exercised during the year.

Since no option was granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023, there is no
participant with options granted or to be granted in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue, or any related entity
participant or service provider with options granted or to be granted
in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the Shares in issue.

@)

@)
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On 18 July 2019, a total of 6,040,000 Share Options were granted
in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
to 39 non-employee consultants (the “Consultants”) who are
not Directors, as incentives and rewards for their contribution
to the Group and to align their interests with our corporate
objectives. Among them, (a) six were consultants who entered into
consultancy agreements with the Group and operate in insurance,
investment or other industries who have either provided strategic
advice and assistance in the Group’s development of its eye
hospitals, eye centres and clinics in Hong Kong and the Mainland
China, or assisted in identifying and liaising with suitable partners
for collaboration within their industries, which are two of the key
strategies of the Company, and the grants to these Consultants
were in recognition in their contribution to the Group’s strategic
development, (b) 20 were members of the International Advisory
Council, whereby the International Advisory Council provides
us and our ophthalmologists/physicians with insights and high-
level industry-related advices on the development of the business
of provision of ophthalmic services and with updates on the
latest development of new medical and surgical techniques in
ophthalmology, and the grant to these Consultants were in
recognition of the contribution of their expertise and advices to
the Group and our ophthalmologists/physicians, and (c) 13 were
ophthalmologists in Hong Kong, who were under cooperative
or partnership agreements with the Group with revenue or fees
target, and they provide medical services under the Group’s service
network and who generate revenue and fees for the Group, and
the granting of Share Options to them was aimed to incentivise
them for them to provide continued service to our Group.

In consideration of the above, the Company considered the
Consultants to be valuable resources and their contributions in
their respective roles served the purpose of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, and grants of Share Options to them were in the
interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.
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As no option was granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023, therefore this
report is not required to disclose the fair value of options as at the
date of grant and accounting standard and policy adopted is not
applicable for this report.

The total value of options granted to each class of grantees,
being our Directors, and service providers of the Group, were
HK$3,785,000 and HK$9,501,000, respectively as at 31 December
2023.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme as of the effective date of the scheme
was 100,000,000, representing 7.96% of the issued share capital
of 1,255,560,870 Shares as at the date of this report. As at 1
January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the number of options
available for grant under the currently in-place scheme mandate
for the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was 92,120,000 options
and 92,120,000 options, respectively, representing approximately
7.34% and 7.34%, respectively of the total issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report.

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the total number
of securities available for issue (less those exercised, cancelled and
lapsed) under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was 96,315,000
and 92,320,000, representing approximately 7.67% and 7.35%,
respectively of the issued share capital of 1,255,560,870 Shares as
at the date of this report respectively.
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THE 2022 SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 7 November 2022 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
has adopted the C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited Share Award
(Existing Shares) Scheme (the “2022 Share Award Scheme”),
pursuant to which the Board may from time to time cause to
be paid a contributed amount to the trust by way of settlement
to the trust, which shall constitute part of the trust fund for the
purchase of Shares and other purposes set out in the relevant
scheme rules and the trust deed.

The purpose of the 2022 Share Award Scheme is to (i) to
recognise the contributions by eligible participants selected by the
Board and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them
for the continual operation and development of the Group; (ii) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group;
and/or (jii) to further align the interests of the eligible participants
directly to the shareholders of the Company through participation
in the 2022 Share Award Scheme. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 7 November 2022.

The eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) of the 2022
Share Award Scheme include any individual being (i) directors
and employees of the Company or its subsidiaries (including
persons who are granted shares or options under the scheme as
an inducement to enter into employment contracts with these
companies), but shall include (for the avoidance of doubt), both
full time and part time employees (an “Employee Participant”),
(ii) directors and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company (an “Related
Entity Participant”); and (iii) persons who provide services to
the Company and/or its subsidiaries on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in
the interests of the long-term growth of the Company and/or its
associated companies, and would include (for the avoidance of
doubt) doctors and dentists in Hong Kong who have entered into
partnership agreements with the Group (a “Service Provider”),
at any time during the trust period. For the avoidance of doubt,
Service Provider may not include placing agents or financial
advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers or
acquisitions, as well as professional service providers such as
auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to
perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.
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The consideration payable, if any, in respect of any grant of
awards shall be determined at the sole and absolute discretion
of the Board taking into consideration matters that may include
the selected participant’s position, experience, years of service,
performance and contribution to the Group and the market price
of the Shares. For the avoidance of doubt, “nil” is an acceptable
consideration payable for the purpose of the 2022 Share Award
Scheme.

The Board shall not make any further grant of awards under the
2022 Share Award Scheme such that the total number of Shares
granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme (the “Award"”)
will exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as of the
Adoption Date. On the basis that the total number of issued
Shares as of the Adoption Date was 1,236,502,870 Shares, the
aforesaid 10% limit represents a total of 123,650,287 Shares.

The maximum number of options or awards to a selected
participant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme and any other
share option schemes and share award schemes of the Company,
which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect
of all options and awards (inclusive of the Awards) granted to such
person (excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the respective scheme(s)), shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company in any twelve-month
period.

Unless early terminated by the Board, the 2022 Share Award
Scheme shall terminate on the tenth anniversary date of the
Adoption Date (being 7 November 2032), provided that such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any selected
participant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 80,000 Awards were
granted by the Company on 28 June 2023 to four service provider
participants. The service provider participants which provides
consultancy services to the Company, which include:

(1) Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang and Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald,
both are our newly appointed consultants and are also our
former independent non-executive Directors who retired
from our Company on 30 May 2023,

(2) Dr. YIU Bun Ka, a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company, who is also our dentist consultant and our newly
appointed consultant of our Group; and

(3) Dr. Lawrence LAM, a newly appointed consultant of our
Group.
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Details of the Awards outstanding on which Awards are granted
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme to (i) each of the Directors,
chief executive or substantial shareholders of the Company, or
their respective associates, and (ii) other service providers, as at 31
December 2023 are as follows:
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(3)  Since the 80,000 Awards granted to the service providers were the
only Awards granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme, there
was (i) no Directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders of
the Company, or their respective associates, (ii) other employee
participants, related entity participants, with Awards granted; or (iii)
participant with Awards granted or to be granted in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue, or any related entity
participant or service provider with Awards granted or to be granted
in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the Shares in issue.

The fair value of the Awards granted to service providers was
approximately HK$303,000 as at 28 June 2023. The fair value of
the Awards were valued based on the closing price of the share of
HK$3.79 as at the grant date.

As at 31 December 2023, 80,000 Awards were unvested.

As at 31 December 2023, 80,000 Shares may be vested in
respect of the Awards that may be granted under 2022 Share
Award Scheme, as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023,
123,650,287 Shares, and 123,570,287 Shares remained available
for future grants of the Awards, representing approximately 9.8%
and 9.8% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this report, respectively.

According to information provided by the trustee of the 2022
Share Award Scheme, the trustee held 14,128,000 Shares under
the 2022 Share Award Scheme as at the date of this report,
representing approximately 1.1% of the total issued share capital
of the Company on the same date.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options
and awards granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and
the 2022 Share Award Scheme during the year divided by the
weighted average number of Shares in issue for the year is 0.0002.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Our Group participated in various retirement benefit schemes in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong. Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
of the Group in Hong Kong is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the relevant rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions.

Employees of the Group in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension scheme operated by the PRC government (the
“PRC Scheme"). The Group were required to contribute a certain
percentage of the payroll of our employees to the pension scheme
to fund the benefits under the PRC Scheme. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the PRC Scheme is to make the
required contributions.

Except for voluntary contribution under the MPF Scheme, no
forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme or the PRC Scheme
is available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as of 31 December
2023 are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our five largest clients
accounted for 2.7% of our total revenue, of which 0.9% of our
total revenue was generated from our largest client, which was a
customer from the sales of medical consumables segment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our five largest
suppliers accounted for 42.0% of our total purchases. These five
largest suppliers include suppliers of pharmaceuticals, medical
consumables and intraocular lenses. For the same period, our
largest supplier accounted for 12.1% of our total purchases.

None of our Directors or any of their respective close associates
or any shareholder which to the best knowledge of our Directors,
who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital,
had any interest in any of our Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS

Our Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. LI Xiaoting
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent
Mr. LI Chunshan (stepped down with effect from 3 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen (Vice Chairman)

Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald (retired on 30 May 2023)

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. CHAN Chi Leong (retired on 30 May 2023)

Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang (retired on 30 May 2023)
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen

Mr. YIN Ke (appointed with effect from 3 July 2023)
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At the AGM, Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent, Dr. Rex AUYEUNG
Pak-kuen, Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung and Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen will retire as Directors by rotation under Article 84(1)
of the Articles of Association of our Company (”Articles of
Association”) and shall be eligible for re-election. Mr. YIN Ke,
appointed under Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, will
hold the office until the AGM and shall be eligible for re-election.
All of them will offer themselves for re-election.

Please refer to the circular for the AGM for further details
of Directors who will offer themselves for re-election at the
upcoming AGM, which will be despatched to the shareholders in
due cause.

DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S AND
COMPANY SECRETARY’S PROFILE

Profile details of our Directors, the senior management and
company secretary of our Group are set out on pages 34 to 42 of
this report.

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
INFORMATION

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen was appointed as the chairperson of
the nomination committee and a member of the audit committee
with effect from 30 May 2023, and ceased to act as the member
of the audit committee with effect from 3 July 2023.

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen was appointed as the chairperson of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee
with effect from 30 May 2023.

Ms. LI Xiaoting was appointed as a member of the nomination
committee with effect from 30 May 2023 and ceased to act as
the member of the nomination committee with effect from 3 July
2023.

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung was appointed as a member of
the remuneration committee with effect from 30 May 2023 and
retired as a director of Mayee Management Limited on 1 January
2024.

Mr. YIN Ke, our independent non-executive director, was
appointed as the independent non-executive director of Morgan
Stanley Securities (China) Limited with effect from 26 February
2024 and he was appointed as a member of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee with effect from 3
July 2023.
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Save for the foregoing, there has been no change in other
directors’ and chief executive’s information which required to be
disclosed under LR13.51B during the year ended 31 December
2023.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company and our Company has issued letters of
appointment to each of the independent non-executive Directors.
The principal particulars of these service contracts and letters of
appointment are (a) for a term of 3 years and (b) are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. The term
of the service contracts and the letters of appointment may be
renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Listing Rules.

None of our Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by our Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Our Group remunerates its employees, including our Directors,
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
Our employees are subject to regular job performance reviews
which determine their promotion prospects and compensation.
Subject to our Group’s profitability, our Group may also provide
discretionary bonuses to its employees as an incentive for their
contribution to our Group. Our Company has adopted the share
option schemes and the 2022 Share Award Scheme as incentives
to our Directors and eligible employees.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of our Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of assets of our Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the directors of the Group.

INFORMATION RELATING TO DEED OF
NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely C-MER
Group Limited (“C-MER Group”), Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms.
LI Xiaoting, confirm that during the year ended 31 December
2023, none of them carried on, participated or was interested
or engaged in or held any other business which is or may be in
competition with the business of any member of the Group from
time to time. Relying on this confirmation and the fact that all
executive Directors (some of them are controlling shareholders
of the Company) have devoted their time and resources in
different business activities/medical practice of the Group, the
independent non-executive Directors are satisfied that the Deed
of Non-Competition was fully complied with by the controlling
shareholders of the Company and the executive Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’" AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” below and the related party transactions
as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director and/or any of his/her connected entity or any
controlling shareholders had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to the business of our Group to which our Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i)  Maida Medical Software Development (Shenzhen) Company
Limited (383Z B BB (I3 ORI BR A F)) (“Shenzhen
Maida”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of D&S International
Holding Limited which is wholly-owned by Dr. Dennis LAM,
and it is therefore a connected person of our Company.
Shenzhen Maida is therefore a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

Shenzhen C-MER Hospital entered into a lease agreement
with Shenzhen Maida dated 22 May 2020 (the “Lease
Agreement”) in relation to the lease to Shenzhen C-MER
Hospital of a property located at No. 101 Sheng Tang
Building, Tairanjiu Lu, Futian, Shenzhen, the PRC (the
“Shenzhen Property”), which constitutes continuing
connected transactions for our Company.

The Lease Agreement was for a term from 1 June 2020 to
31 May 2023 (both days inclusive). The Shenzhen Property
is used by Shenzhen C-MER Hospital as the premises for our
eye hospital in Shenzhen.

The transactions contemplated under the Lease Agreement
also constitute related party transaction of our Company
under HKFRS, details of which are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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(i)

Under the Lease Agreement, the Group has recognised the
lease as a right-of-use asset. From 1 June 2020 to 31 May
2021, the rent per sg.m. per month is RMB197.32 and total
monthly rent is RMB687,000.00. From 1 June 2021 to 31
May 2022: the rent per sgq.m. per month is RMB206.79 and
total monthly rent is RMB720,000.00. From 1 June 2022 to
31 May 2023: the rent per sg.m. per month is RMB215.41
and total monthly rent is RMB750,000.00.

The amount of the monthly rental has been determined
after arm’s length negotiations between Shenzhen Maida
and Shenzhen C-MER Hospital with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and the rental level of similar
properties in the vicinity of the leased property.

The actual rent paid by us in respect of the Shenzhen
Property for the five months ended 31 May 2023 was
HK$4.1 million (For the year ended 31 December 2022:
HK$10.1 million).

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 22 May 2020.

To ensure the continuous use of the Shenzhen Property,
on 18 May 2023, Shenzhen C-MER Hospital entered into
a new lease agreement (the “New Lease Agreement”)
which constitutes a connected transaction for our Company.
Pursuant to the New Lease Agreement, Shenzhen Maida
and Shenzhen C-MER Hospital have extended the lease
of the Shenzhen Property for a term of 14 months,
commencing from 1 June 2023 and ending on 31 July
2024 (both days inclusive) with a rent-free period of 2
months from 1 June 2023 to 31 July 2023. Pursuant to the
New Lease Agreement commencing from 1 June 2023,
the Group has recognised the lease as a right-of-use asset.
From 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2024, the rent per sq.m. per
month is RMB215.41 and total monthly rent is RMB750,000
(equivalent to HK$849,000).

The amount of the monthly rental has been determined
after arm’s length negotiations between Shenzhen Maida
and Shenzhen C-MER Hospital with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and the rental level of similar
properties in the vicinity of the leased property.

The actual rent paid by us in respect of the Shenzhen
Property for the New Lease Agreement for the seven months
ended 31 December 2023 was HK$4.1 million.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 18 May 2023.

(ii)
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(ifi)

(iv)

Dr. Dennis LAM and C-MER Eye Care Medical Group Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“C-MER
Medical Group”), entered into a joint venture agreement
on 6 July 2023 (the “Joint Venture Agreement”) to jointly
invest in Health Hope Pharma Limited (7 % & &2 5 R A
Al), which was held as to 70% by Dr. Dennis LAM and
30% by C-MER Medical Group, respectively, for developing
innovative drug projects in ophthalmology and oncology.

According to the Joint Venture Agreement, Dr. Dennis
LAM and C-MER Medical Group shall inject up to US$4.67
million (approximately HK$36.4 million) and US$2.0 million
(approximately HK$15.6 million) respectively, in the same
proportion as their respective equity interest in Health Hope
Pharma Limited (i.e. 70% and 30% of the registered share
capital of Health Hope Pharma Limited respectively) as and
when such capital needs arise.

As Dr. Dennis LAM is one of the executive Directors and
one of the controlling shareholders of our Company, he
is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. As such, the establishment of the Health Hope
Pharma Limited and the entering into of the Joint Venture
Agreement constitute connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2023, the actual amount invested for the
year by Dr. Dennis LAM and C-MER Eye Care Medical Group
was HK$22.2 million and HK$9.5 million, respectively.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 6 July 2023.

On 18 October 2023, Apollo Lens Company Limited
("Apollo”) and Hong Kong Optical Lens Company Limited
(BAZEREE AR A F) ("HK Optical”) entered into
a framework purchase agreement (the “2023 Apollo
Framework Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which
HK Optical has agreed to sell and supply, and Apollo has
agreed to purchase the optical products from HK Optical in
accordance with the terms of the 2023 Apollo Framework
Purchase Agreement, for an initial term from 6 October
2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

From 6 October 2023, Apollo is 55% owned by the
Company, and HK Optical, being the other 45% shareholder
of Apollo, has become a connected person of the Company
under Rule 14A.06(9) of the Listing Rules.

(iii)

(iv)
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Because HK Optical is a substantial shareholder of a
subsidiary of the Company, HK Optical is therefore a
connected person of the Company, therefore transactions
contemplated under the 2023 Apollo Framework Purchase
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
thereafter.

Apollo and its subsidiaries (as purchaser) and HK Optical
(as supplier) shall enter into transactions relating to the sale
and purchase of the optical products from time to time
on normal commercial terms and subject to and upon the
terms and conditions of the purchase orders to be agreed
between Apollo and HK Optical, setting out the products
specifications, price, quantity and delivery date. Subject
always to the maximum annual purchase amount not
exceeding the annual caps, the price of the optical products
shall be determined with reference to the ex-factory price of
HK Optical with a profit margin ranging from 15% to 20%,
but provided that where lower prices are offered by HK
Optical to independent third parties on the same products
with the same quality standard, Apollo shall be entitled to
make purchases at the same (or better) prices and/or terms.

The proposed annual cap for aggregate annual purchase
amount payable by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 and the years ending 2024 and 2025
will be HK$30 million, HK$80 million, and HK$85 million,
respectively. Details of the 2023 Apollo Framework Purchase
Agreement were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 18 October 2023.

During the year, the annual cap for purchase from HK
Optical was HK$30 million, whilst the actual transaction
amount for the year with HK Optical was HK$12.3 million.
The proposed annual cap has not been exceeded.

Save as disclosed above, amounts due from C-MER
RainsOptics Limited (the transaction of which is fully
exempt under Listing Rule 14A.89), loans from Huizhou
City Changjiu Investment Co., Ltd (BT RAKREBR
72 A]) and loans from individual shareholder(s) of OPT (both
transaction of which are fully exempt under Listing Rule
14A.90), all the related party transactions of our Group
under HKFRS (with details set out in note 37 and note 40
to the consolidated financial statements) do not constitute
connected transaction or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CONTINUING BFEBRERSFEEHN

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above BUFHTESFCEN LFEREHEH
non-exempt continuing connected transactions, namely, the 2023 ERX 5 (B12023F MKk B IERRKE HRE) I
Apollo Framework Purchase Agreement, and confirmed that the HRZEXHE

transactions have been entered into:
(@)  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of our Group; (a)

(b)  on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable (b)
to our Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties;

(c) according to the agreements governing them on terms that (c)
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and the shareholders of our Company as a whole; and

(d)  such continuing connected transactions did not exceed their (d)
respective annual caps for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to perform certain procedures in respect of
the continuing connected transactions set out above in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions to the Board.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in respect of the above connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions. The Company also confirms that during
the year under review it has followed the terms of the relevant
agreements as described above in determining the pricing and the
terms of the continuing connected transactions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken by
our Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company has
complied with the applicable requirements under the Listing
Rules for those related party transactions which constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” on pages 68 to 71.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As of 31 December 2023, none of our Directors is interested in
any business, apart from our Group’s businesses, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of our Group.

SHARES ISSUED AND RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
THE COMPANY'’S SECURITIES, ISSUE FOR CASH
OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENTS

Our Company has share option schemes and share award scheme,
the details of which are set out in the section headed “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” and
“The 2022 Share Award Scheme” in the Report of the Directors,
under which an aggregate of 80,000 Awards were granted by the
Company to four consultants and advisor under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme during the year.

To establish the presence in the prescription lens development
and distribution market in mainland China, on 1 June 2023, the
Company entered into the sale and purchase agreement with HK
Optical, pursuant to which HK Optical has agreed to sell and the
Company has agreed to purchase 55% of the entire issued share
capital of Apollo at the consideration of RMB50.49 million (subject
to adjustment) (the “Acquisition”), which was satisfied by the
issue of the bond by the Company. Apollo and its subsidiaries
have been engaging in lens distribution business in the mainland
China since 2002. HK Optical is an independent third party, and
a leading manufacturer of and coating service provider for optical
lenses with prescriptions in Asia. The Acquisition was completed
on 6 October 2023.
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A 2% RMB denominated Hong Kong dollars settled unsecured
bond in the principal amount of RMB50.49 million (subject to
adjustment based on the total actual net profit of Apollo) was
issued as the consideration for the Acquisition to HK Optical.
An interest of 2.0 per cent per annum on a simple basis shall be
payable together with the principal amount upon maturity of the
bond. The Company may choose to settle the settlement amount
by way of cash and/or issue and allotment of the new shares of
the Company, at its absolute discretion. In the event the Company
chooses to settle the settlement amount by issue and allotment
of the new shares, (i) subject to the compliance of the Listing
Rules, the issue price of such issue shall be the volume-weighted
average closing price per Share in a period of 30 trading days prior
to the settlement date (or the latest practicable date immediately
before the settlement date) as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets; (ii) such issue is always subject to the
Shareholders’ approval, either pursuant to a special mandate
in relation to such issue or as part of the Company’s general
mandate under Rule 13.36 of the Listing Rules, and that (iii) the
Company shall duly comply with the Listing Rules in relation to
such issue. The bond matures on the third anniversary of the issue
date of the bond.

For further details, please refer to the announcement dated 1 June
2023.

Save as the aforesaid, no other equity-linked agreement was
entered into or existed and there had not been any issue for cash
of equity securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As of 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of our Directors and chief executive of our Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of our Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to our Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO; or () as otherwise notified to our Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
were as follows:

(A) Long and short position in Shares of our
Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest

EENA My

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Interest of controlled
Dennis corporation

MIE A2 S AERE R

Beneficial owner
EmEE A

EERBESTHRAERAQARE
AR EZENRS - HERORE
EETHEANEZRKAR

M2023FE12A31H  EERARAHES
THABRARRSNEEE ZE (&R &
HFREEEFIEXVES) G - HERG
MEEFTHREEQBEES LBE K
EXVERE 7 R8N AR AIE A A B K B X AT
MR AR (BREREESF KB EGGIHA
BIEX W EFS B ABEENRIRAR)
8 (b) 50 BRI IR IR 78 55 M HA B 15 1 28 352 1k
BAHFEMNZTLMANES AR HOR
BEMBTAESETERRINIZEST
B (TE2E<p A ) BME ARQ A KR T
B RSRB T

(A) RERFRDNFRERKXR

Approximate
percentage of
issued voting

shares in
Number of our Company (%)
ordinary class RAEAE
of shares ERITRERSG
ZERERROGHEB BAE 2 L (%)
680,194,553 54.2%
(long position) (Note 1)
680,194,553 fi%
(g 2) (BiFEE1)
8,920,000 0.7%

(long position)
8,920,000 i%
(37 E)
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Name of Director

EEnA

Ms. LI Xiaoting
FHERL

Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent
FIHEEE

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG
Pak-kuen
B A s 4

Nature of Interest

EEME

Interest of controlled

corporation
R EE R

Interest of spouse

L

Beneficial owner
E=lEA A

Interest of spouse

L

Beneficial owner

BEmlEAA

Report of the Directors

Number of
ordinary class
of shares

BEEERRDEE

680,194,553

(long position) (Note 1)
680,194,553 fi%
(5rE) (MEE)

8,920,000

(long position) (Note 2)
8,920,000 fi%

(5FE) (MEE2)

13,203,000
(long position)
13,203,000 f%

(57 E&)

300,000

(long position)
300,000 A&
(5 2)

200,000

(long position) (Note 3)
200,000 A%

(%) (MH5E3)

EXEERE

Approximate
percentage of
issued voting
shares in

our Company (%)
RARQH
ERITRERG
BAE DL (%)
54.2%

0.7%

1.1 %

0.02%

0.02%
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Notes:

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

680,194,553 Shares are beneficially owned by C-MER Group
Limited (“C-MER Group”). C-MER Group is owned as to
70% by Dr. Dennis LAM and 30% by Ms. LI Xiaoting. Ms.
LI is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, and both of them have
been managing and operating our business collectively and
reaching consensus before making major decisions in respect
of our business. Both Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI, as directors
of C-MER Group, will continue to act jointly so far as the
exercise of the voting rights attached with our Shares (through
C-MER Group) is concerned.

Ms. LI Xiaoting, the spouse of Dr. Lam Shun Chiu Dennis, is
deemed to be interested in the 8,920,000 Shares held by Dr.
Dennis Lam.

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen held 200,000 share options
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. For details,
please refer to the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of our Company or any associated
corporation — (B) Long position in underlying Shares of our
Company — physically settled unlisted equity derivatives”
this report.

n

B

680,194,553 IR R FIHE BB IR
AR ((FBEE)DEZHE -5
EES P BEMIEHEERETYEFEL
+HAT0% N 30% MR - T4+
BIEE RS BEMAE—
BEHAREBERERELRMOEBLR
ER BB MO EBN X ERER
ER—RER -MIEMBEERETRZ
T(HEAFBEEESF) B (B
BEBEE)TEROEERERL
F178) °

THEZLT (AMNIERE £
B)EBRAERMKIBEBE LTS
8,920,000 & B A #E %S ©

BERETLIREEAAFESE
B M 5T %5 A 200,000 17 BB A 4
HIEBELHARE[EERESTR
A BRI B AT o] 4R B 0% (B O i
n o HERDREEETHEE MR
0S8y Rl (VNENNCIREL e g v s
HRE-EMBEEFRLTRANTET
Al—-F&-




(B) Long position in underlying Shares of our
Company - physically settled unlisted equity

Report of the Directors
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(B) RAQFHEBRONGEAE-BEY
BEFLTRATETAR

derivatives

Number of
underlying ordinary
class of shares

in respect of

Approximate
percentage of
issued voting

Name of Director Nature of Interest

EEHE EEME

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Beneficial owner
Pak-kuen EnEAA

B A s 4

Note: Details of the above share options granted by our Company
are set out in the section headed “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” in this report.

(C) Long position in shares of associated corporation
— C-MER Group

Nature of Interest

Name of Director

=8 EEME

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Beneficial owner
Dennis EnEA A

R IE 2R

Ms. LI Xiaoting Beneficial owner

THEZL EmfAA

the share options shares in
granted (Note) our Company (%)
FRRHBREN RZAA A
HEEEER ERTRERSG
RGEE () A E 2D (%)
200,000 0.02%

(long position) (Note)

200,000 A%

(5 2&) ()

MizE: A LAARRFREOERES
BHRNARS[ERAFEENB
MRt 8l R E R AHEERER
RERTEI] —#f -

(O REBZEROGNEFRE-FHE

Approximate
percentage of
the issued

voting shares (%)
REBTRERSG
BAE 2 (%)

Number of
ordinary class
of shares
ZEER
RO A

1,400 (long position) 70.0%
1,400 B% (47 &)
600 (long position) 30.0%

600 % (47 &)
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(D) REBCEERD 7R —Hit

(D) Long position in the shares of associated

80

corporations — Others

Name of Name of Associated
Director Corporation

EEnA LA EEMtE

Nature of Interest

Approximate
percentage of
the issued
shares voting shares (%)
LREERN REBTRERSG
RGEE B B 2 L (%)

Number of
ordinary class of

Dr. LAM Shun Health Hope Beneficial owner 900,000 5.1%
Chiu International EnEA A (long position)
Dennis Medical Laboratory 900,000 (47 &)
NE 2 Limited
FERA(BE) BR
NS

Health Hope Pharma  Beneficial owner

7,000 70.0%

Limited EnEAE A (long position)
B LR A A 7,000 (4 &)

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2023, so far as
is known to our Directors or chief executive of our Company,
none of our Directors or chief executive of our Company
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of our Company or its associated
corporations which (a) were required to be notified to our
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code, to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FTERRRA D TR G K AHEE R &5
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND HNEZRRE

UNDERLYING SHARES OF OUR COMPANY

As of 31 December 2023, so far as was known to any Director or 2023F 128318 MEMEFHK AR
chief executive of our Company, the following persons (other than AEESITHABA  THAL(EERA
our Directors and chief executive of our Company) had interests NAREITEABRIN BRI 48 4 ik 5
and/or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which FHREREZSRAERAEXVEHBE2R
would fall to be disclosed to our Company pursuant to Divisions 2 3o EAMARD AR E SR BN AR A FIRE
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required BERBEKYEIBKRAETENET LM
to be kept by our Company under section 336 of the SFO. NE RS R HIKR -

Approximate
percentage of
issued voting

shares in

Number of our Company (%)

Name of substantial ordinary class RZAA F

Shareholder Nature of Interest of shares ERTRERS

TERRER ERtE TEEARGEE B E 2 L (%)

C-MER Group Limited Beneficial owner 680,194,553 54.2%
("C-MER Group”) BEm#EE A (long position) (Note)
AIHEEFRQA] 680,194,553 1%
(I#HBEBE]) (52 (&)

Note: C-MER Group is owned as to 70% by Dr. Dennis LAM and 30% by Mz : N EEENERBERTEEL LS

Ms. LI Xiaoting. Ms. Ll is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, and both of RIEBE70% R30%MEZw - TR A
them have been managing and operating our business collectively MIEFE EMEE  BEMAE—ERRAE
and reaching consensus before making major decisions in respect of 1 RSB BP0 I AR B B AN
our business. Both Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI will continue to act FBHMEARRRAER —BER - WIEEH
jointly so far as the exercise of the voting rights attached with our BAERFAITHEH (EBFHER) T
Shares (through C-MER Group) is concerned. FAR DI E R B L RITTE) -

By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. Li Xiaoting are REFHFLRBEGEN  RIEHEERT Y
deemed to be interested in the shares held by C-MER Group. BZTHERNRBEFBEEFANKRM P
BEER -
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Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2023, our Directors
were not aware that there is any other persons (being a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of our Company or
otherwise) who had an interest or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of our Company, which would fall to be
disclosed to our Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be
kept by our Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to our Company and
to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
as at the date of this annual report, our Company has always
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by our Company
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on
pages 83 to 100 of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There were no significant events affecting the Group which have
occurred after the end of the reporting period.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of our Company. A resolution for re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor of our
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of our Board
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
applied the principles as set forth in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
which are applicable to the Company. In accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules and also to enhance its corporate
governance practices, the Company has also adopted a number
of corporate governance policies, including but not limited the
board diversity policy, the shareholders’ communication policy, the
director nomination policy, the inside information policy and the
dividend policy.

In the opinion of the Board, during the year ended 31 December
2023, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions as set forth in the CG Code, save and except for code
provision C.2.1, which states that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis is both our
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for the
overall management of the Group and directing the strategic
development and business plans of the Group.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in the same individual would enable
the Company to achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and
effectiveness when formulating business strategies and executing
business plans. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is sufficiently maintained by the operation of the
senior management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises three
executive Directors (including Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis) and four
independent non-executive Directors and therefore has a fairly
strong independence element in its composition. The Board will
nevertheless review the structure and composition of the Board
from time to time in light of prevailing circumstances, in order to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

EEERRE

EEERER
EEERNRBBATHORLEADE
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set forth in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions of the Directors. Employees of the Group
(the “Relevant Employees”) who, because of their office or
employment, are likely to possess inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities are also subject to compliance with
the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all directors,
each of the Directors has confirmed compliance with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 other
than the incident described below. No other incident of non-
compliance of the Model Code by the Relevant Employees was
noted by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.

As previously disclosed in the annual report of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022, on 17 February 2023,
the Company was notified about dealing by his spouse of Mr.
CHAN Chi Leong, one of the former independent non-executive
directors. As informed by the director, the trade was conducted
through an online brokerage platform that was operated by his
spouse of Mr. CHAN, and involved 8,000 shares of the Company
at a total sale price of approximately HK$38,240. The Company
notes that such dealing was done during the “blackout period”
without the prior knowledge or approval from Mr. CHAN, but
such dealing was not in compliance with the Model Code.

The Company will continue with its practice of (i) reminding the
directors of their obligations to not deal in the securities of the
Company going forward, including dealings by the directors’
spouse, or by or on behalf of any minor child and any other
dealings in which for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO he is
or is to be treated as interested, and (ii) organizing trainings to
directors of the Company to understand their obligations under
the Listing Rules as well as their obligations under the Model
Code. In addition, in light of the said incident, it has arranged for
trainings to be delivered to all directors again on the Model Code
restrictions. Mr. CHAN did not offer himself for re-election at the
annual general meeting held on 30 May 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven members as follows:

Executive Directors:
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. LI Xiaoting
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen (Vice Chairman)
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen

Mr. YIN Ke

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Profile of Directors, Senior Management and
Company Secretary” on pages 34 to 42 of this annual report. Save
as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary” in this annual report,
the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other as at 31 December
2023.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are served by Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis and have not
been segregated as required under code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code. The Board is of the view that such arrangement provided
the Group with strong and consistent leadership to the Company
and allowed for more effective and efficient business planning and
decisions as well as execution of long term business strategies.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Mr. YIN Ke was an independent non-executive Director that was
appointed during the year ended 31 December 2023, and he
meets the independent criteria pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. YIN Ke has received legal advice as required under Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 29 June 2023, and he has confirmed
that he understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

With their different experiences and expertises, the independent
non-executive Directors supervise and provide independent
judgement to the Board on strategic and significant matters. The
Board seeks to develop an effective working environment for
the executive and independent non-executive Directors so as to
improve the quality of the decisions made by the Board without
constraining the independent views of the independent non-
executive Directors. Regular Board meetings were held during
the year with open discussions between the executive Directors
and the independent non-executive Directors to enhance
communication and effective working relationship. The Board had
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s mechanism to ensure
independent views and inputs being available to the Board for the
year ended 31 December 2023, and considered it effective.

The Chairman has held at least one meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other directors
during the year.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code requires that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Each of the
executive Directors is appointed for a term of three years which
is terminable by either party by giving three months’ written
notice to the other party. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors is appointed under a letter of appointment for a term
of three years which is terminable by either party by giving three
months’ written notice to the other party.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following
annual general meeting after his/her appointment and they will be
subject to re-election at such meeting.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board, led by the Chairman, Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis,
determines and monitors the overall strategy and policies, annual
budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance of the
Group, and supervises the management of the Company.

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the activities and
performance of the Group and its primary functions cover, among
other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the review
of the corporate and financial policies, review and assessment
of the Company’s financial reporting, internal control and risk
management systems and the oversight of the management of
the Group’s business and affairs.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company as well as the services and advice from the senior
management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the
management of the Group, who possesses extensive operating
experience and industry knowledge, and also instructs the
management to implement the Board’s decisions and resolutions.

The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters
which include, inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgeting, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
which may involve conflict of interests of substantial shareholder(s)
or Director(s)), financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had
approved the on-market repurchase of shares pursuant to the
mandate granted by the Shareholders, and had also considered
the appointment of new independent non-executive Director and
the composition of the various Board committees subsequent to
the retirement and appointment of independent non-executive
Director(s).
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Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
selection criteria and nomination procedures adopted to guide the
nomination committee of the Company to select and recommend
candidates for directorship so as to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
nomination committee of the Company in assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate:

o reputation for integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

. (in case of independent non-executive Directors) requirement
for the Board to have independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o any potential contributions that the candidate can bring to
the Board;

o commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest; and

o any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business operation and environment as well as
the industry in which the Company operates.

The nomination committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such
as referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from a third party agency firm and proposals from the
shareholders of the Company with due consideration given to the
criteria which include but are limited to the above-mentioned.
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The nomination committee or the company secretary of
the Company shall convene a meeting upon receipt of any
nominations of candidates to evaluate such candidates based on
the selection criteria mentioned above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship. The nomination committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by
a shareholder of the Company for election as a Director at the
general meeting, the nomination committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to the shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting. The
Board should have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.

All Directors have provided to the Company with their training
records and such records have been maintained by the Company
for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.
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Summary of training received by the Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2023 according to the records as provided by
the Directors is as follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors BTES
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis RIE B B8
Ms. LI Xiaoting FHERZ+
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent PR

Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHTESE

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen BRI RniEtE
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung BRELEE
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen BEEBEA
Mr. YIN Ke B Al S A

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website
(www.cmereye.com) and the HKEx's website (www.hkexnews.hk)
and are available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out in the Corporate
Information on page 2 of this annual report.

RIEEERMHNTE  EENEHE20234F
12ABLEFEMEIBZIOBMENT
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Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review,
supervise, and assist the Board in providing an independent view
of, our financial reporting processes, and internal control and risk
management systems, as well as to oversee the audit process,
review our annual and interim financial statements, provide advice
and comments to the Board on matters related to corporate
governance, develop, implement and review a policy on engaging
external auditors to supply non-audit services, approve the scopes
and fees for non-audit assignments, and reporting to our board
and perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board from time to time. PricewaterhouseCoopers will confirm
its independence before accepting the engagement of non-audit
services.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
held 2 meetings to review the interim and annual financial results
and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the risk management and
internal control systems and the effectiveness of the internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of
work.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
had 2 meetings with the external auditors of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
(i) develop and review the policies and the structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management; (ii)
evaluate the performance of, and make recommendations on the
remuneration packages and long-term incentive compensation
or equity plans for, the Directors and senior management; and
(iii) evaluate and make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangements.

The Board has adopted new terms of reference for the
Remuneration Committee in relation to the review and approval of
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules with effect from 1 January 2023, incorporating amendments
to the Listing Rules which took effect on the same date.

The Remuneration Committee had recommended the grant of
share awards pursuant to the terms of the 2022 Share Award
Scheme in conjunction with the appointment of advisor and
consultants and also to advisors and consultants of the Group. For
further details regarding the grants, please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 28 June 2023.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held 1 meeting to review and make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management and other related matters. Major work
completed by the Remuneration Committee during the year
included: (i) determined the policy for the remuneration of
executive directors, (i) assessed performance of executive directors
and (iii) considered the remuneration package to be offered to
the newly appointed independent non-executive Director and (iv)
the grant of share awards under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.
Details of the Director’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, pursuant to the
code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of
other members of the senior management by bands for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

REZE2023F12A31BIEFE - £
BEERT—XRLHE UBRT AT
PR M RIE  EEREREIEE RN F N
FBRULEGHBEEYRIENES TR
HEZ FHNZETHNFRATKHEET
EBTE : () BITESHHEFEBEE - (i)
ST ESHNRR - (N BERAMEZEE
VIMITESREOFHGE  RiviRE
2022 F IR BENFTEIR H R 42 - EF
FMFTIBH NGRS P B MEMFLO o o -
BIBESEERTAMTRECEETSE
HZE2023F12A3MHLEFE SRERE
BEMKEZRFNERE DT EEHINS
AT

Number of

individual

Remuneration band (in HK$) HFMZEHR (BT) AB

2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,001 % 2,500,000 1

2,500,001 to 3,000,000 2,500,001 2 3,000,000 1
Nomination Committee RELZE®

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment and
removal of Directors and senior management, and on matters of
succession planning.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to professional
qualifications, regional and industry experience, educational and
cultural background, skills, industry knowledge, reputation and
gender. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence and other
relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held 1 meeting to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, the proposed appointment
of independent non-executive Director in July 2023, the
composition of the Board committees, and review of re-
appointment of retiring Directors.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance with the Model Code and the guidelines, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) as required by the Listing Rules which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Board
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. The Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity when selecting candidates from a
number of perspectives based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board has reviewed the appropriateness of an express
diversity quota or measurable objective in achieving board
diversity, and noted that currently the Board has members of
both genders. In light of the above, the Board has concluded that
selection of Board members should continue to be based on the
above said diversity perspectives instead of setting an express
quota or objective. The Nomination Committee will monitor
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
effectiveness as appropriate.

As at 31 December 2023, 86% of Directors, 50% of our senior
management members and 34% of our total workforce were
male. The Board has reviewed the appropriateness of a measurable
objective in achieving gender diversity in our senior management
member and total workforce, and noted that currently members
of both genders constitute the Board, and we attain a gender
ratio of 50% for female employees at senior management level.
In light of the above, the Board has concluded that selection of
senior management members and general employees should
continue to be based on the above said diversity perspectives
instead of setting an express quota or objective. The Board will
monitor the gender ratio in our workforce from time to time, and
the Nomination Committee will seek to identify female candidates
for future appointments to the Board to enhance its gender ratio.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings,
Board committee meetings and the annual general meeting of the
Company held during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set
out in the table below:

EERZEENENHERLE

BREFREZ2023F12A31HIEFE
THARAREES S EFCLECT
FURBRRAF RSN ELRENT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/ ERRE

Nomination
Name of Directors Committee
Esps REZEE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis 4/4 N/A
MIE#HE TEA
Ms. LI Xiaoting 3/4 "
FERLL
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent 3/4 N/A
FHREBE A
Mr. LI Chunshan (stepped down with effect 212 N/A
from 3 July 2023)
FEKE (8202357 A3RRHME) TEm
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFRITEE
Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen 4/4 7
NG
Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald (retired on 1N N/A
30 May 2023)
TEREE (R 20235730 HEMA) TEm
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung 4/4 n
BRELE
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong (retired on n N/A
30 May 2023)
B k£ (1202345 30 RR M) TER
Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang (retired on " N/A
30 May 2023)
RRFHE (R2023F5 30 HEM) TER
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4/4 N/A
EEBEE ik
Mr. YIN Ke (appointed with effect 212 N/A
from 3 July 2023)
BRAIEA(B2023F7 A3REERT) @R

Remuneration
Committee

FHEES

/A
TiEm

N/A
FEm

N/A

TER

/A
FiEm

N/A

TER

/A
TiER
/A

&R

N/A

@R
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Meeting
RRBFAE

17

171

n
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 101 to 110 of
this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, for
the audit of the year ended 31 December 2023 and non-audit
services is set out below:
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Fees Paid/Payable

g ENER

HK$°000

Services rendered P2 fit AR 7 FET

Audit service Eit iR 2,330
Non-audit Services FEFET TS

— tax compliance service —BERRS 158

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Company’s assets and the interests of shareholders. The systems
of risk management and internal control of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve corporate objectives and only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company on 20 March 2024, including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting function. The Board also conducted a review of
those relating to the ESG performance and reporting.
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The main features of the Group’s risk management and internal
control structure are as follows:

- Well-defined organisational structure with appropriate
segregation of duties, limit of authority, reporting lines and
responsibilities to minimise risk of errors and abuse;

- Clear and written policies and procedures have been
established and regularly reviewed for major functions and
operations;

- Important business functions or activities are managed by
experienced, qualified and suitably trained staff;

- Continuous monitoring of the key operating data and
performance indicators, timely and up-to-date business and
financial reporting, immediate corrective actions are taken
where necessary; and

- Internal audit function to perform independent appraisal of
major operations on an ongoing basis.

A risk-based approach is adopted to ensure that a methodical
coverage of the Group’s operations and resources are focused on
high risk areas. The internal audit team takes the lead to evaluate
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group by
reviewing the major operations of the Group on a rotational basis
every year with review period covering the full financial year. The
review covers all material controls including financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management. Review results and
recommendations in the form of written reports are submitted to
the Audit Committee for discussion and review. Follow up actions
will be taken up by the internal audit team to ensure that findings
previously identified have been properly resolved. The Board had
discussed with the external auditor and, based on the written
reports of internal audit review results and recommendations,
the findings on follow up actions and recommendation by the
Audit Committee, reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2023, and considered them effective and adequate.
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HANDLING OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. With a view to
identifying, handling and disseminating inside information, various
procedures including pre-clearance on dealing in the securities
of the Company by designated members of management,
notification of regular blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions to relevant directors and employees, restrictions on
access to financial records and dissemination of information on
a need-to-know basis, along with the enhanced measures taken
subsequent to the dealing by the spouse of Mr. CHAN Chi Leong,
as set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 84 of
this report, have also been implemented by the Group to guard
against possible mishandling of inside information within the
Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wa Ping, who is the Company secretary of the
Company, reports directly to the Board and is responsible
for, inter alia, providing updated and timely information to all
Directors from time to time. Mr. Chan is a full time employee of
the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Chan has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company aims to establish fair and transparent procedures
to enable all shareholders an equal opportunity to exercise their
rights in an informed manner and communicates efficiently with
the Company. Under the Articles of Association and the relevant
policies and procedures of the Company, the shareholders enjoy,
among others, the following rights:
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Convene an extraordinary general meeting/put
forward proposals:

Any one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote
per share basis, shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held with two months
after the deposit of such requisition at the Company’s Hong
Kong office at Suite 1535, Central Building, 1-3 Pedder
Street, Central, Hong Kong. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. The Company would take appropriate actions
and make necessary arrangements in accordance with the
requirements under Article 58 of the Articles of Association
once a valid requisition is received.

Propose a person for election as a Director:

As regards to the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as director”
under the section headed “Corporate Governance” of the
Company’s website at www.cmereye.com.

Put forth enquiries to the Company:

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board'’s
attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary
at the Company’s Hong Kong office at Suite 1535, Central
Building, 1-3 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong.

1.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company has adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy to enable shareholders to engage actively
with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed manner. The Board will review Shareholders’
Communication Policy on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other extraordinary general meetings,
financial reports and other publications and communications of
the Company. At the annual general meetings, Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

The Company’s website (www.cmereye.com) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of
the company to the shareholders, other stakeholders and
investors, including the Company’s financial reports (interim
and annual reports), annual general meetings and other general
meetings notices, announcements and circulars, its corporate
communications and other corporate publications. The Company
will also update the website information from time to time to
inform the shareholders and investors of the latest development
of the Company.

The contact details of the company secretary and its registrar
are set out in the Company’s website in order to enable the
Shareholders to make any query that they may have with respect
to the Company. Shareholders should direct their questions about
their shareholdings to the Company’s registrar. Shareholders
may at any time make a request for the Company’s information
to the extent such information is publicly available and the
Company shall make a reasonable effort in addressing those
requests. In addition, shareholders are, at any time, welcome to
raise questions to the Board and management by writing to the
company secretary.

Upon reviewing the Group’s communication strategies with
shareholders and the various channels for shareholders to express
their views to the Company, the Board is of the view that the
shareholders’ communication policy is implemented properly and
effectively.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 May
2023, a special resolution was approved by the Shareholders
in approving amendments to the articles of association of the
Company to, among other things, (i) bring the existing articles
of association in alignment with the Core Shareholder Protection
Standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, and (i) make
other housekeeping amendments. For further details on the
amendments made to the articles of association of the Company,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 20 April 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Group values the concept of sustainability and we have
been actively fulfilling our corporate social responsibilities.
The Board is dedicated to improving and developing the ESG
strategy, which is in the best interests of our stakeholders. The
ESG Working Group is responsible for supporting the Board in
implementing ESG-related strategies and targets, and promoting
the implementation of measures in relation to the ESG issues
identified. The Group have identified the following ESG issues
as being “vital”, and they include health and safety of services,
clients’ privacy and data protection, anti-corruption practices,
hazardous waste management, safe working environment and
labour standard. Among those areas that were identified as “vital”,
we have adopted numerous specific policies and goals that would
enable us to build a more sustainable business and bring greater
benefits for the society as a whole. Further information on the
Group's performance and achievements can be found in our
Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year ended
31 December 2023.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

i
pwec

To the Shareholders of C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of C-MER Eye Care Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 111 to 247, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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AREEEE (5

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment BRSSP EARETEEIER
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful EEVEFHERAFRNERSENHE

life.

Key Audit Matter

BRESE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful life
BERERPBEAFHNELEENRENM
Refer to Note 4(d) (Critical accounting estimates and
judgements) and Note 16 (Intangible assets) to the
consolidated financial statements.

2R A MG MARM L 4() (EE S5 R HIE)
Ktz 16 (BREE) -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life of approximately HK$530,426,000 and
HK$264,279,000, representing 19% and 10% of
the Group’s total assets respectively.
2023512 A31H - EXEHRAHENLERD
8 3 e | & & 9 Bl 49 4 530,426,000 7% 7T
$.264,279,000/ 7T DAt BEEBEEERN
19% ;. 10%

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life are subject to impairment assessment
at least annually or when there is an indication of
impairment.
HENERMEAFHNETLEESFELHETT
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNMEEFERESN SR

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life
included the following:

SRR RERBE R BT EENRERS - B
MERT S REE

o We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and
susceptibility to management bias or fraud,;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

REEITEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful life
(Continued)
BMERERBEAFHNELEENRENG(E)
Management performed impairment assessment on
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
life of each cash-generating unit in Mainland China
and Hong Kong and assessed their recoverable
amounts based on the value-in-use calculations.
This assessment involved significant judgements
in adopting the underlying assumptions for the
calculations.
EREHEHPRAMEEESARSESEUL
HELERREAFRANELEELET TIRER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNESNAERERARETSHE

We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process; and
BPFEA PSR ELRBERERNERFHNELE
EREMENER - At A ER B AT BIESR
BREE - &

We evaluated management's impairment assessment
including cash flow forecast, and the process by
which they were drawn up, and tested the underlying
calculations.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

REEITEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful life
(Continued)
BMERERBEAFHNELEENRENG(E)
The key assumptions used in the value-in-use
calculations include, among others, compound
revenue growth rates, terminal revenue growth
rates and discount rates.
EREBEAEMAZIZERREE (Hh ek %
AREERE  RHKRERERPREK -

The recoverable amounts of these cash-generating
units estimated by management exceeded their
carrying values and the directors were of the
opinion that no impairment was necessary as at 31
December 2023.
EREWRFZERSELEM NS SEEB
HEEEE EFRAMN2023F 12831 B HEE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNESNAERERARETSHE

Specific work we performed over the impairment
assessment included:

HPIERERF G ETHAR TIERRE

o Comparing management'’s forecasted revenue and
profit margins with historical performance;

o RKEEENEAKGELFEXREBERBELR:

o Comparing the management’s key assumptions for
discount rates in the forecast with industry data; and

e HEBEMEARMRENFERREITERRE
TELEE &

o Obtaining management’s sensitivity analysis over the
key assumptions of the cash flow forecast to analyse
the potential impact of a range of possible outcomes.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

REEITEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful life
(Continued)
BMERERBEAFHNELEENRENG(E)
We focused on this area due to the high degree of
estimation uncertainty involved in the estimation
of recoverable amount. The inherent risk in
relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite useful life
is considered significant due to subjectivity of
assumptions used including estimated growth rates
and discount rates which are subject to change of
economic environment in the future.
HRAEFARE B RS E AT T RES - &
MEIRUER -BHRNFTARR (BEGFEER
EREBRER)ZTEBEE BELMERBERAFH
WEFEENREN G ZEFRERFERBERK

MESBRERREERHEDHLE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNESNAERERARETSHE

We also considered whether the judgements made in
selecting the growth rates and discount rates would give
rise to indicators of possible management bias.
BAMZREZFERI LR ERAENHB S TSI
ERERRFARELNIR -

Based on the above, we considered that management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life were supportable by the evidence obtained and
procedures performed.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited 2023
Annual Report (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have
obtained some of the other information including Report of the
Directors prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining
other information, including Financial Highlights and Management
Discussion and Analysis and the other sections to be included in
the annual report, is expected to be made available to us after
that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not and will not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included
in the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter
to the Audit Committee and take appropriate action considering
our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
MR S ETE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kong Ling Yin, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
RExEREK

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31B8LEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FHET
Revenue Yz 5 1,923,964 1,731,903
Cost of revenue HERA 8 (1,305,002) (1,284,206)
Gross profit EF 618,962 447 697
Other income HAb A 6 8,413 28,654
Selling expenses HERY 8 (147,802) (126,774)
Administrative expenses THAX 8 (354,928) (345,347)
Other losses, net Hib g 35 7 (5,308) (40,712)
_Operating profit/(loss) _  MEN®/B®) 119337 (36482)
Finance income U 19,890 7,112
Finance costs BT AR AR (18,122) (19,656)
_finance incomer(costs), net BB (RA)EE 0 1768 (12544)
Share of profit of associates and joint venture ~ D {EHi & AT A Z
o BERE 3164 37,799
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETEBAIAE, (B8) 124,269 (11,227)
Income tax expense 3R 11 (37,934) (34,998)
Profit/(loss) for the year ERFE/(HR) 86,335 (46,225)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: LTE&FEEER
A/ (EE) -
— Equity holders of the Company —ARAEREHEA 61,998 (21,875)
— Non-controlling interests — IR 24,337 (24,350)
86,335 (46,225)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ReErzEWER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31B8LEE

2023 2022
2023 2022F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
Wiz FET FET
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hit2EBA (H8)
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEM D EEEm
profit or loss EH

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair ~ EAFEFAEMEE
value through other comprehensive income WA B & BRE &= M)

ATEES a4 13,762
Currency translation difference G 2 R (4,643) (3,534)
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to ~ E# S @B 72

profit or loss Ba)EH
Currency translation differences SN E = 5 (24,268) (86,492)

_Other comprehensive loss for theyear ~ FARMEEER (28867) | (76,264)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for FREEBA (EE)

the year g 57,468 (122,489)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the LT & FEEERZEIK

year attributable to: A/ (BB1R) @58

— Equity holders of the Company —ARFERRFEBA 37,774 (94,605)

— Non-controlling interests — IR 19,694 (27,884)

57,468 (122,489)

Earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) FREXAREZEEA

attributable to equity holders of the PEAR R, (B518) 1

Company during the year (expressed in SREAN/(F8)

HK cents per share) (A BREWLIIR)

- Basic —EK 12 4.94 (1.77)

- Diluted -8 2 4.94 (1.77)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income A AR EUR AR ESE M — R -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE BRI R

As at 31 December

MW12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - B k& 13 401,515 392,333
Investment properties KEME 15 12,346 13,038
Right-of-use assets PHEEE 14 591,301 665,308
Intangible assets mAE 6 802,184 821,393
Interests in associates REEE QAR 41 44,814 41,962
Interest in a joint venture REELENER 42 47,848 -
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAR S REE 22 83,665 74,167
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISTHEE 29 6,821 6,937
Deposits, prepayments and other e BRRER
receivables H A fE W SRR 20 38,006 29,992
2,028,500 2,045,130
Current assets REEE
Inventories & 17 38,849 51,378
Trade receivables =) 3¢/ eL] 19 53,371 47,133
Deposits, prepayments and other e BRNRER
receivables H fth FE UL SR IE 20 65,420 52,795
Amounts due from associates g SNEIE S E] 37 5,077 6,739
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFERAERD
profit or loss SREE 23 11,748 22,484
Short-term bank deposits REERSRITIE RN 21 32,908 31,330
Cash and cash equivalents ReLkRSEEY 21 512,762 644,698
R 720,35 . 856,557 _
Total assets BmEE 2,748,635 2,901,687
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to equity holders AL FEZFTEA
of the Company PEfL R
Share capital A A 24 125,556 126,656
Reserves [ 1,720,258 1,739,405
1,845,814 1,866,061
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR M 40 147,472 132,178
Total equity RS 1,993,286 1,998,239

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 ¢ —ZE ==& 113




114

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other payables Ho b e < 508 37 53,343 2,968
Loans from non-controlling interests SEIER R B K 40 13,800 21,215
Lease liabilities HEARE 14 232,657 281,937
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTISTRAE 29 66,224 72,530
e 366,024 378,650
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables B 5 R IR 30 54,916 45,306
Accruals and other payables FEETE R REAM
FE A 3R IE 37 136,386 117,112
Contract liabilities EHAE 5 54,189 39,490
Borrowings BN 32 1,725 34,257
Amounts due to non-controlling interests [ < FE#22 B 1 25 R IA 40 3,331 154,704
Loan from non-controlling interest IR ERER 40 7,612 -
Current income tax liabilities BIERFTS i A E 23,970 18,851
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 107,196 115,078
.. 389,325 224,798
Total liabilities weEs 755,349 903,448
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 2,748,635 2,901,687

The consolidated financial statements on pages 111 to 247 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2024 and were
signed on its behalf.

LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
K JIE %8
Executive Director
HITEFE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Executive Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERgExR

Arbutable o onners of the Company

B

Statutory
Share surplus Share-based Non-
capital Share  Treasury resene  Exchange  payment Other  Retal controling

(Note24) ~ premium shares Teserve I resene e Inferests

Asat 1 January 2022 RURE1518 15034 1,086,722 - 13,076 8IR3 26950 - 50475 1331230 6013 1337243
Comprehensive loss 3]
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - e e B0 46
Other comprehensive income/{loss) ﬁmmm/ )
Changein fairvalue offinencia assets st~ %23 E FARHRE

farvalue through other comprehene HEEN

income Hﬁm@ - - - - - - 13,762 - 13,762 - 13,762
Curency transaton differences NEREZR - - - - (664 - - - 049 B3 (000
Transactions with equity holders ERERAANRS
isuance of shares (Note 243 and () mﬁxf H ()()&(n) 155 6563 - - - - - -6 S TAL
Issuance of shares upon exercise of pre-PO f

share options (Note 26) 87 785 - - - - - - 81 - 812
Purchase of own shares (Note 24(b)) - - (B - - - - - ) - (B
Share-based payments (Note 26) - - - - - 133 - - 133 - 133
Transaction with non-controllng nterests

- Captal infection - - - - - - - - - 3458 3458

- Acquistion of subsdres (Note 38) -Wﬁ B R (Hi38) - - - - - - - - S LI IR G B

- Dividend paid S - - - - - - - - N I (}
Transfertostatutory resenve ﬁﬁ‘i EERE - - - 2048 - - - . - -
As at 31 December 2022 HNNENA3NA 12665 1733130 (29927) 15,124 (47519 28283 13,762 26552 1,866,061 132178 1998239

Attributable to owners of the Company

LB N
Statutory
Share surplus Share-based Non-
capital Share  Treasury  reseve  Exchange  payment Other  Retained controlling
(Note2d)  premium shares  (Noted5)  reserve  reseve  reseve  eamings  Subtotal interests Total
HERS WA
i it HEf
(Wew)  RERE ERRE  (WEn) AERE  AREE  HEEE  REEA it 3
HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSODD  HKSUD  HKSUO0  HKSUOD  HKSUOD  HKSUDD  HKSOO0  HKSUOD  HKSUOD
fér TR TRt T fEr fEn TEn TR Rt FET fEn
Asat 1 January 2023 HOBE1R18 12665 173530 (997) 54 @519 0 28283 13762 65 1866061 132178 198,239
Comprehensive income EUA
Proft for the year EMilE - - - - - - - G19% 61998 M 3%

Other comprehensive incomeffloss) ~ £r2E4A/ (F8)
Change in fair value o financial assetsat far - RAFE3F AZH2ARA

value through other comprehensiee ncome - (£ BEENATESS) - - - - - - “ - “ - U
Curtency transaton ifferences ferEzE - - - - (a269) - - - (M%) @6 (89N

Transactions with equity holders ERERAANRS
Purchase of own sheres (Note 24(0) EE BRI (i 24) - - (2 - - - - - (8 - (2

Cancellation of shares (Note 24(ai) (i3 2ua)i) (11000 (40531  M631 - - - - - - -
Share-based payments (Note 26 and 27) EROAR
(HzwR27) - - - - - m - - m - m
Transacton with non-contoling interests 3 EREsNLS
- Dividend paid -EfRE o = = - - - - - - (4,400) (4.400)
Transfer to statutory resenve SATIERE - - - - - - (18 - - -
As at 31 December 2023 RNBENANA 125556 1,692,599 (46,59) 26,309 (1,787) 2855 13,806 71365 1845814 147412 1,993,286

[

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be LA LERE RS R EEAM T —O5E
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEBRERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022
HK$'000 HK$°000
FE T FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMBRERE
Cash generated from operations WEMERE 33(@) 393,703 189,802
Income tax paid Hﬁﬁ SR (32,549) (24,938)
Net cash generated from operating activities 48 & B ST & F 5 361,154 164,864
Cash flows from investing activities REFHMERERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BELEE (115,485) (89,006)
Purchase of intangible assets BEBFEE 6 (371) (2,227)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME  BER
plant and equipment REMEHAE 33b) 14,521 1,256
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired UEE P& A7) - MBFE
Be 38 - (94,327)
Interest received BUFHIE 10 19,890 7,112
Increase in bank deposits with original maturity & 2|8 2] HR = A my iR
over three months 1T RE (1,578) (31,330)
Payment for financial assets at fair value BAFEGARMEE
through other comprehensive income WJ&E’J%?&EEFZH%’K 22 (9,454) (7,830)
Dividend received from an associate Bl —EEBERARKE 41 = 20,651
Repayment to non-controlling interests REZie Eﬁ?ﬂlﬁ (152,894) -
Net cash used in investing activities REEHFMAREFH (245,371) (195,695)
Cash flows from financing activities METBAEESRE
Principal elements of lease payments HENZOAE LD 33%d) (131,308) (114,446)
Interest paid on leases SRBEEFE 33(d) (16,712) (18,470)
Interest paid on bank loans S RITEFHFE 10 (303) (769)
Proceeds from exercise of pre-IPO TEERARBEER
share options FBARIEPTS IR - 872
Proceeds from issuance of shares BTN TS IA = 606,792
Proceeds from borrowings f& ?XFM%%’A 33(d) 10,780 31,260
Repayment to borrowings BEER 33(d) (43,278) (193,241)
Loan advances from non-controlling interests ~ 3E#% Hx%ﬁnmﬁﬁ%m 33(d) = 13,800
Advances from non-controlling interests IFERER NP 1,420 -
Repayment to non-controlling interests REZadie Eﬁ?ﬁé (782) (992)
Payments for share repurchase P& 1 B8 121 B9 1< 3% 24(b) (58,294) (29,927)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BARE 228 Skl o (4,400) (1,200)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing BMEEE( ﬁfﬁ)/ﬁfrf%
adtties ... BEF® 242877) 293,679
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash fﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁ%?‘ )
equivalents m) /8 InEEE (127,094) 262,848
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the E%ﬂfﬁi&iﬁﬁ £EBY
year 644,698 386,659
Currency translation differences INE R E E (4,842) (4,809)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ERRERREEZEY
the year 21 512,762 644,698
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in AR neaREEEWET —EE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 1 February 2016
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of ophthalmic services, provision of dental and
other medical services, sales of vision aid products and sales
of medical consumables in Hong Kong (“HK") and Mainland
China. The Company has been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 15 January
2018.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to nearest
thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) and the requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVOCI”) and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

The Group has adopted the following new and
amended standards which are relevant to the Group’s
operations and are mandatory for the financial year
beginning on 1 January 2023:

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 12

HKFRS 17 and
Amendments to
HKFRS 17

Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 Initial Application of
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9-

Comparative Information

The adoption of the above new and amended
standards did not have any significant financial impact
on these consolidated financial statements.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2 mBEEEm
(a) New and amended standards adopted by (a) AEBERH W FET R&EET
the Group 28|
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2 wmEEXEMm
(b) New standards and amendments to (b) [ REFEMEEFRT REERT

standards not yet adopted 8|

There are certain new standards and amendments to ATHATEA REAETE L&
standards that are published but not mandatory for EMEREZE2023F12 8318
the year ended 31 December 2023 and have not been IFFEIARBHAER KN&E
early adopted by the Group. These standards are not MERPREM - ZSERTEH
expected to have a material impact on the entity in the S EHEBNBATRRRBE
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable HAR B A R R RN T HEKE
future transactions. N

Effective for

accounting

periods

beginning on

or after

RT5BEH

H 2 BB

SHBLEXR

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2024
Non-current

ERRTERIE 1R EFT KEEIERRBDIERD 20241 A1 H

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024

BB G ERIE 1R EFT s RERNIERBEE 202451 A1 8

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024

BEVBMELNE 165 2EF] EREAENEERE 20241 A1 H

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2024

Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

BBREE SR (KBET) VM BME-—BERALBFREKEE 202417411
BROBHERN S

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
HKFRS 7

BEEGHERBTIRRBEENBR HEMBRELH 20241 B1H
HRANE TR 21EF]

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

BB EEERIE 2198 2185] Rz At 20251 A1 H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an  To be determined
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BEUBRELEREZI10RREEY REEREBERRNEELE L HANE FiEE
FHAERIZE 285k 2 & RT EHEXEA
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2 mBEEEm

(b) New standards and amendments to (b) [ REFEMEEFRT REERT
standards not yet adopted (Continued) R ()
The Group will apply the above new standards B FutEeT R R AR 28 FT
and amendments to standards when they become R RNEEBERALEE
effective. No new standard and amendments to Al R 2RI 25T o W M AT 4
standards is expected to have a significant effect on AR ERI ZEE] B RS
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. EMiRe R ERBEEATE -

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 UXEBRER

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance
department under the supervision of the board of directors.
The board provides principles for overall risk management.

3.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i)  Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the
value of a financial instrument fluctuates
because of the changes in foreign
exchange rates.

AEEET R BE R ZEM B RR -
mEHEER (BREXER ReERE
RAFENERRR) FEERRNR
BERR AEBEREBEEREIE
ETFNERAIGHRME - WK
HENAEEHMBRANEETNF

EREREK -

MBEHMAEEEENEE THRVH
RREE EEERTEEERRE R
BER A -

3.1 MBEABREER
(a) HEmEEE
() SNERR
SNERMIES BT A
{5 121 R 9N O o
1 L B8 B A LR

The subsidiaries of the Group mainly REBMHBARE
operate in HK and Mainland China with EREBRFEAM

most of the transactions settled in HK$
and Renminbi (“"RMB") respectively.
Foreign exchange rate risk arises when
recognised financial assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEEZERER AT

REEB - BHEKE
DR D BB TR
ARB(TARED &
2 -EEHIATRE
ENABENERYEE
EE AN ERFHE
Ry BIE £ SMERE X
Rk o
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R IR

B 7SR b BB ()
3.1 BI¥EMEZE &)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(a) WEEEE(E)

(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SERRE(E)
As at 31 December 2023, the financial R 2023F 12 A 31
assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries of H XEEHNEER
the Group in HK and Mainland China are H B A 3 B/ A R A
primarily denominated in HK$ and RMB, cREERBEEE
their respective functional currency (2022: LHEZB®HIEES
same). EETRARESE
(20224 : HHMA) °
As at 31 December 2023, the result R 2023F 12 A 31
of the foreign exchange difference on H- - AARKERINEE
translation of United States dollars (“US$") EENHBARRE
denominated cash and cash equivalents of AET ([Ex]) 5
subsidiaries with RMB as their functional ENReEREEE
currency is immaterial (2022: same). e R ZEA R
TE KX (20224 : 4
@) e
The Group will constantly review the REE BT BB
economic situation and its foreign IR IF N HINE [ e ik
exchange risk profile, and will consider S AR R R B R
appropriate hedging measures in the ZREE R o
future, as may be necessary.
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate (i) BEARERAFEF
risk =@k

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
refer to the changes in cash flows or fair
value of a financial instrument as a result
of fluctuations in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to interest rate
risk through the impact of rate changes
on interest bearing assets and liabilities.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
In the opinion of directors, the expected
change in fair values as a results of
change in market interest rates will not be
significant, thus no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

4 7R AT ER R
RIS R T AR
SHAATEETS
R 2 B 7 25 2 1
e -

REEFBNEE L
HAREERBEN
¥ OB EE
% o A E N R T
B fE R A& E R
N ERE@RRE - E
EEBEHRN A TE
TEHEETA Bt
A4 2 5 GRE AT o
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BRREBRERE@
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BI¥EMEZE &)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) WmHEERE(E)
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate (i) BERERLFEF
risk (Continued) ZEb (E)
Cash and cash equivalents and borrowings RERBEFEMNU

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest-rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. Management monitors
interest rate fluctuations to ensure that
exposure to interest rate risk is within an
acceptable level and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should
the need arises.

The Group’'s cash flow interest rate
risk mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents and borrowings at floating
interest rates. As at 31 December 2023,
if interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$942,000 lower/higher
(2022: post-tax loss for the year would
have been approximately HK$856,000
lower/higher), mainly attributable to
the Group's exposure to interest rates
on its variable rate bank balances and
borrowings.

KL F MR BH
18 R A Sk B e e 3R
TR R

RE B B AT I
ERIOTER KA L+
MEmERE- - BEER
BRI B - FERAA
AR H)F R EREER
AEEKFER - A
RNBE®EEZ BT
E=

AEBHRE REF
ZEBEBERARS
LB EEYHEIER
FEAEGEME
e A2023F 12 A
318 - M F = EF
N R 50 {8 E 2
i P E A B 44
N BIREBEMF
EREIEERD,
0 47942,000 7% 7T
(2022%F - FEHi%&
BERIBRL S mn
856,000/ L £ &
RARAEERZ SR
1TH 85 K fia ZUA B A
KRR o
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R IR

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEBEBREEG
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BI¥EMEZE &)

(b) Credit risk (b)) EERE
(i) Risk management (i) EREE

In respect of cash and cash equivalents
and bank deposits with original maturity
over three months, the credit risk is
considered to be low as the counterparties
are reputable banks, with credit ratings
from AA2 to BAA3. The existing
counterparties do not have defaults in the
past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate
of cash and cash equivalents and bank
deposits with original maturity over three
months are assessed to be insignificant
and no provision was made as of 31
December 2023.

The Group, being a provider of medical
services to patients, has a highly diversified
client base, without any single client
contributing material revenue. Moreover,
some of the Group’s revenue is settled
by reputable commercial companies and
local government on behalf of patients.
The Group has controls to closely monitor
the patients’ billing and payment status
by communication with commercial
companies and local government to
minimise the credit risk.

PRZ B BB ={E
AHBEERE£SE
BEYMBEITERM
T OHRRZHEFAH
REBRIFWNIERT
EEFRBAAE
BAA3 : EH It {5 B &
BEE -BEXHH
FHBEWEELD -
At - REIEAA BB
“EANRE KA
L EYMIBITFERD
TEHz AR X
FEATER HE
2023412 A31 81
EELEE -

AEB TR BERYE
BERGOHERD
BEAREZTIENE
FE: - MBI E—
BEPERMEBEAMWE -
s - AEEEEE D
Yoas i BB R A VRS
FERA R TR
RBEHE - AKH
TEBEEE AR R
o 757 BRI & ) A R B
RBENRE R
B U EEER
W E R ©
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

B 7SR b BB ()
3.1 BI¥EMEZE &)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)) EERE (%)

124

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) SMEENBE
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified REBZRABEENE
approach to measuring expected credit HEREAFEIFE G
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss FiEstEEHERE

allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period
of 48 months before 31 December 2023
and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the gross domestic product and
inflation rate of the countries in which it
sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.

K HAAEESEW
AR HEYE
KB

R EFRHERE
K EHREWFHIEAED
RAREERRSR
RBHEDE -

TEHE A X ZIRE
2023412 A31 B Al
A8 1{E A B WA 88
B TR A R IE I
HMKER R RT
ERBXAFTERN - B
FEAECIERAE
R EZERFER
JFE WU IE BE I B R B
KOBER =AY E B R AT
EMER - AEEE
REEBEEEmER
TP Bl R 89 B A A
ERENMBEWIRE
ABEMEBEREE WK
R EZERENTE
HAg BB EL

The expected credit loss rates for trade FREZEWFIED
receivables and loss allowance provision FEHEEBEBXE L

recognised for these balances for the year
are considered as immaterial.

It K R FE R MY BT 1R
BERATEK-
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B 7SR b BB ()
3.1 BI¥EMEZE &)
(b)) EEEMRE(E)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) SRMEENREE)
(Continued)
Trade receivables are written off when B S ERGIBEES
there is no reasonable expectation of I3 8 HA UK [0 s i 8 o
recovery. Indicators that there is no mAEETEEKE R TR
reasonable expectation of recovery include, EaE(ETRMN)E

amongst others, the failure of a debtor
to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments.

For other financial assets at amortised

BARBEERAREERT
MR FKET 8l MR e IR
B -

FhIR SR AN FT E Y

cost, including deposits and other EmemEE (21
receivables, management considers that its e K&E fhE W ER
credit risk has not increased significantly FIME - EEEL
since initial recognition with reference to 2EZHHFNREL
the counterparty historical default rate BAERB AT B
and current financial position. The Group ﬁﬁ‘)ﬂ?é REHEE

measures credit risk using Probability
of Default ("PD"), Exposure at Default
("EAD") and Loss Given Default (“LGD").
The Group’s deposits and other receivables
are not credit-impaired and are classified
in “Stage 1". The impairment provision
is determined based on the 12-month
expected credit losses and no provision
was made as of 31 December 2023.

Impairment losses on other financial
assets at amortised cost are presented as
net impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

% B 1 2RI
I%K%%Mo$%
BERAENME (2
HWEER)  BHR R
(TELORR) MELD
E%KU&%E%
K)EEEERR
$%@Z&$&Hm
JEWGRIE Y EEE R
@ WHERIE—

FEE] - REERED
R 1218 A A 78 B
EEBEET  mi
£2023F12H31H
I AR -

TR IR AN G BR B
i & BR A E HY R (BB
BE2INRKEENBA
HURERRFE - &
1& 45 [ 5% A 2 3K A0
AT AR — #1518
=)
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(9]

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and bank balances,
the availability of funding from an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities from
leading banks and the ability to close out market
position.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of
sources including orderly realisation of short-
term financial assets, receivables and certain
assets that the Group considers appropriate
and long term financing including long-term
borrowings are also considered by the Group
in its capital structuring. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines
available and interest bearing borrowings which
enable the Group to continue its business for
the foreseeable future.

The table below analyses the financial liabilities
of the Group into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the date of
statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table were the contractual undiscounted cash
flows and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay. Balance within 12 months equal
their carrying balances as impact at discounting
is not significant.

3

B 7SR b BB ()
3.1 BI¥EMEZE &)
(c) FEMEE

FEENRDUERRERES
REAERTRRE MRTTHE
BHORITBRTEFSREH
MAEGRIEEREAERE
REZ ERMHFRN

3
BeE °©

AEBZEE-ZNTA (B
ERARERSEENR
ATEFEREHEME
E - BUBANETEE)
HERBES TRAKZE
EREHRE (BEEY
(B MARLBEREREA -
AEEEEEBRFTITRE
RITHES AR BB A
EERERFEER #
FESWEEE  UHERX
SERT R REERLE
E R

TROM AR EAR R A
BRRKRBHESQEM
HE s8R T HR 8D B8
AHBAERNNEREIE-
RPRBENSHE/ARER
BRREREMNAEHETA
BEWERNFOREE -
HRTEEELTEXN
A2 B A M ERF N E
BREAERR o
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HXERRERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEREBEEZE®)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) mEMEE (&)

Between Between Total
Within 1 1and2 2and5 Over  contractual Carrying
On demand year years years Syears  cash flows amount

ELEEY |

-Fh -ERF WERF  BEEF 8 &if
WSO HSO HSOU A0 HSOW A

As at 31 December 2023 RUBENENE

Trade payables SHEMTE - 54,916 - - - 54,916 54,916

Accuals and other payebles B ERRAL
i3 - 81518 291 58,657 - 143,096 134011

Amountsdue tonon-contolling.~ FE 3R IER
inerests b4 3331 - - - - 3331 3331

Loans from non-controling FERERET
Interests - 1760 - 13,800 - 21,560 141
Boronings 3t 1762 - - - - 1762 175
Lease s HEEE - 12174 91,557 132795 3905 380,001 3985

5093 265,938 94478 205,252 33,905 604,666 395,314

As at 31 December 2022 RUNENENA

Trade payables BHRATE - 45306 - - - 45306 15306

Accuals and other payebles EiERRAL
7B - 69,800 - - - 69,800 69,800

Amounts due tonon-controling B3R IER
interests EV 380 150,884 - - - 154,704 154,704

Lo from non-controling HhRERER
inferests - - 4319 18,119 - 4% 1215
Borrowings 3 3760 11,260 - - - 35,000 3257
Lease labiltes Eak - 130,765 894% 17043 58,231 148735 397,015

17580 408,015 93,815 188,362 58231 776,003 0.9
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash
and bank balances. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position, plus net debt, where applicable.

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio is not
applicable due to net cash position (2022: same).

Fair value estimation

The carrying values of the Group’s current financial
assets, including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties, bank
deposits with original maturity over three months and
cash and cash equivalents, and the Group’s current
financial liabilities, including trade payables, accruals
and other payables and amounts due to related
parties approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities.

3

B 7SR b BB ()
3.2 EXEMER

33

AEENEAERBERARE
AEBFERLENRD e
RICR R E M ) E R @ 3R

R RSERSEELRS
BIAPRE B AR o

REFIABELAERE K&
Bl eRHENTRROKE
TH - ARRBEEN  BITH
Bk th & & E VR A ER

MEMEEE K AEERE
EERBHLRERER - ZHE
TR ERFRRENERETH -
BB FRIIZERBFRER S
MIBRITHBAE - BEABETS
RiR A MISAR R PR [ #E 2
ERFE (ER) T HE -

MR2023F 12 A31H - BEAEE
LR AR FEAMD T TER
(20224 : #8[A) °

AFEE
rEERECREE (BRES
BB R A IR
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e RRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBERERERE@
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEMEF @)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial asset TREAEATVEMA®KER
at FVPL and FVOCI carried at fair value as at 31 EWAENERHAEBR
December 2023 and 2022 by level of the inputs to 2023%F K 2022F 12 31 Hi%
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such NEEARNEAFEG AR
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair wmRBRATFAEFAEMEER
value hierarchy as follows: ANEREEETIT % F

BWABERAFEERTS /W
T=EBR:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for . BREEXBENEFRT

identical assets or liabilities (level 1). HHRE CREFE) (F1
&) o

e Inputs other than quoted prices included e EBEHXBEAERE (AE
within level 1 that are observable for the asset &) sk (ANEERSEE)
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or BN AE (B 1RAE
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). FEHMERIN (E24) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based e EBENABBIWIFENAH
on observable market data (that is, unobservable ZMiGEENE AE (A
inputs) (level 3). TR EEBAE) (FE34) o
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A SRR
3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HHERKRERE®@
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEMGE (@)

As at 31 December 2023

R2023F12A318

Level 1
F14
HK$000
FET

Level 2
F2
HK$'000
FET

Level 3

F38

HK$°000

FET

Total

Ax
=)]

HK$'000
FAT

Financial assets at FVPL BLTERAERRN
— Listed equity investment - FkERE 11,748 - - 11,748
~ Contingent consideration — Y ARE
receivables - - 12,610 12,610

Financial assets at FVOC| BLTESARMEZR

WAKESREE
- Unlisted equity investment - LTRAKE - - 83,665 83,665
Total financial assets CRHEERE 11,748 = 96,275 108,023
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%512A31A8
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFAERZNS

MEE
— Listed equity investment - LmkERE 22,484 - - 22,484
Financial assets at FVOC| BAFEFAEMEE

WA ESHEE
- Unlisted equity investment —JEFMRARE - - 74,167 74,167
Total financial assets CREEARE 22,484 - 74,167 96,651

REZE2023F12A3181EF
[ ZEBH BT EERE (2022
F 48R -

There were no transfers between levels during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: same).
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the consolidated statement of financial
position date. A market is regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, price services or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

The following table presents the changes in level
3 financial instruments for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022:

R IR

3 HXERRERE®
3.3 AFEMGEF (&)

(a)

(b)

Unlisted equity
investment

F LR

FIREBT A
NERMZEEZ /T
B RNTFEDEREESH
BARAKBEZMIZHRE
STH WZBREANRTS K
TFHINMBRSAT L83
L TEEE - RER
BREERE MZSH
BRERERREHZEAF
RABETZMIER S @ %
MGAIR BER - KEE
BEZUBEEMERZ
MERELRITEAE -
ZETERFABZ IR

E3R2HT A
n—IEsk A FE K AE
WIER A EBRMIZEIE
ZTEBIGFAEIH -

TREVNEHZE2023F K
202212 A31HIEEE
EIRE T EMEL

Contingent
consideration
receivables
KE

HK$000
FET

IE®RE
HK$°000
FET

As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1H81H 52,575 -
Addition NE 7,830 -
Fair value changes credited to STAEM AL

other comprehensive income NEEED 13,762 -
As at 31 December 2022 M2022%F12831H 74,167 -
Addition NE 9,454 -
Fair value changes credited to FFAE M 2R AR

other comprehensive income NEEZS 44 =
Fair value changes credited to FFABRNATE

profit or loss o - 12,610
As at 31 December 2023 720236 12A31H 83,665 12,610
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)
For the financial assets at FVOCI, the Group
estimates the fair value based on the latest unit
selling price of the financial assets on an arm’s
length basis. As at 31 December 2023, if latest
unit selling price had been increased/decreased,
the fair value of financial assets would have
been increased/decreased.

For the financial assets at FVPL at level 3, the
Group estimates the fair value based on the
discounted cash flow approach. As at 31
December 2023, if discount rates had been
increased/decreased, the fair value of financial
assets would have been increased/decreased.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

3

B 7SR b BB ()
3.3 AFEMGEF (&)

(b)) FE3IRLHTA(E)
MBEAFEFAEMBE2E
WARESREEmS * &
EEREBEEMEELEATF
EM NS MEMHEERE
st R F(E - 20234
128318 WEHENLE
B, L Bl A
ERNAFESEMN R -

MEBEZ RN FET AR
mZEBMEEMS A%
BEIREIR & REIIREGE
S AF(E - 42023F 12 A
318 - fWITREE IR
Lo ERMEENRAFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in HK and
Mainland China. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are some transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated taxes based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due.

Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences would impact the current
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Estimation of the fair value of financial
instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement
to select a variety of methods and make assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the table
in Note 3.

R IR
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(a)

(b)

(9]

FRiGH RIRIE Fr 55
AEERBMNEBERTEAM
i -BEMBSREBEAE
HEXHE RAEXKBRE
FREETREBEERKHEADN
RGRAE -AEEREBEER
SRR A ' B B fhEt
EREHNEAE -

HWxEFENRERBERE
MNFRENTBETIR BEE
KT EFELET MBI HHR
T/ SRR TR E B o

M - BE KRB E A
£

AEBEEEETEME K
FREENEEAERF R
HEFEER - ZESDRE
BEMEBEERDENDE
B 55 Ko 3% s 1) B IR R] 5 R 6
e - AT B8 A il Bl K 8 5
HFRBBRITEAHRNTEH
MmEEERNEL - WA EAF
HI DR ERfhat W B8
EXRemEER  HHME
MUK E mEE S E B RIME
ek ERMEIENEE -

THMITAENAFEME

YN ERTHEEENERT
EMRAFEDNERGBERNE
EoAEEEREHFEAERE
ZRTEAFHRER  MxE
HERBREIEERERE B
ROTR - EAHERRE
KB AERNFBERMEINERR
Bz -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 ¢ —E-_=HF%#




134

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets
with indefinite useful life, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group tests whether goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life have suffered any
impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on
the higher of value-in-use or fair value less costs of
disposal.

The calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgment is required in the
area of asset impairment particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying amount of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value-in-use which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
gross margin percentage, annual revenue growth
rates, terminal growth rates and the discount rates
used in the cash flow projections, could affect the net
present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s financial position and results
of operations.

4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WHEkoIPER

(a) Revenue (a) W=

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Provision of ophthalmic services e AR B R 1,266,248 1,074,301
Provision of dental services RHFE RS 428,098 163,853
Provision of other medical services TR H fth B R AR 7S 47,580 34,426
Sales of vision aid products HER NWEEM 162,605 160,981
Sales of medical consumables HEBEEREM 19,433 298,342
1,923,964 1,731,903
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the timing BHZE2023F12A31HIEFE
of revenue recognition was mainly at a point in time. Wz R = 2 a0 & [
i Eﬁ °
(b) Liabilities related to contract with customers (b) HEEFEHNEBNERE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities REECERUTEHERELD
related to contracts with customers: E@AmMasE:

As at 31 December

R12A318
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
Contract liabilities — advanced BHBE-BREPH
payments received from clients TET RI8 54,189 39,490
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 BHZE2023F12A31HIEFE
December 2023 that was included in the contract FAFUEHNEBBEEHRHDE
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year AU 25 4 539,490,000 78 7T
amounted to approximately HK$39,490,000 (2022: (20224 : 10,728,000 7T)

HK$10,728,000).

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 ¢ —E-_= &




136

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

5

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEEZERER AT

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(0

Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to making strategic
decisions. The chief operating decision-maker is
identified as the executive directors of the Company.
The executive directors consider the business from
a client perspective and assess the performance of
the operating segments based on segment revenue
and segment results for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as the consolidated
financial statements.

The reportable segment of the Group is a component
that is engaged either in providing a particular type
of service or goods, or in providing services or goods
within a particular geographical region.

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the
performance of the Group by reviewing the results
of four reportable segments, namely HK medical
business, sales of medical consumables, Mainland
China ophthalmic business and Mainland China dental
business as follows:

(i) HK medical business — provision of ophthalmic,
dental and other medical services and sales of
vision aid products in Hong Kong

(i) Sales of medical consumables — sales of medical
consumables in Hong Kong

(i) Mainland China ophthalmic business — provision
of ophthalmic services and sales of vision aid
products in Mainland China

(iv)  Mainland China dental business — provision of
dental services in Mainland China

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(0

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information (Continued)

Other income, other losses, net, finance income/
(costs), net and income tax expense are not included

in segment results.

The segment results for the year ended 31 December

2023 are as follows:

R IR

5 WHEkoIBER @)

() 7ZEER ()
HEiUg A ~ EfibEEF5 - B
WA (R A) 5 58 K Fr 15 7 B9
T AARFFADELELE -

HZE2023F12A31BLEFER
DESEBEIIAT

Year ended 31 December 2023

HEABFNANALEFE
Mainland
Sales of China Mainland
HK medical medical  ophthalmic China dental
business consumables business business Total
ERER  HEER AR AR
£ b9 £% % £t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FEx
Segment revenue DEWE 932,087 19,433 587,710 384,734 1,923,964
Gross profit = 251,248 8,129 207,510 152,075 618,962
Selling expenses HERX (18,137) - (108,634) (21,031)  (147,802)
Administrative expenses THEX (123,885) (432) (182,957) (47,654) (354,928)
Share of profit of associatesand ~ A{EEE DA RA%E
joint venture TR 3,164 - - - 3,164
Segment results DEER 112,390 1,697 (84,081) 83,390 119,396
Other income ECON 8,413
Other losses, net HLEEFE (5,308)
Finance income FBBA 19,890
Finance costs FBRA (18,122)
Profit before income tax BT A 124,269
Income tax expense FrERAx (37,934)
Profit for the year ERFE 86,335
Other segment information ~ E 12 H&H
Additions to non-current assets  AEFETRBEE 80,543 - 115,950 27,698 224,191
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #78 & & (76,979) (428)  (115381) (28202) (220,990
(Losses)/gains on early termination 123148 14189 (B518) /
of lease g (1,620) - pLyj - (1373)
Losses on disposal of property, &N - BEREZED
plant and equipment, net BiEFE (18) - (91) (12) (121)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 ¢ —E-_=HF%#

137




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BImRMEE
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WaEkoBMER @)
(Continued)
(c) Segment information (Continued) () 2HBER )
The segment results for the year ended 31 December HZE2022F12 A31HIEFED
2022 are as follows: DEEEHYIWT

Year ended 31 December 2022

HE2NFNANBLEE
Mainland
Sales of China Mainland
HK medical medical  ophthalmic  China dental
business  consumables business business Total
BEREE HEER it R A R
#% =20} #% #% A
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FE FET FET FET 7
Segment revenue HEE 805,656 298,342 502,943 124,962 1,731,903
Gross profit el 187,122 108,902 139,457 12,216 447,697
Selling expenses HERX (15321) (142) (91,102) (20209)  (126,774)
Administrative expenses THRE% (128,526) (901) (187,131) (28,789) (345,347)
Share of profit of associates PERE A FFE 37,799 - - - 37,799
Segment results PHEE 81,074 107,859 (138,776) (36,782) 13375
Other income EflA 28,654
Other losses, net EhBREa (40,712)
Finance income 0N 7112
Finance costs BBRA (19,656)
Loss before income tax BEGHAEE (11,227)
Income tax expense FERAY (34,998)
Loss for the year FERNEE (46,225)
Other segment information ~ E#12 &R
Additions to non-current assets ~ REFERIEE 63,858 1,785 177,921 1,245 244,809
Depreciation and amortisation FTEREHE (72,585) (214) (126,092) (25,143) (224,034)
(Losses)/gains on disposal of HENE  BERREN
property, plant and (BR)/haF8
equipment, net (5) - (439) 19 (425)
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(0

(d)

Segment information (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the total non-financial
non-current assets including property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets located in Hong Kong and
Mainland China are approximately HK$273,663,000
and HK$1,533,683,000 respectively (2022:
HK$279,366,000 and HK$1,612,706,000).

No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is
presented as they are not regularly provided to the
executive directors.

There was no single external client which contributed
more than 10% to the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: same).

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contracts and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WHEEkosHBER @
(Continued)
(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (d) WEBERNEETEER @)
(Continued)

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or services.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple elements, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on availability of observable
information.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a contract asset
or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s
payment.

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

The Group’s revenue is primarily derived from
providing medical services and sales of vision aid
products and medical consumables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

()

(i)

(iii)

Provision of ophthalmic services

The Group provides a range of ophthalmic
care, diagnostic, medical and surgical treatment
services at the eye centres, clinics and hospitals.
Revenue from ophthalmic services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the related
services are rendered.

Provision of dental and other medical
services

The Group provides a range of dental and other
medical services (oncology, family medicine
and medical aesthetic), diagnostic, surgical
treatment services at the medical centres, clinics
and hospitals. Revenue from dental and other
medical services is recognised in the accounting
period in which the related services are
rendered.

Sales of vision aid products and medical
consumables

Revenue from sales of vision aid products and
medical consumables is recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the
products are despatched to the client and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
client’s acceptance of the products.
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e IR

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HlwA

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Management fee income BERBRA 3,233 18,884
Rental income He A 770 352
Government grants (Note (i) AT w8 B (B & G)) 3,391 8,792
Others Hth 1,019 626
8,413 28,654
Note: P 55
(i) There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies () VWEEBZSEMEORBITEMER
attaching to these grants. The Group did not benefit directly HMSRABER AEEAEEET
from any other forms of government assistance. BREMEMEANBAER
7 OTHER LOSSES, NET 7 HtEBEFE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Gains on fair value change of contingent ~ EU AR B A FEEZH)

consideration receivables (Note 20(i)) U 2= (B =E 200)) (12,610) -
Losses on disposal of property, plantand ~ HE&E#% - BE L& HEL
equipment, net B 1858 121 425
Losses on early termination of lease RARIEFRA M EE 1,373 -
Losses on financial assets at FVPL (Note 23) & AFEF A S &l
BENERE (M:E23) 10,736 33,220
Losses on write-off of non-current assets s IE R ENE EH E1E 2,504 -
Losses on write-off of trade receivables MEEE 5 W IBER E 1R 137 7
Exchange losses, net PE X B8 558 3,047 7,060
5,308 40,712
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R IR

8 EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 BMEEIMNER

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2023

2023 F
HK$’000
F T

2022
20224
HK$000
FAET

Amortisation of intangible assets | & E#E

(Note 16) (Mi3E16) 1,537 1,428
Auditor’s remuneration 1% BX AT 357 B

— Audit services —E R 2,330 2,280

— Non-audit services —JEEF R 158 136
Depreciation of property, plant and Wz BEREETE

equipment (Note 13) (fFzE13) 77,637 86,274
Depreciation of investment properties BEMEE

(Note 15) (M$3E15) 335 353
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREENE

(Note 14) (M$5E14) 141,481 135,979
Doctors’ consultation fees Biye 400,902 342,978
Cost of inventories and consumables sold 7 & & & & #4715k A&

(Note 17) (Mt5E17) 395,133 504,901
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) BE®FRAZ () 526,996 446,959
Short-term lease expenses (Note 14) REHRER Y (ME14) 4,563 3,327
Legal and professional fees FRERBEER 5,075 7,769
Share-based payment expenses to M) &8 A % B S A A AR 47

doctors and consultants BERHNHRFAEZ 114 985
Promotion expenses SEMX 145,610 125,646
Bank service charges RITREE A 13,497 11,711
Repair and maintenance fees HERREEH 13,693 12,813
Others EHfth 78,671 72,788
Total cost of revenue, selling and HEKA - I8 RITHK

administrative expenses g 1,807,732 1,756,327
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)

BERAAX (BEESHE)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances T & - #< -« /4T K 28, 490,048 411,136
Retirement benefit costs — defined RORREF K AR — FE B
contribution schemes (Note (i) &I (HEEG)) 29,555 28,511
Staff welfare and benefits B TRMN &Mz 7,234 6,964
Share option expenses to employees and £ 8 N & BB ER
directors 159 348
526,996 446,959
Note: D

(i) Retirement benefit costs — defined contribution schemes

The Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
Mainland China government. The Group contributes a certain
percentage of the salaries of the subsidiaries’ employees, and
has no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions
or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.
The state-managed retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group’s
and the employees’ contributions were subject to a cap
of HK$1,500 per month, and thereafter contributions are
voluntary.
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mEMBHRERMEE
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 EEFANFX(BEESEHMS)
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (&)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's (a) EERTHARMS
emoluments
The remunerations of each director and the Chief AEBRESERITHABHRE
Executive Officer of the Group for the year ended 31 E2023F 12 A31 B IEFERFH
December 2023 are set out below: B E 5T

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Group, the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
PHEES (FRRARE ARAZENEAANES) WAL
RUNBEMXAIENZALHNE
Employer's
contribution

toa

Allowances  retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit  Share-based
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme  payment
CELE
RER  RAHE BHA
fi¢ e BERA  RDBEY  RHOUR  ERBAR aif
HKS000  HKSODD  HKSO00  HKSUOD  HKSOOD  HKSUOO  HKSUOD
FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr

Year ended 31 December 2023 HEBE128318

LLEE
Erecutive dlrectors HEE
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis WERZE (eSS
(“Dr. Dennis LAM" §))(ReR)
(Chief Bxecutive Offcer) (Note (i) (M) 10 5,760 - - 18 - 6,018
Ms. L Xiaoting (‘M. LI") (Note i)~ ZHELL([Z%t))
(i3 ) - 3,000 - 7% 18 - 381
Mr. Ll Chunshan (Note i) and ()~ &5t (B )
R ) - 238 - - - - 238
Dr.LEE Yau Wing Vincent (Note (i)~ S 5E4 (H &(ii) 20 - - - - - 240

Inceoendent non-executie diecors BT HH{TEE

Dr. IKwok Tung Donald (Note (1))~ ZERE (13 () 100 - - - - - 100
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung SREfE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong (Note () RERAE (k) 100 - - - - - 100
Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang (Note (v) 2R &L (s () 100 - - - - - 100
Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-Kuen BRnEST 600 - - - - 159 759
Mr. 1P Shu Kwan Stephen ERELE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. YINKe (Note () Ras (M) 120 - - - - - 120

1980 8,998 - 7% 3% 159 11,966
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e BImRMEE
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 EEFANFX(BEESEHMS)
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (&)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's (a) EERTHARZMES &)
emoluments (Continued)
The remunerations of each director and the Chief AEBRESERITHABHRE
Executive Officer of the Group for the year ended 31 E2022F 12 A31 B IEFERFH
December 2022 are set out below: B E 5T

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Group, the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
i 4

T
contribution
foa
Allowances ~ retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit  Share-based
Fegs Salaries bonuses in kind scheme payment

%ﬁﬁ iﬁi i A X E ) WWB m Ela-
H$000 HS 000 HKS 000 HS 000 HK$ 000 H$000

Year ended 31 December 2022 SEYESVERL:

LLEE
Erecutive dlrectors H7EE
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis WERZE (eSS
(“Dr. Dennis LAM" §))(ReR)
(Chief Executive Offcer) (Note ) (W3 0 5760 - - 18 - 6018
Ms. L Xiaoting (‘M. LI") (Note i)~ ZHELL([Z%t))
(P (i) - 3,000 - 716 18 - 3,19
Mr. Ll Chunshan (Note i) and ()~ &5t (B )
R(w) - 19 - - - - 49
Dr. LEF Yau Wing Vincent (Note (i)~ ZA%B4 (Fii) 10 - - - - 8 36

Indeoendent non-executie diectors BT HHTEE

Dr. IKwok Tung Donald (Note (1))~ ZEREE (13 () 0 - - - - - U0
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung SREfE 0 - - - - - 20
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong (Note () RERAE (k) 0 - - - - - 0
Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang (Note (v) 2R &L (s () 0 - - - - - U0
Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-Kuen BRnEST 600 - - - - 347 o7
r.IP Shu Kwan Stephen ERELE 0 - - - - - U0

2080 9252 - 776 3 13 nIm
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N R
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 REERIAX (BREZM)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (8&)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's () EESRTHEARZMS (&)
emoluments (Continued)

Notes: B 5T -

()  The remuneration of Dr. Dennis LAM shown in the (i) = BRI AR JIE B B A D 3 BN
tables represent remuneration received and receivable EHERE 22023412 A 31
from the Group by him in his capacities as a director ALtFEERARAESZR
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and THBH AR AN E B REE
an ophthalmologist to the Group during the year A B IR FE W AR & B A B
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: same). (20224 : MHRA) °

(i) The remunerations of Ms. LI and Mr. LI Chunshan iy KHFFNFTZTRERFFLE
shown in the tables represent remuneration received A ) BB 9 18 S R E 22023
and receivable from the Group by them in their FNRANBLEFEERAR
capacities as directors of the Company to the Group AEFEREEREAEERD
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: N (2022 4F - 48R ©
same).

(i) The remunerations of Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent (i) ZHEEEMEHNERIERSAN
represent remunerations received and receivable AAIEFE W RERASE
from the Group by him in his capacity as a director of B 3B - AL Z=2023F 12 A
the Company. During the year ended 31 December BMTHIEFE  FHEBEIR
2023, Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent received doctors’ M E H£ 22 7% 36,944,000
consultation fees of approximately HK$36,944,000 77T (20224 : 29,738,000/
(2022: HK$29,738,000). JL) °

(iv)  Mr. LI Chunshan stepped down as an executive (iv) ZFHFLEAENR2023F7H3H
director on 3 July 2023 and Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald, BRERTEET MEHRE
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong and Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang E BREREERRLZ LT
retired by rotation as independent non-executive MR2023F 5300 2 RFEE
directors and did not offer themselves for re-election FRE LWEREE LI
at the annual general meeting on 30 May 2023. The TEF BREEEET - R
Group confirmed that there were no disagreements EE®R - FEILEE  FH
among Mr. LI Chunshan, Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald, REE REZEERRZI
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong and Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang RtHEZE HATEER
and the Board of Directors and nothing relating to the A MEERBREARRFE
affairs of the Company needed to be brought to the B2EEERBARARRE
attention to the shareholders of the Company. B

(v)  Mr. YIN Ke was appointed as an independent non- (v) BRAIEAHER2023F7A3HE
executive director on 3 July 2023. ZARBYIEHITES o
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A SRR
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 EERIFEZ(BEEEMS)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (&)

(a) EERITHRARME (@)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's

148

emoluments (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
aggregate amounts of remuneration including fees,
salaries, discretionary bonuses, allowances and benefits
in kind, employer’s contribution to a retirement
benefit scheme, share-based payment and doctors’
consultation fees which were paid by the Group to the
directors were approximately HK$48,910,000 (2022:
HK$42,515,000).

No remunerations are paid or receivables in respect of
accepting office as director during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

No emoluments are paid or receivable in respect
of directors’ other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

No directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no
retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of
termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any
payable (2022: Nil). No consideration was provided
to or receivable by third parties for making available
directors’ services (2022: Nil).

There is no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled
body corporates and connected entities of such
directors during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEEZERER AT

PEZE2023F12A831H IEF
B AEERES A
wE(piEee  Fe BIBTE
A ZBREWRERA - BERR
PR A& FI 5T 8 7B H A 30 - DARR
MAEERONRUAREEZ )
A4948,910,0007% 7T (2022 4F -
42,515,000 7C) °

RE E2023F12 A31 B IEHF
B - HMESEEMNEETHEM
sk IR A B (2022 4F « 4E) -
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B HMESEREXREMNE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's
emoluments (Continued)

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest amongst the directors and employees in the
Group include three (2022: three) directors, Dr. LEE
Yau Wing Vincent, Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI (2022:
same), whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above for the year ended 31 December
2023. The emoluments payable to the remaining
two (2022: two) individuals for the year ended 31
December 2023 are as follows:

R IR

9 EERIMX(BREEH)

(&)

(a)

(b)

EERTHRARME (50

REZE2023F12 A31HIEE R
HFEEANEMEHE RNQF
HARSETAEAEBERA
BHNEARS  THEREH 8
ARG EREHFEENEE
BHEKRF S o (2022F 1 )

TEBREHFMAL

REE2023F12 831 HIEF
E AEEEEFKEEFRHNR
ZEEHMALBEIE=4 (2022
F:=ZR)EZ(ZHEE
MNEEAES A e 222 40) (2022 4F -
R - WENH N RBE EX
ETH DT c RELE 20235 12
ANMBIEFE ENBRTMA
(20224 : M%) AT B EHE
T

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022

2022 £
HK$'000

T

2023 &
HK$’000
FET

Wages, salaries, and allowances TIE& - 54 &2 4,061 3,932
Bonuses TE4L 674 600
Pension costs BIRE AR 36 36

4,771 4,568
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e MR RME
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 REEGAFEX(BRESHD)
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (5&)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEESHMAL(E)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: HENELTEHER

Number of individuals
AE
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31B8LEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Emolument bands HENEE
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £ 2,500,000 7% 7T 1 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 & 7T £ 3,000,000 7% 7T 1 -
2 2
10 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS), NET 10 BHFEUWR A (RA) B8

Year ended 31 December

BZE12831BLEE

2023 2022
PIPEE:S 2022 %
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Finance income B A
Bank interestincome BOMBEA 19890 ... 7112
Finance costs B 75 B A
Interest expense on leases (Note 14) HEMBREEZ (KT 14) (16,712) (18,470)
Interest expense on loan from IR @ B REI AR
non-controlling interests (Note 40) F 5z (B 5 40) (396) (417)
Interest expense on bank loans RITEFMEMAZ (303) (769)
Interest expense on consideration payable & & &N EEANAE
for investment in a joint venture B F B 7 2 (210) -
Imputed interest expense on consideration 1% & XA LM EEMNRE
payable for investment in a joint venture  fHEF S (501) -
__________________________________________________________________________________ (18,122)  (19,656)
Finance income/(costs), net B (BRA) F58 1,768 (12,544)
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e BmRMETE
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FBEHAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of HZE2023F12A31BIEFE - &
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits 7B 1S B BEfh AF E SR B R B R
for the year ended 31 December 2023. 16.5% (2022 4F : 16.5%) T2 B 4% -
The applicable tax rate for the subsidiaries in Mainland HE2023F12A31HLEFE A%
China of the Group was 25% (2022: 25%) for the year FREANMHBARMBERMEA
ended 31 December 2023. 25% (20224 : 25%) ©
Under the Corporate Income Tax Law, withholding income BBECERERE  ERBEAMEZT
tax of 5% shall be levied on the dividends remitted by B QARG B EARTEE B MR LA
the companies established in the Mainland China to their SNEIIR B & - B E B S % B TR IR P
foreign investors incorporated in Hong Kong. All dividends 1350 o PTB SRR B A A R TS
coming from the profits generated by the Mainland China IR B BB TETEIR PTG HR ©
companies shall be subject to this withholding income tax.
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated B 2HBRARNBHTIESEA

statement of comprehensive income represents:

Year ended 31 December
BZEZ12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Current income tax BERFT 15 4

— Hong Kong profits tax —BBFEH 23,180 28,688
— China enterprise income tax —F P EMEH 16,979 3,091

(Over)/under-provision in prior years BAEFE (BEREE)
BEr 2 (2,328) 11
Deferred income tax (Note 29) EIEFTEF (M 5E29) 103 3,208
Income tax expense TSR 2 37,934 34,998
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e IR

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The taxation on the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax AREBERAEHATFE (B O
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using EEFEAEANEE RN E N
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the TR EFESEINEREENER
Group companies as follows: mr

11 FEFHEX®

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILLEE

152

2023

2023 F
HK$°000
TET

2022
20224
HK$000
FETT

Profit/(loss) before income tax BETSREATRIE, (E8E) 124,269 (11,227)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate RERANS AR
applicable to profit/(loss) in respective B (BE)BE
jurisdictions METHEOTIA 19,154 (18,209)
Tax effects of: Ty EENRETE
Income not subject to tax REHUA (3,781) (7,829)
Expenses not deductible for taxation AT IR A 32
purpose 5,473 9,168
Tax losses for which no deferred income i # FE R IR IE FT1S R
tax assets was recognised BEENTIEES 35,132 54,820
Withholding tax on royalty income EH B A TEN 781 800
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (BREEE)
BETR (2,328) 11
Recognition of previously unrecognised ~ F&#2 5 B R HE SR £
tax losses IR 1B (227) (206)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised E) A S BT AR FE R A
tax losses TRIAEE (18,650) (2,635)
Reversal of previously recognised tax SRR HIBER
losses & E 2,545 -
Tax concession HIAER (165) (922)
Income tax expense FriS i = 37,934 34,998
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12 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
(a) Basic

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing
the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of
the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue.

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity
holders of the Company during

R IR

12 SREF(E])
(@) B
SREKAF (BR)BAA
Al A AR FIE (518)
M DA B 1T R AR 0 T 4 B
iHE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &

FARRAERFEE A
FEEFE, (B1R)

the year (HK$'000) (F#&mL) 61,998 (21,875)
Weighted average number of BT E AR

ordinary shares in issue 9 1,255,517,328  1,233,126,103
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREARAF,(FE)

(HK cents) GEALD 4.94 (1.77)

The earnings/(loss) per share as presented above
is calculated using the weighted average number
of 1,255,517,328 (2022: 1,233,126,103) ordinary
shares deemed to be in issue for the year ended 31
December 2023.

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group had no dilutive potential
ordinary shares (2022: same).

RV ERAER, (BE) T
WEZE2023F12A31BIEEE
RIEE 377/ 1,255,517,328 I
(20224 :1,233,126,103 %) &
B INEFEHHTE -

(b) #8
SREFERF (BB HR&
DM aEREE 1ML A
B - Wimim AR BEITEINGE
MR NEFIEETAHE -
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE -
AEEBVELBEENNEE
B% (2022 4 : AR -
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e IR

12 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, 200,000 post-IPO share
options (2022: 4,195,000 post-IPO share options)
outstanding are not included in the calculation of
diluted earnings (2022: loss) per share because they
are antidilutive for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity
holders of the Company during

FAXRAERFEE A
FEEFIE, (EE)

12 BRERN(EFE) @

(b) #E ()

® 2023412 A31H * 200,000
MEATENERAREER
B JE4E (2022 4F : 4,195,00017
BRAMEERBERE) RFTE
BREBEAF (20224 : FE)
B ES A W IHREZERE
fX R E ZE 2023412 A31 B 1k
FEARBEER -

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2023
2023 &

2022
2022 €

the year (HK3$'000) (F&1r) 61,998 (21,875)
Weighted average number of ARETESREESAT,

ordinary shares for diluted earnings/ (518 #9338 J% hn e

(loss) per share I 1,255,517,328  1,233,126,103
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share SR#ERF, (BEB)

(HK cents) (GEAl) 4.94 (1.77)
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R IR

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13 % BERRE

Office
Medical Leasehold  furniture and Computer Motor  Construction
Building equipment  improvements fixtures equipment vehicles in progress
BOBER
BRRE HENRES BEkE EERE hE ERIR
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 Hk$000
At 1 January 2022 RUNE1R1R
Cost s 19,751 300,631 169,002 15,691 15,177 6,224 78% 534,374
Accumulated deprecation & - (10211) (99,79 (10,024) (9,166) 3214 - (232413
Net book amount EasE 19751 190,420 69,204 5,667 6011 3010 78% 301,96
Year ended 31 December ~ EZ2022E128318
2022 LEE
Opening net book amount ~~ EANEAFE 19,751 190,420 69,204 5,667 6,011 3010 78% 301,961
Additions AE 14 28,965 16,649 1382 2801 997 34,606 85414
Additions through FAUENBRA

acquison of subsidiaris  RE (3£ 38)

(Note 38) 74,953 149712 17,25 38% 1,561 2363 4874 119,875
Transfer 4 - - 19,697 - - - (19697) -
Disposals ik - (622) - ) (37 (995) - (1,681)
Depreciaton (Note ) & () [73) (36,087) (36,785) 3921) 3,133 (1615) - (86274
Currency tranglation fEEEEE

differences (6,125) (13,842) (4724 (224) (445) (280) (1322 (26,962)
Closing net book amount EXEEEE 83860 183,806 81,297 6,113 6,758 3480 26,359 392,333

At 31 December 2022 RANENANA
Cost WA 88439 398,385 235,85 37,585 1,41 9,648 26,359 817,51
Accumieted depecain 23147 U519 Qusy (1) 30812 (1448 (6169 - s
Net book amount REHE 83,860 183,806 81,297 6,173 6,758 3480 26,359 392,333
Year ended 31 December ~ EZ 20235127318
023 LEE
Opening net book amount ~~ EAVEEFE 83,860 183,806 81297 6,173 6,758 3480 26,359 392,333
Additions HE - 39,559 6,676 1,082 1,305 )Lt} 63,433 112,758
Transfer & - - 14,519 - - - (14519 -
Disposals L& © (14313) (1) (24) (111) (17) - (14,642)
Written-off fiise - - (1,783) (207) 1) = = (2,162)
Deprecition (Note 8) HE(His) (5,595) (35,020) (30,09) (3,009 (2,706) (1,209) - (77,631)
Currency translation NEHEES

differences (2,163) (8.275) (1,504) (59) (135) (15) (924) (9,135)

Closing net book amount EREEEE 76,102 169,757 69,130 4516 4,899 2,762 74,349 401,515
At 31 December 2023 RABE12A318

Cost s 86,083 407,057 29,102 37,588 20,983 9,536 74,349 884,698

Accumulated depreciation  ZE & (9.981) (237,300) (179.972) (33,072) (16,084) (6,774) - (483,183)

Net book amount EE3E 76,102 169,757 69,130 4,516 4,289 2,762 74,349 401515
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e IR

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation expense charged in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income is as follows:

13 Y% BERRE @

REEEE2ABRARMGRNITEERH
ZIgnR

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F T FET

Cost of revenue $HE A 55,201 56,349
Administrative expenses THRZ 22,436 29,925
77,637 86,274

Information on non-current assets pledged as security for
borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 36.

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings
Medical equipment
Leasehold improvements

20-40 years

3-10 years

Shorter of remaining
lease term or estimated
useful life of 5 years

Office furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 44.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within “other losses, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings under
construction and machineries and equipment under
installation, which is stated at historical cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction-in-progress until such
time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for
intended use. When the assets concerned are ready for use,
the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment
and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated
above.

13

R IR

ME - BERRE @
ME - BEERENTEINERE
FE LR TSR A ERFHAS
HERADEEEFSREE

gF 20E404F

BERE 32104

MEWERE S THEBNSFE
ET A A A HR (A
BEEAE)

PAFREREE 325F

AL

BIRE 3ESE

qE AFESE

BENFREENMATERAFHNER
SRR YRR (WMESR) -

WEENREEBBEGEFATRE S
B RAEENREESNRERER
AU [el 58 (P9 FE44.7) -

HEEENARBRAFHRBERR@E
ZEWERETE  YREEEZEKRA
RPN [ E MR F R | AR -

FrTiREIaRRnegy ke
LR SR RE R R
ERERERE (W) - B ER
TRRIFLRERE BEEZHBEEER
TRAREREREERESL - £
FAEE A EM - AR RIRIE £ XA
FRREEEYE BB RRELE
RITE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 ¢ —E-_=HF%#

157




158

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

14 LEASES 14

This note provides information for leases where the Group is
a lessee.

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows
the following balances relating to the leases:

HE

Ut B 52807105 BB 7 o L {E R AT A B
ST ENER -

() REFEMBRRRERN
T8

HAUBRARBRIATER
HEMAESR

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties ES 304,848 357,128
Land use right T R 286,419 305,761
Medical equipment BERE 34 2,419
591,301 665,308
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current L ED 107,196 115,078
Non-current ERE 232,657 281,937
339,853 397,015

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$111,062,000 (2022: HK$157,174,000) and there
were no additions of right-of-use assets through
acquisition of subsidiaries (2022: HK$82,555,000),
representing the lease of clinics, hospitals, office
premises, staff quarters and medical equipment.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

HZE2023F 12831 B IEFE -
FRAEEENEL 111,062,000
ot (20224 : 157,174,000
BIL) BEBRBKEWEQRR
EFTREEEART (20224 -
82,555,000/ 7T)  IEHEZFT
B -MAEYE - -BEIBEER
B -
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e RRME
14 LEASES (Continued) 14 HE®
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) REFEE2EBAREIZN

statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
shows the following amounts relating to the leases:

]

HEETEBRAXRBRATEAH
HERFA :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

Depreciation charge of right-of-use TRAEEENEEZR

assets (Note 8) (Mt5ES)

Expenses relating to short-term leases E2fZHAFAE A MM X
(Note 8) (f15E8)

Interest expense (Note 10) MEFI s (FiFEE10)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
141,481 135,979
4,563 3,327
16,712 18,470

Depreciation expense charged in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income is as follows:

RigazEBEAXRTROITE
BRI

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &

HK$°000 HK$000

F T FHET

Cost of revenue HER A 88,150 84,093
Administrative expenses THHRX 53,331 51,886
141,481 135,979

The total cash outflow for leases in the year ended
31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$152,583,000 (2022: HK$136,243,000).

HZE2023F12A831H 15
E-AENReRHBENE
152,583,000 Jr (2022 % :
136,243,000/87T) °
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e IR

14 LEASES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various properties including clinics,
hospitals, office premises, staff quarters and medical
equipment. The lease terms are between one to ten
years, but may have extension options as described
below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
must not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

14 #HE %)

(0 FAEENHEEFBRZEE
B 0] 51 B

AEEHEZRYE (BREDPT
B WMAEMEREIBS
kEE®RE) MENF—F=
TH A TXAALE -

FERR IR ER EEER
BESENRGREAEHE - K
HRABENHELEETE
RiEI  AE B I E KD
TERE -HEEETSHE
BEEENNERS -

AEENZEDEZHEDES
EE MR IR ERE - RFEE
BIANSAREMRESE R
AEEEBIREENRKER
BN TR AR DT R
RIDEZEETAASEMIE
MR HEATTRE -

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REY=E

2022 PAOPA
2022 & 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHEIT
At 1 January R1A1H 13,038 -

Additions through acquisition of FRWENBRABIAE
subsidiaries (Note 38) (Kt5E38) = 14,298
Depreciation (Note 8) e (M1:Es) (335) (353)
Currency translation differences SN =R (357) (907)
At 31 December M12HA31H 12,346 13,038

Depreciation expenses of HK$335,000 (2022: HK$353,000)
is included in the administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

335,000 B Lt EB A (2022F ¢
353,000 70) st AGRAE 2 E WA KD
THRY -
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e BmRMETE
16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 B|EEE
The net book value of the Group’s intangible assets is REERTEENRIFESTNAT :

analysed as follow:

Brand Others
Goodwill name (Note (i) Total
e mEERE  Hi () o
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 M2022%181A8
Cost % 194,970 - 14,300 209,270
Accumulated amortisation EHE: £ - - (5,309) (5,309)
194,970 - 8,991 203,961
Year ended 31 December 2022  EZ2022%12A31H
LEE
Opening net book amount FOREFE 194,970 - 8,991 203,961
Additions NE - - 2,221 2,221
Additions through acquisition of & BB A7)
subsidiaries (Note 38) AE (Fi17E38) 373,582 289,911 79 663,572
Amortisation (Note 8) B (EEs) - - (1,428) (1,428)
Currency translation differences NERE ETE (27,868) (18,398) (667) (46,933)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 540,684 271,513 9,19 821,393
At 31 December 2022 M20225 128318
Cost %S 540,684 271,513 15,571 827,768
Accumulated amortisation R E - - (6,375) (6,375)
540,684 271,513 9,196 821,393
Year ended 31 December 2023  #Z2023%F12A31H
LEE
Opening net book amount FNRAFE 540,684 271,513 9,196 821,393
Additions NE - - 371 371
Written-off ik - - (342) (342)
Amortisation (Note 8) B (H5Es) - - (1,537) (1,537)
Currency translation differences IEHEESR (10,258) (7,234) (209) (17,701)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 530,426 264,279 7,479 802,184
At 31 December 2023 RW2023F12A31H8
Cost X 7R 530,426 264,279 15,148 809,853
Accumulated amortisation R E - - (7,669) (7,669)
530,426 264,279 7,479 802,184
Note: ks
() Other intangible assets mainly represent computer software. () HEtEEEEXEEIHERMET-
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e IR

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16

Amortisation expense charged in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income is as follows:

IS o
5l

SR RERARMRNENERR
mT

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F T FET

Cost of revenue $HE A 804 885
Administrative expenses THRAZ 733 543
1,537 1,428

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life

Brand name is considered to have an indefinite
useful life and is not subject to amortisation. The
carrying value of brand name with indefinite useful
life at 31 December 2023 of HK$264,279,000
(2022: HK$271,513,000) has been attributed to
Shenzhen Aikangjian Group Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
CKJ Group”). Based on the long history of the brand,
the positive past financial information of the business
operating under the brand name and management’s
comprehensive understanding of the market,
management assessed that there is no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the brand name is
expected to generate net cash inflows for the Group.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

(a)

BB R ERM AT
BLEERNRERH

mEHRAEEEERBAIFA
FHI N B AR - 112023F 12
A318 ERBAFEAFHN
oo b % 78 19 BR T {8 264,279,000
7T (20224 :271,513,0007%8
T EFBRRYIMERESER
SEERAF ((FRINBERE
H]) - ERRENEERELE
B mBEETERENEBBE
RIFMBBERNRERES ™
SHARANRIE EREFH®
BFERAAREBEELARES R
SFREND N TE R A RER o
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R IR

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible (a)
assets with indefinite useful life (Continued)

A% ﬁ/ ﬁ E (#4&)

BB RERM AT
BREENBRENR (@)

AXBEHELNBEIRE
LAT%%%FE%L? (REEXE
B ) EITRERR

Goodwill arising from business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units
("CGUs") for impairment testing:

As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2023 2022

2022 FF

HK$ 000

FET

2023
HK$’000
FET

Kunming Eye Hospital E AR E

(“Kunming Hospital"”) (BB ]) 32,153 33,033
Shanghai Eye Hospital and clinics LERBERRZ M
(“Shanghai Group”) ([EE&E]) 66,005 67,812
Zhuhai Eye Hospital (“Zhuhai RGIREHE BT
Hospital”) ([BRSBR)) 11,982 12,310
C-MER Eye Centre (Melbourne Plaza) % 3G ERELAR 0 (B F517)
("Clinic in Central”) (THRIRZ ) 19,535 19,535
CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre ~ CAD/CAM Restorative
Limited (“Clinic in Causeway Bay”)  Dental Centre Limited
mm% 225 12,164 12,164
Champion Eye Centre Limited ERBHLERAF
("Champion Eye”) (FEEE&W) 35,619 35,619
The Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited 8 ¢RIz ER P LB R A A
("OPT") ([1R A EMERER A ) 20,521 20,521
Shenzhen CKJ Group AN B EREE 264,621 271,864
Other clinics ﬁm 2 P 67,826 67,826
530,426 540,684

An impairment review of the goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life arising from the
acquisition of the Group has been conducted by the
management as at each year end. For the purpose of
the impairment review, the recoverable amount of a
CGU is determined based on higher of the fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use calculations.
The value-in-use calculations use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
terminal growth rates.

EEEEEREFFEHEE
AEEMEEZEAERERY
AERFROELEEETR
ERFS - BUBEREMS RE
FiﬁﬁZTW@%ﬁﬁmﬁ
RFER &R AR ERBEE
AEMELERSEEE - EM
EBEFEDNEDREEEEL
EBEEDFHENPBEE
ERBARSRERBMEDL -
hFEMEZENREREMER
REPIB R R -
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life (Continued)

The following table sets out the key assumptions for
value-in-use calculations:

Zhuhai Clinic Kunming

Hospital I Hospital
EER RS A ERER
HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000

A1 71 A1

Compound revenue qrowth ~ SENEEA

for 5 years fBRE 200% 30% 180%
Teminalrevenue growth tes REMBERE 25% 25% 25%
Merageqrossproftmargn -~ SETHERE

Over 5 years 5% 206% 26.0%
Preax discount rates EESEES 16.5% 135% 165%

16

Shanghai
Group
Le%AE
HKS000
f&i

1%
25%

3.0%
170%

/\\\}F/ﬁg (#4&)
(a) FEBRERHMAUEAFHN
BREENRENR (&)

03

uBE
Clinicin
Causeway Bay
REEDA
HKS 000
TEi

30%
25%

45.0%
135%

TERIIEAEEHEMEE
B

Shenzhen CK)

Champion Eye 0PT Group  Other Clnics
BERN DxifmEnl PIEEREE LU
HKs 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS00

7 7 &1 AL

30% 10.9% 84%  30%-25.1%
25% 15% 25% 25%

15% 40.0% 400%  138%-36.8%
135% 13.5% 175% 135%

Tuhai Clinic Kunming

Hosp\ tal in Central Hosp\ aI

Compound revenue growth ~—~ SENEEA

for 5 years iRz B1% 30% 183%
Teminalrevenue growth ates REMBERE 30% 30% 30%
Mergeqrossproftmargn - SETHERE

Over 5 years 300% 500% 300%
Pre-tak discount ates HESES 135% 12.2% 135%

Shanghai
Group
;é%@
HK§'000
Thr

256%
30%

3.0%
150%

00
0%
Clinicin
(auseway Bay

HkS 000
TEn

2%
30%

50.0%
131%

Shenzhen CKJ
Champion Eye 4] Group  Other Clinics
: 5y RiEsd A
HKS ! HK$'000 HK$'000
TR AT ThR Thn

30% 46% 35%  24%-317%
30% 30% 30% 30%

120% 65.0% 400%  15.0%-50.0%
125% 124% 159%  113%-126%

Management determines growth rates of revenue
based on past performance and its expectations for
the market development. The discount rates used is
pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the CGUs.
The terminal growth rates applied beyond the budget
period is estimated based on current capacity of the
CGUs.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amounts
calculated based on value-in-use exceeded the carrying
values of the CGUs. No impairment of goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite useful life is
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

EEERBEERANAEHD
BERRNAMEE WaIERE -
PIRMAIRE R ATRE R R

RRERSESBUFBOE
ERR REEHEEBOR
HERXNBREBEREELEM
ERIEVRE S fhET -

B2023F12A31H  REFE
BEAEENTKE S EBL
ReELEUNEEE -BE
20234 12 A31 HIEFE I
REE R ERBAERF D
B EERNRIME (20224 « ) o
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BEEE @)
(b) Impact of possible changes in key (b) TEBRRTHESHNEE
assumptions
The recoverable amount of each of the CGUs are 20234 K% 2022412 8318 -
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGUs ZFHReELEEMN KB SR
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 as follows: B HEARSELBNU LKA
BT :

03
W%
Thuhai Clinic Kunming Shanghai Clinicin

Shenzhen CKJ

Hospital in Central Hospital Group  CausewayBay ~ Champion Eye 0pT Group  Other Clinics
KERE  WRYE  BEER  LERE  BEEDF  BERN RAGEEOL MIRRRER  EfDR
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 00 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000
7 72 743 73 77 72 74 73 77

Recorerale amount ThoeE 61,335 26,905 9w 134613 B 120630 81,469 M0 4193-201577
Headroom #E 18,724 6,101 39210 15,187 031 66,600 51 127,611 1,047-157,135
0
plik3
Zhuhal Clinic Kunming Shanghal Clinicin Shenzhen CKJ
Hosp\ ta in Central Hospital Group wayBay  Champion Eye Gmup Other Clinics
HK$ 000 ! HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 ! HK$'000
Thn BT AT ThR T BT AT Thn
Recoverable amount ThE4E 144 39,249 114509 108,076 48239 1210 57,621 1405 521-67501
Headroom £ 14942 19,108 64,919 16,249 34,568 65,770 31813 188309 3174-24833

The recoverable amount of Zhuhai Hospital, Kunming 14 8 ﬁJEj R A LA T &
Hospital, Shanghai Group and Shenzhen CKJ CGU i - B egE FEEERE
would be lower than their carrying amounts if the key ﬂllxﬁﬁiE§F E=X Aol
assumptions were to change as follows: Hﬁz@ SHEBENERERE :

compound revenue annual growth rates by
more than 2.6%, a decrease in terminal growth
rates by more than 8.2% or an increase in
pre-tax discount rates by more than 4.7%, all
changes taken in isolation.

For the Kunming Hospital CGU, a decrease in
compound revenue annual growth rates by
more than 4.1%, a decrease in terminal growth
rates by more than 10.8% or an increase in
pre-tax discount rates by more than 6.7%, all
changes taken in isolation.

o For the Zhuhai Hospital CGU, a decrease in o

MHKEBRIBESELEMN
ms ' BEWAFIEREK
TREHBIE2.6% @ REIE R
R & B8 8.2 % 8 A A B
REFABELT%  FTE
BUHBEBEE -

E‘fj:bﬁﬂ EPRIR S EAE BN
TEEBAFIERR
—Fﬁéf@%@élﬂ% CREfE R
TN EEE#810.8% 2k Bt Al
BRIRE FFHEIE6.7% * FT
BEHERERE -
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b)

(o)

Impact of possible changes in key
assumptions (Continued)

For the Shanghai Group CGU, a decrease in
compound revenue growth rates by more than
1.3%, a decrease in terminal revenue growth
rates by more than 1.8% or an increase in
pre-tax discount rates by more than 1.3%, all
changes taken in isolation.

For the Shenzhen CKJ Group CGU, a decrease
in compound revenue growth rates by more
than 2.5%, a decrease in terminal revenue
growth rates by more than 4.3% or an increase
in pre-tax discount rates by more than 2.5%, all
changes taken in isolation.

For the remaining CGUs, management had not
identified any reasonably possible change in key
assumptions that could cause carrying amounts of
the above CGUs (or groups of CGUs) to exceed the
recoverable amounts.

Accounting policies of intangible assets

()

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. Goodwill is
not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs for the purpose
of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected
to benefit from the business combination in
which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of
units are identified at the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes, being the operating segments.

16 BEEE®)
(b) FTERRUEETHNWEE (8)

(9]
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e MEBEERSELEBMN
mME BEWRAEEET
FEIBIE1.3% » AR EFUA I
RETREBIE1.8% KAl
BEIRE EFHR1.3% @ FT
B EBEE -

e HANERREERESE
EBRUME  EERAL
ERTI4BE25% K
WA R E T I5#8184.3%
BRI KR FFEE R
25% FBEE(HIEBE
J;fgo

WHTREELEMLNS &
BEREEYEFBR L EAATES
HEdReELEM (RREE
B R Bk EE R RS
TR EBBRZAIEAEES) -

BREEENSEE

(i) BEE
WERBRRNEETA
BVEE -BWESTHE

WS FETRERR =
EAREEMHHRIBERNE
BURTI R LR E RS - 1
O SE R - IR AR
R FHRERE R - H
EEBNABBEEM
EERABNEEREE -

BREARME  mES
REReELEU-FH
DEGDHEHSKEELR
BNXBEHTESRNER
CELABUNBRCELE
RLABBIMEH - 2 F BRIk
BMARTD AR EREH
MR EREENRIEE
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(c) Accounting policies of intangible assets
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and
are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, brand name
acquired in a business combination with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Brand name is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising
from derecognition of a brand name, measured
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset,
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly comprise acquired
computer software. Acquired computer
software licenses are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring the
specific software into usage. These costs are
amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years. Cost
associated with maintaining computer software
programmes are recognised as an expense as
incurred.

R IR

16 /\\\}F/ﬁg (#4&)
() EREEMNSTTEX@®)

(i)

(iii)

mEER
RIEERAHTES E’Juuh‘é‘ﬂ
HEERESFER

FTHEEKRBRBOHR ﬂ?
ERER (WRBERAK) -

MERRZE ELED
5 o 2 19 0 £ PR 48 R T
B0 4 2 TR R K AR 5
A R R B 1%
17 -

fn bR R 6 B s A
A 3 6 B TR AT 0 4 R R
R T SR B AR ERERR o
RIERmERTEmESE
M&EE  REEMSREA
FREEEREEEN
ZHAE Fﬁ%%iﬁ
R EIRRER

HiBEPEETEREM
ﬁ%f"iﬁ’]*ﬂﬁ@ﬁf’ BEN
FE B A AR A 1R & B
)\&Liﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂk EELEH
BT LAB AL © 7% F K
AAEREBOREAE AL
FAEHSE10F 8- 4
& P BT A2 e RO AE BE K
AREERERRFAXL
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e BImRMEE
17 INVENTORIES 17 =FE
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Pharmaceuticals and medical consumables % i & B2 & #E #71 22,668 38,023
Vision aid products WHEBE R 16,181 13,355
38,849 51,378
The cost of inventories and consumables recognised as HZE2023F 128318 1LFE - #R
expense and included in cost of revenue amounted to RERIWF ANHEKRANTFE RFEM
approximately HK$395,133,000 (2022: HK$504,901,000) B AN #9 /% 395,133,000 78 7T (2022 4F
for the year ended 31 December 2023. 504,901,000 7T) °
18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 18 REFIESTHNERMIA
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost KT RN REE
— Trade receivables — B 5 RWFIE 53,371 47,133
— Deposits and other receivables —Re R H A ERFHIE 57,834 54,281
— Amounts due from associates — R UK & N RIFRIA 5,077 6,739
— Cash and cash equivalents —BekBEeEEY 512,762 644,698
— Short-term deposits — R HTF R 32,908 31,330
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEFAEMEZEBA
BEEEE 83,665 74,167
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFABZNSE
— Listed equity investment — LR AIRE 11,748 22,484
— Contingent consideration receivables — WA KB 12,610 -
769,975 880,832
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKAT RN ERARE
— Trade payables —B S EMAHE 54,916 45,306
— Accruals and other payables —[EFT B A K A E A
FRIE 134,077 69,800
— Amounts due to non-controlling —FEH IR AR R I AR
interests 3,331 154,704
— Loans from non-controlling interests —JEFERR R B K 21,412 21,215
- Borrowings — &3 1,725 34,257
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 339,853 397,015
555,314 722,297
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables E 5 EWGIA

R IR

19 BESEWKE

As at 31 December
M®12831H
2023 2022

2022 &
HK$'000
FETL

2023 F
HK$’000

53,371 47,133

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their
fair values.

The trade receivables are due when services are rendered
and goods are sold. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice
date was as follows:

"

2 5 EWGRIA M AR E A EE A F(ER

BZEBGERREEREMEEEY
W5 B & B B e 5 o 722023 F ]2 2022
F12A31H EH5EKFEREE
BERERE D AT T

As at 31 December

R12831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-90 days 0Z90H 31,947 39,354
91-180 days 91& 180 H 9,376 4,565
Over 180 days i 180 H 12,048 3,214
53,371 47,133

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Details in
determining the loss allowance are set out in Note 3.1(b).

As at 31 December 2023, all the trade receivables balances
were not impaired (2022: same). These relate to a number
of independent clients, commercial companies and local
government to which no credit terms were granted.

AEERAEEVHHREEDFE IR
BEIDAFERHEERE  RAE
B 5 RUGRIAR A= HRHEERE -
EEERBRENFRENME3 D) -

R2023F12A31H FTEZE S EIK
B RRI ARB(E (2022 4F - ABRA)
ZERBREVEERETEEHRNSZ A
BUYRFE BEARNMMABNEE -
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e IR

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19 B 5 BWRKE#)

The carrying amounts of trade receivables are denominated B 5 RWRIBNREENIENUNTER
in the following currencies: HE -

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 5
HK$"000 HK$°000
FETT FET
HK$ BT 38,225 37,335
RMB AREE 15,146 9,798
53,371 47,133
20 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 20 ¢  FEANFERHEMMEY
RECEIVABLES =%1g

As at 31 December
M12H31H

2023

2023
HK$°000
FETT

2022
2022 £
HK$°000
FAET

Non-current JEBNER
Prepayments for property, plant W - BB REREEN
and equipment B 7,462 4,746
Prepayments for employee B B BT 5/IB
compensation 2,644 6,673
Rental deposits Heke 23,496 18,573
Contingent consideration receivables FEW Sk AR AE (BHEEG))
(Note (i) 4,404 -
38,006 29,992
Current BN HA
Prepayments for inventories ERTFERE 3,123 4,237
Prepayments for rental expenses ENEEER 1,907 1,409
Prepayments for operating expenses AT EEEMA 15,717 10,485
Prepayments for employee B BHETERT /IB
compensation 2,130 956
Rental and other deposits HekEMiEe 25,559 29,510
Contingent consideration receivables FEW Sk AR AE (BHEEG))
(Note (i) 8,206 -
Others Hith 8,778 6,198
N 65420 22,795
Total deposits, prepayments and other Ze  BRRBEREM
receivables JEW IR A 5T 103,426 82,787
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20 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Note:

(0

Contingent consideration receivable mainly represents the
profit guarantee given by the counterparties to the Group
in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2022. Contingent consideration
receivables have been designated as financial assets at FVPL
upon initial recognitions and is measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The movement of the fair value
of contingent consideration receivables is disclosed in Note
3.3(b).

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreements (“the
SPAs”) in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries, the
counterparties have given a guarantee to the Group that
the audited net profit/annual qualified revenue/profit as
defined in respective agreements (“Guaranteed Sum”) in
the specified period (“Guaranteed Period”) would be not
less than a specified amount for each of the corresponding
guaranteed period (“Profit Guarantee”).

If the Profit Guarantee is not fulfilled for the corresponding
period/year, the counterparties shall compensate the Group
in accordance with the terms of the agreements.

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable
as at 31 December 2023 is determined based on the
profit forecast prepared by the management, by using the
discounted cash flow approach and a gain arising in fair value
change of approximately HK$12,610,000 was recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above.
The Group does not hold collateral as security.

20

R IR

BE BEAREREMGER

FRIE ()

B eE -

U]

BUEARBETERIHIEFE
F2022F12A3M B IEFEWREBH
BRRRAEERENFERE -
FERSARERVIBEREDIETE
BRIEAFEFABRZ EREE -
YRR EBHRIERAFENE - B
SARBZ AFEEBRHE3.30b)

RiBEHEEBHBARNEERZ
(BEEWmR]) ZETRAAKE
R R HE (REHD
N AEENLERFFEFE
BERBAFIE(EERERGR)
(REBEEHED BT NHERRKRE
HAas—ERSHNEESE (R
HRED -

il FB R E RN AR E AR 2
ERK B 58 FARE & HRR
AR [ 1F H AR 18 -

FE U sk A R B 72023 F 12 A 31
Hz2AFEDEEERERAR
W &M EBI/AMR G 2 7 EE B =
E-MAFEZHELEZ WD
12,610,000 8 TE R A T HIER

e MHEMERFIENRIERLR
FEMEE -

RBERH A EERRALIE
BRUGRIEN A FE - AR B ER
BAERER mIERER
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e IR

20 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 20
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the deposits, prepayments
and other receivables are denominated in the following
currencies:

BE  ANREREAER
FRIE ()

Be - BABOARE MR EGFIEN R
EETRIATEEHE

As at 31 December

MR12831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
HK$"000 HK$°000
FET FET
HK$ BT 48,597 35,322
RMB AREE 54,829 47,465
103,426 82,787

Except for contingent consideration receivables, other
receivables are recognised initially at fair values and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT- 21
TERM BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less.

U ET AN PN Y TUEe T
HURFERR - HieRAERAF
PRI AR 2 -

RERREEEYRERIT
EEA
ReRALSEMERIPAA=E
AU THRE REBMRITER -

As at 31 December

MW12A31H

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash at banks (Note (i) R17IR & (MTEEG)) 241,791 236,070

Cash on hand FHERE 2,015 1,488
Short-term bank deposits with maturities R Z|H H 31& A A &9 52

of less than three months (Note (i) RIT1F 70 (B RE (i) 268,956 407,140

Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEY 512,762 644,698
Short-term bank deposits with maturities R %2 H #2836 3 & A &9 52 &

of more than three months (Note (iii)) $R1717 3% (B 2 Gii)) 32,908 31,330

545,670 676,028
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-
TERM BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits are
denominated in the following currencies:

R IR

21 BEeRBESEEYREHERT
ERum)
HeRBRSEEYREHRITERD
BT EHE -

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
us$ ETT 236,756 23,363
HK$ BT 90,189 522,293
RMB AREE 218,644 130,366
Others Hith 81 6
545,670 676,028

Notes: B

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Cash at banks generates interest at prevailing market interest
rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.3% (2022: 0.01% to 0.3%)
per annum during the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate per
annum on short-term bank deposits with maturities of less
than three months was 4.74% (2022: 5.16%).

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate per
annum on short-term bank deposits with maturities of more
than three months was 5.02% (2022: 5.08%).

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$214,751,000 (2022:
HK$79,285,000) were held in Mainland China as at 31
December 2023 and were subject to local exchange control
regulations. Those local exchange control regulations provide
for restrictions on exporting capital from the country, other
than through normal dividends.

() RITELNEZE2023F12A318
IEFEEENFETIEN T0.01%
£03% (2022%F : 0.01% £0.3%)
BT B FEREE -

(i)  H2023F12A831H  REHA3ME
BUTHREHRITFERNEEREF
R AT74% (20224 - 5.16%) °

(i) F2023F 128318 RENEHAEB
BIEAMBEEHRTERNERF
& 55.02% (2022 FF : 5.08%)

(iv)  R2023F12 A31 BERENMER
HIR & MR FEW /214,751,000
7 7T (2022 4 79,285,00078 7T) °
ZEFIBXEHINEE SERBRR o
ZEEHWINEE S ERE P EHE
& S MABR S - MELEF D ALBRIN ©
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e IR

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22 RAFEFAHMEZEHBAN

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME THEE
Financial assets at FVOCI represent unlisted equity BEAFEFAEMEZEARANEHRE
investments which are denominated in HK$ and US$. These EE LB T RETFHERNIE LMK
are strategic investments which are not held for trading and WE - ZERBERRBURE W I
the Group considers this classification to be more relevant. BEEE MAEBERABLSBERA
Its fair value is analysed as follow: 1B - ERFEITET
HK$ 000
FAET
At 1 January 2022 ®2022F1H818 52,575
Addition NE 7,830
Change in fair value NEEED 13,762
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 A2022F 128318 K%2023F181H 74,167
Addition wNE 9,454
Change in fair value NEEES 44
At 31 December 2023 M2023%F12H31H 83,665
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22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Nature of financial instruments:

Company name

LAER

Avalon Global Holdings Limited
("Avalon”)

Avalon Global Holdings Limited
(TAvalon)

BELKIN Vision Ltd. ("Belkin")

BELKIN Vision Ltd. ([ Belkin )

Health Hope Pharma Limited

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
WAL/ RUBER

LRRRER

British Virgin Islands

RERARS

Israel

A3

Hong Kong

R

Particulars of

issued share capital/
registered capital
BRITRE/
R

128,297,949
ordinary shares of
no par value

128,297,949 1%
REENTER

930,923

ordinary shares of
NIS 0.01 each;
3,897,845

preferred shares of
NIS 0.01 each
BREE0.01
MBRBN
930,923 R & #H: :
BRAEE0.01
MR BN
3,897,845 R B 52 ik

10,000

ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
GRAEG1IETH
10,000 £ @/

R IR

22 BAFEFTAHMEZEBAN
ERMEE®

TRIAME:

Effective interest
held by the
Company Directly
KRR
Bl

2023
2023%F

2022
20225

4.0% 4.1%
10.7% 8.4%
30% -

Principal activities/
place of operation
THEH/
EENE

Development of next generation
healthcare solutions across biopharma,
diagnostics, medical devices and other
area of healthcare, Hong Kong

RREENHE D8 BREEWR
AnBEREEHFET -REE
REBANF BE

Development of automated one-second
glaucoma laser treatment, Israel

REBBRYBRRAEE A
&7

Development of innovative drug projects
in ophthalmology and oncology, Hong
Kong

ERRMRBEN AN B2
BR
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e IR

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22 RAFEFAHMEZEHBAN

176

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

On 6 January 2022 and 23 August 2022, the Group entered
into the convertible loan agreement with Belkin for a loan of
US$500,849 (equivalent to HK$3,905,000) and US$500,000
(equivalent to HK$3,925,000) respectively. On 15 August
2023, such convertible loans were converted to preferred
shares of Belkin and the effective interest held by the Group
increased to 10.7%.

On 6 July 2023, the Group entered into the agreement
with Dr. Dennis LAM to set up a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong, namely Health Hope Pharma
Limited (“HH Pharma”). The Group is committed to
subscribe for a total of 3,000 ordinary shares of HH Pharma,
settled by way of cash injection of HK$3,000 and additional
capital injection up to US$2,000,000 (approximately
HK$15,600,000), when such capital needs arise in the
course of HH Pharma’s business. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group has completed the subscription by injecting
HK$3,000 in cash and further contributed US$1,212,000
(equivalent to HK$9,454,000) in cash as a shareholder’s
loan.

For further details about the fair value estimate and
movement of the financial assets at fair value, please refer
to Note 3.3.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

SREE @

M2022F 1868 M202248 A23
A - 7N & B B Belkin 5] 37 A] #A & & 3%
ek ER e 5 5 A500,849FE T
(#& 5 3,905,000% 7t) & 500,000 %
7T (88 13,925,000 7T) ° #2023
F8AISH  ZENRKERE EHR
BBelkinfB Ll MAEBEFENE
PRERIEIMNE10. 7% °

2023478618 - A& B HEHKE
B AR s B — R BB
MYMBRAR - HEEEARA
([ FEBE] - AEEAAERES
HI000FEEHELTBR  TRE
EREXBREPEIVES T HE
LIRS EE3,0008 T RBNSE
2,000,000 3 7T (49 15,600,000% JT)
K& AOFE AR AT 0B © 1R 20234F
12A318  A"&EEE & ®F A3,000
BILIR e - Wi —HF A1,212,000
ZE 7t (& 79,454,000 7T) 3 & 1E
BRRER - HIL TSR -

BEEREATEFENERMEENAT
BHFTREBNE — P15 F2H
BsE3.3
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R IR

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23 BAVEFAEENEREE
PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets mandatorily measured at financial assets at BHIEATFEFAEENEREES
FVPL include the following: FETAEIE

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FETT FET

Current assets mENE E

Hong Kong listed equity securities BB ETRAE 5 11,748 22,484
During the year, the following losses were recognised in the THFNEBRES 2EWARER

consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLEE
2023 2022

2023 F 2022 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAETT

Losses on financial assets at FVPL (Note 7) 12 A (B AEBZEHN T &

BEEE(WE7) (10,736) (33,220)
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used in the fair FEATEFEANEZRERBAR
value measurements are disclosed in the table in Note 3.3. FHBERERAME33HE -
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Authorised:

At 1 January 2022,
31 December 2022,
1 January 2023 and

ERE

R2022F1R18 -
20225128318 -
2023F1818K

Number of

EERHA
000 HK$000
Th THT

A SRR
24 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 24 BAREER®G
(a) Share capital (@ B=K

Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary

shares shares
EERAEE

31 December 2023 2023%12A31H 8,000,000 800,000
Issued and paid: ERTRER
At 1 January 2022 M2022%1818 1,150,341 115,034
Issuance of shares upon exercise of IFERAHEENER

pre-IPO share options (Note 26) ERETRS (H3E26) 872 87
Issuance of shares (Note (i) and (i) TR AR (TRE () B (i) 115,346 11,535
At 31 December 2022 and M2022512A31B R

1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 1,266,559 126,656
Cancellation of shares (Note (i) SR D (M3 (i) (10,998) (1,100)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12H31H 1,255,561 125,556

Notes: B 3T -

(i) On 19 January 2022, 8,790,000 shares were allotted
and issued at HK$5.73 per share (equivalent to
approximately HK$50,367,000) to independent third
parties to acquire the equity interests in Champion Eye
Centre Limited. The allotment resulted in an increase
of share capital and share premium by approximately
HK$879,000 and HK$49,488,000, respectively.
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(0

»2022%1A19H8
8,790,000 % % {7 LA & A% 5.73
7 7t (M8 & 7 #950,367,000%8
TERBRETTEIE=H
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(Continued)

(@) Share capital (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

On 20 January 2022 and 8 December 2022, the
Company issued 76,500,000 and 30,056,000 shares
by placement to two independent third parties, at a
price of HK$6.41 and HK$3.87 per share respectively.
The placements resulted in an increase of share capital
and share premium by approximately HK$10,656,000
and HK$596,135,000, respectively.

On 12 December 2023, the Company cancelled a
total of 10,998,000 shares that were repurchased on-
market in September, October and November 2023.
The cancellation resulted in a decrease of share capital
and share premium by approximately HK$1,100,000
and HK$40,531,000, respectively.

(b) Treasury shares

At 1 January 2022

R IR

24 BAREFRSG ®

(a) B
MsE « (88)

(ii)

(iii)

72022415208 2022
F12A88  ARFNUEE
FA MM BB E =TT
76,500,000 % % 30,056,000
BRAEEH BRI AESR
6.417% 7T % 3.87% T ° Bg %
B KO ERBEDEBEED R
#IN#%10,656,00078 T &
596,135,000 7T °

M2023F 128128 AR
AlFE R 20234F9 A ~ 10 A
M1 AEMS LERME
10,998,000 B A& {5 » =t $H5E B
B A e B 1 v 1B 5 Bl > 49
1,100,000 /% 7T % 40,531,000
BT ©

(b) EEFKRH

Number of
ordinary shares

EBEREE

M2022F181H8

Aggregate

price paid
EBEREE
‘000 HK$'000
FH FET

7,174 29,927

Shares repurchased 2EER N
At 31 December 2022 and 72022128318 &

1 January 2023 20231 H1H 7,174 29,927
Shares repurchased [mEAC ) 15,420 58,294
Cancellation of shares (Note 24(a)(iii)) =L #5R% 2 (1 5F 24(a)(ii)) (10,998) (41,631)
At 31 December 2023 2023912 A31H 11,596 46,590
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e IR

24 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES
(Continued)

(b) Treasury shares (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Company repurchased its own ordinary shares on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows:

24

BAREFRSG @&

(b) EFRM @

B E2023F %2022 12 A 31
BIEFE ARQRREEHA
REMBERARBREERYE
R BB

Lowest Highest
Number price paid price paid Aggregate
Month/Year of shares per share per share  price paid
[EEREST: [EERE=T:

B3/ 6 RGOEA BIEE BEE EJ#E
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000
Fhz T BT FET

Year ended HZE2023F12H8

31 December 2023 31BLFE

January 2023 2023F 1 A 390 5.10 5.15 2,004
May 2023 202345 A 510 3.81 3.95 1,979
September 2023 20239 A 6,038 3.47 3.82 22,288
October 2023 2023410 A 4,048 3.67 3.98 15,605
November 2023 2023F 11 A 3,264 3.59 3.98 12,391
December 2023 2023412 A 1,170 3.32 3.59 4,027
15,420 58,294

Year ended HZ%E2022F 128

31 December 2022 31ELEFE
November 2022 2022F 11 A 4,248 3.31 4.06 15,862
December 2022 2022F 12 A 2,926 4.36 5.02 14,065
7,174 29,927
25 STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE 25 ETEERFHE

The balance represents statutory surplus reserve. In
accordance with articles of association of certain subsidiaries
incorporated in Mainland China, the subsidiary is required
to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation prepared
in accordance with China accounting standards to the
statutory reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the
registered share capital. Such reserve can be used to reduce
any losses incurred and to increase share capital.
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company approved and adopted the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
pursuant to shareholder’s resolutions passed on 28
June 2017 and 13 December 2017, respectively. Share
options were granted under both schemes to incentify
the Company’s certain directors, senior management,
ophthalmologists, physicians, employees and consultants.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share
options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme held by eligible participants
and movements in such holdings in relation thereto during

R IR

26 MURGHEBRBMNK

BES BIR2017%F6 A28 H & 2017
FI2ABHBBNBRERZR &
NREHETRPNE XN AFAEEAE
AR ERT &I R B IR AR E & IR
&l o NABIRIBEZMIAR 8% LB
BUASBEETES afREEE -
REIELE BE- - EEREM-

TREEREGBERSEEFENERX
NABERBERESERERAME
ERERETEBETEENEARRE
% 4 515 LA R B 2= 2023 4 2022 F

the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

12AMBIEFENEBFRES

Number of share options ‘000

BREHETH
Exercise At Granted Exercised Lapsed At
price per 1 January during during during 31 December
Grant date Expiry date share 2023 the year the year the year 2023
R % 3%
BB ERAH ShiTEE 1818 ERERE  FRETE  FASAN A3
HKS
AT
Post-PO Share Option ~ ERARBEAERE
Scheme it8
18 July 2019 16 November 2023 518 i) 2,855 - - (2,855) -
0197 18R 0BE11A16H
14 September 2020 13 September 2023 634 (i) 1,140 - - (1,140) -
2020F9F14H 03F9F 138
2 November 2021 1 November 2027 173 () 200 - - - 200
001511428 W027%11R18
4,19 - = (3,995) 200
Number of options RERTTENERE
exercisable at year end B 133
Weighted average exercse ~ JIEF17EAT)
price (HK$) 5.62 N/A N/A 5.51 113
Weighted average remaining M5 T A% FH
contractual life fears) (%) 284
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

26 URHBAEBRNSR @

Number of share options ‘000

182

S Th
Exercise At Granted Exercised Lapsed At
price per 1 January during during during 31 December
Grant date Expiry date share 202 the year the year the year 2022
ks nng
EnAS BRER 1A SRERE  EREfE 12A318
HKS
Pre-IPO Share Option ERDBRENERE
Scheme HE |
1 April 2017 31 March 2023 0.1 () 519 - - (519) -
0174818 W3F3A31H
1 April 2017 31 March 2023 1.0 (i 173 - (130 (43) -
WITE4R1H WB%F3IR31A
1 April 2017 31 March 2027 10 () 742 - (742) - -
WITEIRTH 027%3R318
1434 - 872) (562) -
Post-PO Share Option ~ ERARBEAERE
Scheme HE |
18 July 2019 16 November 2023 518 (i) 3452 - - (597) 2,85
201957518A 035115168
14 September 2020 13 September 2023 634 (i) 1,140 - - - 1,140
2000595148 03598137
2 November 2021 1 November 2027 173 200 - - - 200
021E 11728 027E1A1A
6,226 - (872) (1,159) 4,195
Number of options RERATENERE
exercisable at year end Y 4,062
Weighted average exerdise ~~ MEFHFEE(ET)
price (HK$) 427 N/A 1 275 5.62
Weighted average remaining — METIRTANEH
contractual lfe frears) (%) 483
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

(0

On 1 April 2017, 43,578,000 options were granted to a total
of 131 grantees, which include certain ophthalmologists,
physicians, employees and executive directors.

The options are vested over periods of one to five years.
The vesting of the pre-IPO share options granted to the
ophthalmologists and certain employees is subject to
performance targets in terms of revenue generated during
the vesting periods. No performance condition exists for the
consultants, remaining employees and executive directors
who shall remain in their engagement, employment or office
over the vesting periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option ranges from HK$0.1 to
HK$1.0. Once vested, the options remain exercisable for
periods of three to five years. All unexercised pre-IPO share
options will lapse by the end of the exercise periods or upon
the cessation of employment of the grantees under the
service condition.

On 18 July 2019, 6,540,000 options were granted under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to a total of 40 grantees,
which include certain Hong Kong ophthalmologists,
consultants and an executive director.

The options are vested over periods of one to three years. The
vesting of these options to the Hong Kong Ophthalmologists
are subject to performance targets in terms of revenue
generated during the vesting periods. No performance
condition exists for the consultants, and executive director
who shall remain in their engagement, employment or office
over the vesting periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$5.18. Once vested,
the options remain exercisable but not to exceed the period
of five years from the date of grant. All unexercised post-IPO
share options will lapse by the end of the exercise periods or
upon the cessation of service of the grantee.

R IR

26 URHBAEBRNSR@

MEE

()

MR2017F4818  mAH£1318%
BABEETERREE &
BB R#ITESE) ¥ 43,578,000 15
FE R -

BRERBHA EZE0F -BBER
FTREMBENETEENE XA
REMBEREARGBNHEMES
WAREGEBIRRR - SRR -
BT EERATEFTEREXE
fiRfF - MEENEBMRANRR
PRAGRITSHE - SERFEIE -

BHERENTEENF0NBLE
1087 —BRE  BREATR=
ERFHAAITE - IBERITER
BIR A B S AR O S R 1T R
R IR R AR R 1 5 LB AR
ANER -

M2019%€7 188 IREE XA
BERBREERE L40BET
AN (BEETEESRBIEA - B
& —Z#ITESF) % I 6,540,000 17
AR -

BREFEHA EZE=F -BBEX
ERTEAERMBENBREAR
FEHEMELEWANEERRR
R HRNBERERTESYERE
KRBT MESFREBHARAD
RRIRFB IR R - ZERBIE -

B BRENITTEERSI8ET -
—ERE BREANRGLAMSE
TE EMEBREFH B ARTT
W ERAFMEERBRESLT
R ERR SRR AL I BRAG 1R R -
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

On 14 September 2020, 1,140,000 options were granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to the executive
director of the Company, Ms. LI Xiaoting.

The options were vested over one year. No performance
condition exists for the executive director who shall remain in
office over the vesting periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$6.34. One vested, the
options remain exercisable until three years from the date of
grant. All unexercised post-IPO share options will lapse by the
end of the exercise periods or upon the cessation of service
of the grantee.

On 2 November 2021, 200,000 options were granted under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to the independent non-
executive director of the Company, Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-
Kuen.

The options are vested over periods of one to three years.
No performance condition exists for the independent non-
executive director who shall remain in office over the vesting
periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$7.73. One vested, the
options remain exercisable until three years from the vested
dates. All unexercised post-IPO share options will lapse by the
end of the exercise periods.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, share-based
payment expenses of approximately HK$159,000 (2022:
HK$1,333,000) were recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in relation to the share
options.

26 URHBAEBRNSR @

ME ()

(iii)
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27 SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Futu Trustee Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
and authorised to undertake trust business in accordance
with the laws of Hong Kong, was appointed as the trustee
(the "Trustee”) for the administration of the share award
scheme (“2022 Share Award Scheme"”). The Trustee will
hold the shares on trust for the selected participants. The
Trustee and its ultimate beneficial owners are third parties
independent of, and not connected with, the Group or its
connected persons.

The aggregate number of new shares granted by the Group
currently permitted to be awarded under 2022 Share Award
Scheme is limited to 10% of the total number of issued
Shares as of the Adoption Date.

Under 2022 Share Award Scheme, the employees or
consultants for providing services to the Group (“Selected
Participants”) are entitled to receive shares in the
Company.

When a Selected Participant has satisfied all vesting
conditions, which might include service and/or performance
conditions, specified by the Board at the time of making the
award and become entitled to the shares of the Company
forming the subject of the award, the Trustee shall transfer
the relevant vested share awards to that Selected Participant
employee at no cost.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of
any shares of the Company held under the Trust, including,
inter alia, the share awards and further shares of the
Company acquired out of the income derived therefrom.

The share awards vested over a period of two years from
the date of grant, with first batch of 40,000 share awards to
be vested on 2 July 2024, and the second batch of 40,000
share awards to be vested on 2 July 2025.

No share awards were vested during the year ended 31
December 2023.

27

R IR

IR 17 82 B =t &l

BRERARRAA (—HAREBEM
R AR IBE AN R KL L5
EBH AR BEERERA(ER
A AEE B fn B2 Rt 81 (12022 £ ik
HRBB] - EREABAEFELA
RBEEZ2EEZARD - FRARE
RREGHEAARBUNAKENKE
FEALME=)  EAKELHEH
AT EBE o

RI% 2022 F R ) BB - ANEER
R ER DR O A LNEER
MBEMEHITRDBEE10% BR -

RIFE2022F ) REFHE - RAKE
ERERGNESSER ((BE2H
&) BRWEA AR

EERT2EENAESTSEFLER
P E] B RO P B SR B 151 (R B4R AR
B,/ HERGENE) AR BFHE
MERZEBIESORNRRED - 5
AARRAZEE2HERBEEER
RN BB 228 -

SRATSRREEEFHHEMA
REBDITEZRE  BRETRR
Betn K 2 BB B A D SRE) P15 WA BB
AR E AR B

D SRR AR R ERES
H #1£40,000 % B% 17 2E B 45 7A 2024 FF 7
A28 8B M3 = #40,000 &8 7
LRGN 2025F 7 A2 HERE -

HZE2023F12A31BLFE - #i &
iR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 ¢ —E-_=HF%#

185




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

27 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued) 27 BB E @)

Outstanding

Outstanding Issued Forfeited Regrant Vested at
at 1 January during during during during 31 December
2023 the year the year the year the year 2023
APIPEES R2023 &

1A18 12A31A
EROTEN EFRERT  FARK FABRE  FRER  EROEMN
HKS000 — HKS000  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS100

FET FET FET FET FET FET
Award type REEA
Share award grant RHRGEE - 80,000 - - - 80,000
The fair value of the share awards was calculated I 0 82 E & A FER B A S E RG5O R
based on the market price of the Group’s shares at the EEEEERNMETHE - #22023
respective grant date. During the year ended 31 December F1I2A31HILEFE SR MHDER
2023, share-based payment expenses of approximately RErE 2 HE A KERL 114,000
HK$ 114,000 (2022: Nil) were recognised in the consolidated JC (2022 F : 48%) AR (D B EFEAT
statement of comprehensive income in relation to the share X e
awards.
28 DIVIDENDS 28 KE
The Directors of the Company do not recommend the KRB ESTEZARB E2023412
payment of a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 A318 It FEIRMSKRBARE (2022
December 2023 (2022: same). F:48R) -
29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 29 EIEFREB
As at 31 December
M12831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Deferred income tax assets EIEFTS I E E 6,821 6,937
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTISTRARE (66,224) (72,530)
(59,403) (65,593)
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The net movements on the deferred income tax (liabilities)/
assets are as follows:

R IR

29 EEMREH @

EIEFTISR (BE) EESEFEN
T

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FHET

At 1 January R1HA1E (65,593) 10,453
Addition through acquisition of FBWENBRABIAE

subsidiaries (Note 38) (Kt5E38) - (72,478)
Charged to the consolidated statement of = FA4R & 2 T A K HIBR

comprehensive income (103) (3,208)

Exchange differences PE W ERE 6,293 (360)

At 31 December M®12A31H8 (59,403) (65,593)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as
follows:

Deferred income tax assets

FRETHEREEMABENES CR
it B R — B UE B [ A Y A R R BH)
W

EEFBREE

Decelerated
tax  Share-based
depreciation payment  Tax losses Leases Provision Total
HERE ERNGR  HEESR HE B @3
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET  FAT  FET  FET  TET TR
At 1 January 2022 R202%181A 9% 529 11,046 1,534 33 13,236
Credited/(charged) to the REAZERAR
consolidated statementof i A/ (40R)
comprehensive income 1,401 (529) (5,235) (1,102) (33) (5,498)
Exchange differences EHEE - - (327) (33) - (360)
At 31 December 2022 R202F128318 1,495 - 5,484 399 - 13178
At 1 January 2023 R2023%181A 1,495 - 5,484 399 - 71,378
Credited/(charged) to the REE2ENAR
consolidated statement of ~ £F A/ ($1%)
comprehensive income 989 - (1,293) - - (304)
Exchange differences EHEE - - (104) (11) = (115)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%512531R 2,484 - 4,087 388 - 6,959

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 ¢ —E-_=HF%#

187




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 29 EEMREH @)
EEFEBHEE

Deferred income tax liabilities

188

Accelerated
tax
depreciation  Tax losses Leases Provision  Brand name Total
MERERE  BEER E BB mEER At
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET  FET  FAT AL FE1

As 1 January 2022 ®202F1A818 (631) (722) (255) (1,175) - (2,783)
Addition through acquisiton ~ EBYE— I B

of a subsidiary (Note 38) NIV

(Fir3t38) - - - (72,478) (712,478)

Credited to the REE2ERAR

consolidated statement of fA

comprehensive income 138 255 1,175 - 2,290
At 31 December 2022 R2022% 126318 (493) - - (72,478) (72,97)
As 1 January 2023 R2023F181A (493) - - (72,478) (72,971)
Credited to the REA2ERAR

consolidated statementof ~ FFA

comprehensive income 201 - - - 201
Exchange difference ERER - - - 6,408 6,408
At 31 December 2023 R2023%E12631H (292) - - (66,070) (66,362)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry forward purposes only to the extent that realisation
of the related tax benefits through future taxable profit
is probable. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not
recognised deferred income tax assets of HK$121,990,000
(2022: HK$105,735,000) in respect of accumulated losses
amounting to HK$501,462,000 (2022: HK$499,211,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income.
As at 31 December 2023, in respect of the accumulated
losses, HK$45,883,000, HK$54,910,000, HK$81,152,000
and HK$181,901,000 will be expired in 2024, 2025, 2026
and 2027 respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, deferred income tax liabilities
of approximately HK$7,010,000 (2022: HK$7,770,000)
have not been recognised for the withholding taxation that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
in Mainland China of approximately HK$140,205,000 (2022:
HK$111,007,000), as the directors considered that the
timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences
can be controlled and the related temporary difference will
not be reversed and will not be taxable in the foreseeable
future.
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30 TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables, based on invoice date, were aged as

follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR

30 ESZEMARE

REZBH2INE Z RN FAKK

mF

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
0-30 days 0Z£30H 32,841 29,462
31-60 days 31£260H 11,211 7,361
61-90 days 61290 H 4,318 2,609
Over 90 days H#im 0 H 6,546 5,874
54,916 45,306

The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in B O RNRIBNREEDNZUNTER
the following currencies: FTHE -

As at 31 December

M®12831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 €
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
HK$ BT 10,517 11,352
RMB AREE 44,399 33,954
54,916 45,306

il

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their
fair values.

BHRMNFRENKREELZE QX FER

4

+

Es)
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31 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

EErERAREMEN KA

As at 31 December

31

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
Non-current FERE
Consideration payable for investment in & A B D EMNENRE
a joint venture (Note 42) (ftsr42) 49,638 -
Provision for long service payment RERB S BE 784 -
Reinstatement costs payable JETE B AR 2,921 2,968
53,343 2,968
Current mE
Accruals for employee benefits EErETRNE 49,542 43,482
Accruals for operating expenses FEEH BRI 29,622 23,010
Accruals for listing expenses Esr ETMER 3,591 3,591
Payables for doctors’ consultation fees ENBEZS 46,649 40,828
Payables for property, plant and JERTYIEE - R &t
equipment KIE 2,816 2,827
Consideration payable for acquisition WEEWEB A e EARE
of subsidiaries 1,027 1,027
Others HAh 3,139 2,347
e eeneneieceieeeieiececeeeieceeceeieieceececeioeeoo...... | 136,386 117,112
Total accruals and other payables FET & AR B HAh & 1~ 5k I8
&t 189,729 120,080

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables are

denominated in the following currencies:

JERtE R R AR AN REETD
BATERGHE

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
HK$ BT 71,669 63,701
RMB AR 118,060 56,379
189,729 120,080

The carrying amounts of other payables approximate their

fair values.

fo e BUR M BRE B S H A F(EAE

o

off Ol
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32 BORROWINGS

Bank borrowings

R IR

32 ‘fﬁ'a')k

As at 31 December
M12H31H
2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$°000

FET T

1,725 34,257

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are denominated
in the following currencies:

RITERORAEZATESE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
HK$ BT 1,725 22,997
RMB AREE - 11,260
1,725 34,257

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximate their
fair values.

As at 31 December 2023, there is no variable rate
borrowing and the carrying amount of fixed rate borrowings
is HK$1,725,000 (2022: the carrying amount of fixed rate
borrowings and variable rate borrowings are HK$11,260,000
and HK$22,997,000 respectively). The effective interest rate
of borrowings of the Group was 2.75% (2022: 5.49%) per
annum.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings of
HK$1,725,000 (2022: HK$22,997,000) are repayable on
demand.

Information on non-current assets pledged as security for
borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 36.

RITIEFHREERE X FERS

R2023F12 8318 HEFHF =X
B MEEMNEEXRNEmMES
1,725,000 7C (2022 4F = [EF FI =R
BEREFBH ERERNERES B A
11,260,000% 7T & 22,997,000 7T ) °
REBGBERHNERFEMNER275%
(20224 : 5.49%) °

M2023F12A31H  HITER
1,725,000 7T (2022 4 : 22,997,000
BIL) BIRER(EE -

BEEAAEEERTERNIERSE
EMERRH 36 IFE -
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REMBRRME
33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 33 REREEH
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) REXKFRBRE

BRATISTLATANE, (B 1E) BEag
LEBAFREFEMNYE

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income tax to net
cash generated from operations:

192

Profit/(loss) before income tax

BRPTIS BRI RIS,

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831BLEE
2023

2023
HK$’000
FETT

2022

2022 &
HK$°000
FAET

(E518) 124,269 (11,227)
Adjustments for: AT EIBEEL AR :
Amortisation of intangible assets |y A EEE
(Note 16) (MtzE16) 1,537 1,428
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BREREET
equipment (Note 13) (M5 13) 77,637 86,274
Depreciation of investment HEMERE
properties (Note 15) (FF5E15) 335 353
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE
(Note 14) (Mt3E14) 141,481 135,979
Losses on write-off of non-current MsEIE BN E EER
assets (Note 7) (KF5E7) 2,504 -
Losses on disposal of property, HEWE - BB RE
plant and equipment, net BTGB ERFE
(Note 7) (M7E7) 121 425
Losses on early termination of lease RERIEEENES
(Note 7) (MzE7) 1,373 -
Losses on financial assets at FVPL BAFEFTABED
(Note 7) CRIBEMEIR
(BF&E7) 10,736 33,220
Gains on fair value change of EWHARENQTF
contingent consideration BEEB U= (FE7)
receivables (Note 7) (12,610) -
Share-based payment expenses PN S =E =80k NN
(Note 26 and 27) sz (st 26 & 27) 273 1,333
Share of profit of associates and DREE RE REE
joint venture (Note 41 and 42) TR EEFE (k41
K 42) (3,164) (37,799)
Finance income (Note 10) B U A (B2 10) (19,890) (7,112)
Finance costs (Note 10) B EsZ (fifsE10) 18,122 19,656
342,724 222,530
Changes in working capital: EEESEE:
Inventories FE 11,868 (8,659)
Trade receivables g 5 WA (6,527) (26,696)
Deposits, prepayments and other e ENRIELE
receivables b & Y R 8 (6,614) (25,414)
Trade payables B 5 S F IR 10,566 887
Accruals and other payables FE T PR R EL A E A
IR 24,351 (8,366)
Contract liabilities BB E 15,673 30,176
Balances with associates ER B 2 N B EY AL B 1,662 5,374
Balances with related parties B R 7 B9 A EA - (30)
Cash generated from operations KEMSIRE 393,703 189,802
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e RRME
33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 33 REREBEH®W
(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant (b) HEWME BERREMS
and equipment ME
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds RiZEBRERERT LED
from disposal of property, plant and equipment ¥ BB KRB FSFIERE
comprise:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 %F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FAETT FETT
Net book amounts (Note 13) IREFE (FFEE13) 14,642 1,681
Losses on disposal of property, plant ~ HEWZE - W&z & & FE AT
and equipment, net (Note 7) 1FEEFE (M 7) (121) (425)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - WE REH
plant and equipment Fr15 308 14,521 1,256
(c) Significant non-cash transaction (00 EXFBEEXRS
During the year ended 31 December 2023, share- REZ2023F 12831 HIEF
based payment expenses of HK$273,000 (2022: g 0 FER T 273,000 JT (2022
HK$1,333,000) were recognised (Note 26 and 27). % :1,333,000870) AR A

RSB (5E26 K 27) »
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33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

33

HEREEBR @
d BEZTBELENEENYER

Loans
from non-
controlling Lease
Borrowings interests liabilities Total
FER
EEA ERER RESE -
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET THT
At 1 January 2022 R202%181A 179,406 7,595 284,690 471,691
Cash flows BenE
— Proceeds from borrowings ~EHFETE 31,260 - - 31,260
— Repayment to borrowings -BERET (193,241) - - (193,241)
~ Loan advances from non-controlling —JFIEIRER BB
interests B - 13,800 - 13,800
—Principal elements of lease payments —fEE [ FHHALZHH - - (114,446) (114,446)
~ Interest paid on leases -ZHHEEFE - - (18,470) (18,470)
Non-cash movement FREEY
- Acquisition of subsidiary -WERBAT 16,832 - 87,660 104,492
- Exchange differences -EAEE - (597) (18,476) (19,073)
- Other non-cash moverent -HFR e EY - 417 176,057 176,474
At 31 December 2022 R2022%512A318 34,257 21,215 397,015 452,487
Cash flows BenE
— Proceeds from borrowings —EHMETE 10,780 - - 10,780
~ Repayment to borrowings —-BEER (43,278) - - (43,278)
~ Principal elements of lease payments — & AL 55 - - (131,308) (131,308)
~ Interest paid on leases -SHHEEFE - - (16,712) (16,712)
Non-cash movement FREEY
— Exchange differences -EREE (34) (199) (7,914) (8,147)
- Other non-cash movement —HiEeE - 396 98,772 99,168
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31H 1,725 21,412 339,853 362,990
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34 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the

end of the year but not recognised as liabilities is as
follows:

mEMBHRERMEE
34 RiE
(a) EAEIE
REREBTHNERERASEE
MEREARSIT :

As at 31 December

MW12H31H

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$°000 HK$°000

FETT FAET

Property, plant and equipment W - WEREE 101,115 47,659
Acquisition of financial assets at W A EFAEM
FVOCI (Note (7)) PEHBRANTREE

(PR G)) 6,119 -

107,234 47,659

Note:

(i) The amount represents unpaid capital injection of
US$788,000 (equivalent to HK$6,119,000) to HH
Pharma (Note 22) as at 31 December 2023.

(b) Operating lease commitments

At 31 December 2023, the Group had future
aggregate minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable short-term leases as follows:

Not later than one year TR —4F

GEX

() #&FBIER2023F12 A
31 H Mm% % 5 g (M E22)
¥ & 788,000k 5T (MHE R
6,119,000 7T) &) RS A ©

(b) REHERIE
MN2023F 128318 REER®
ARG EHEE THERK
RIEMASEMREBOT

As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2023 2022
2022 FF
HK$ 000
FET

1,045 430

2023 F
HK$’000
FET
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REMBmRMETE

35 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 35 KEMHERH
The Group leases its investment properties (Note 15) under REBEBEEHEELHEHBEEKREY
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for % (M3E15) - A A (2022
terms of seven years (2022: same). The terms of the leases FMER) HEGRITREEFA
also require the tenants to pay security deposits. TRRES -
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had total future 20234 20224612 A31H » K%
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating BEREEEEP T o MR AL L
leases with its tenants falling due as follows: HERTIHEIBz RRKERE

FEMGRIR RN T

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Within one year —F R 458 457
Between one to five years —Z2RF 1,733 1,949
Later than five years AF AR - 303
2,191 2,709

36 ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY 36 ERIEIFNEE

The carrying amount of assets pledged as security for ERERERNEENREBENT

borrowings are:

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Property, plant and equipment (Note (i)  #1% - &= K& & (1)) - 50,764
Note: B 5E
() Asat 31 December 2022, the Group’s buildings in Mainland () M2022F 128318 AEER
China with carrying values of HK$50,764,000 were pledged AR B A b BR TE {E 50,764,000 % 7T
to bank to secure for bank borrowings with outstanding WEFERTRITIUNRSELEAR
amount of HK$11,260,000. 11,260,000 8 TLEVERITHE 3K
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37 BEBARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the W— A BN EESEEESN S -7
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or NS TEM G REERARER
exercise significant influence over the other party in making EAFEN AEFHRBE@EE -
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered WMERFXLAREHNZTHAZTATEE
to be related if they are subject to common control or HIIEE 75 TR 4R /5 B R e o

common significant influence.

The Group is controlled by C-MER Group Limited M2023F 128310 AEEXHLK
(incorporated in the BVI), the ultimate holding company, ERARFEEBRAR LA (REE
which owns 54.2% of the Company’s shares as at 31 BB EMA) ZF AR
December 2023. The ultimate controlling party of the Group NE)54.2% B o A K BER &R
is Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI. 7RI E R .

Name of related parties Relationship with the Company

S BB RN 0] R

C-MER Group Limited Ultimate holding company

FHEEFRAA BARER AT

Maida Medical Software Development Common controlling shareholder (Dr. Dennis LAM)
(Shenzhen) Limited
BERBERYERAE (RN BERAT EHEIERRE (RIEEE L)

Project Vision Charitable Foundation Common directors (Dr. Dennis LAM)

Limited

SEIRESESERAR HREAZEE (MRIEEE)

Health Hope International Medical Common directors (Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI) and an associate
Laboratory Limited company of the Group

RO (BR) BRA A HAZEE MEFEERTZT) RAEBMNEZE QT

Health Hope Pharma Limited Common controlling shareholder (Dr. Dennis LAM) and common

directors (Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI)
FEBEFRAA HEERBR R (KBS E) RARES (KMIEHEERTZL)
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 37 BEARS (5
(a) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the () BEeMBHRREME D2 &
consolidated financial statements, the Group has the BEN AEEHEBBTET
following transactions with related parties: S

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FETT FET
Ophthalmic services provided to ) — B B A AR R AR B}
a related company Rk %5
— Project Vision Charitable —mREIREEES
Foundation Limited BRAA 135 149
Management fee income from RE A RN ER
a related company BIA
— Project Vision Charitable —mBEIREEESR
Foundation Limited BRAA 114 114
Management fee income from an e[ QRN EE
associate BIA
— Health Hope International Medical ~ — & #=#8 (B %)
Laboratory Limited BRAF 2,487 18,078
2,601 18,192
Lease payments to a related company 3z~ ¥ — R B A &) 89
HES
— Maida Medical Software —EEEERE
Development (Shenzhen) Limited ORI BBR AR 8,258 10,242
The management fee income is received for the BB WA TR & B A B
administrative services provided by the Group to 77 IR A1 T BUE TR AR 7% i YA o
the related parties. The ophthalmic service income, BERBUA BEREBRAR
management fee income and lease payments were MEERRE A S = R
determined based on the terms mutually agreed 77 R E M GRETE °

between the Group and the related parties.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A




37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Key management compensation

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR

37 BEEAXRS (@)
(b) TEEEAEFHH

Year ended 31 December
BZEZ12A31BILLEE

2023 2022

2023 2022 %

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F#T

Fees, wages, salaries, bonus we - TE FHe - L4 14,634 14,982
Retirement benefits costs — defined BRIREFIK AR — EREHK

contribution scheme HE| 72 72

Allowances and benefits in kind AL R EEF 793 776

Share-based payments VAR 17 B E 58 B9 15 38 159 432

15,658 16,262

Year-end balances with related parties (c) EEREAMTERER

(c)

Amounts due from associates

— Health Hope International Medical

As at 31 December
MW12H31H
2023 2022

2022 %

HK$000

FET

2023
HK$’000
FET

e — = BB 07 5RIR
— AR (B AR

Laboratory Limited (Note (i) ~al (fFEEG) 3,973 5,731
— C-MER RainsOptics Limited —C-MER RainsOptics
(Note (ii) Limited (Bt &£ (i) 1,104 1,008
5,077 6,739
Notes: 5
()  The balances are unsecured, interest-free and (i) EBlEHAERT 2B KA

repayable on demand and are denominated in HK$

RERER  WABTRAR

and RMB. BEtE -
(i) The balances are unsecured, repayable on demand and (iy BHELEHRAEIER . ELEX

are denominated in HK$. The balances are interest-
free, except for principal of HK$96,000 with interest
rate of 1-month HIBOR+2% per annum.

BERIABTTEE - ZFEH
AR B MEARE96,00078 7T
AVE R B BIRITRZER SN
2% Z R BRI
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38 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

To expand the Group’s healthcare services network in Hong
Kong, the Group entered into the following transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2022:

0

(iii)

On 19 January 2022, the Group completed the
acquisition of 100% of the equity interests in
Champion Eye Centre Limited (“Champion Eye"),
a company that operates ophthalmic clinics in Hong
Kong, from independent third parties and the
consideration was paid by allotment and issue of
8,790,000 shares of the Company (their value being
approximately equivalent to HK$50,367,000).

On 19 January 2022, the Group completed the
acquisition of 60% of the equity interests in The
Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited (“OPT"), a company
that operates optometry centres in Hong Kong, from
independent third parties, for a total consideration
of HK$34,500,000 (comprising of an acquisition
price of HK$13,800,000 and a shareholder’s loan of
HK$20,700,000 provided to OPT).

On 17 February 2022, the Group completed the
investment of 61.5% equity interests of Shenzhen
Aikangjian Group Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries
("Shenzhen CKJ Group”), a company that operates
dental clinics in the Mainland China, at a total
consideration of RMB430,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$517,590,000) (comprising of a consideration
of RMB380,500,000 and capital contribution of
RMB50,000,000 in cash). As at 31 December 2022,
the Group’s 55% equity interests in Shenzhen CKJ
Group were pledged as security for the payment of
consideration to the seller. The security was released
subsequently upon fulfilment of payment obligations
by the Group.

38 ¥EKEHt
BIEAEERNEENEERERE
Mg REBRE E2022912 A 31
AIEFEETUTRS

(i)

(iii)

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEEZERER AT

72022918198 AEE5w
BRUEBYE = WE SRR
PLAERAT ((EERR) &
100% e #E - Z A RN BB L&
REIZ2H REBBAKHE K
777N X 7] 8,790,000 A% I& 17 (EH
EE# & 1 50,367,000 JT)
XAt e

R2022F 1190 AEE =
ALY L 88 = 7 WK BB 1R S Bl B
BRep D AR AR ([18 605 R
) B160% %4 - 2 A R
EBLEERBIRSL AL - BRE
/534,500,000 7T (B IEWEE
13,800,000 7% 7T & 17 fi T 18 S Al
AR 0w AR B B 3£ 20,700,000
BIT) e

MN2022F 281780 AEE %
REFNERRER (—HER
R S IF B2 R A R
H61.5%KRERE BREAR
A R #430,500,0007T (A% R
517,590,000/ 7t) (BEHKE A
R #380,500,000 T R IR £ 5 &
A R #50,000,0007T) ° #2022
F12A318  AEERFEIE
JBE £ £ 8] #9 55% A% 4 7 1K 4
ERMBEASINRENER-
EABEREASEERBITNRE
T 18 BRBR -
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e EHRRME
38 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 38 ¥EBKEHt @

(iv)  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group (iv) EZE2022F12A31HIEFE -
completed the acquisition of several clinics that AEETKETRBYIE=7
provide clinical research, dental and other medical Wb % e BB IR L ER R 58 -
services in Hong Kong (“Other clinics”), from 7R R H A B R AR 2P
different independent third parties, at a total cash (THM2ZF])  2RasREA
consideration of HK$27,572,000. 27,572,000 JT °
The following table summarises the consideration paid HZE2022F12A31HIEFE
and the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities MU A H R E (R E
assumed recognised at the acquisition dates during FrkiEEERAEBEDSS
the year ended 31 December 2022. R ERB A -

Shenzhen
Champion OPT  CKJ Group Other clinics
Eye As at As at As at acquired
19 January 19 January 17 February during
2022 2022 2022 the year
18 SR w
ZERR BRFL ERESE
20225 R2022%F  R20225  FRKEL
1A19H 1A19H 2R17RH HiZ st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET & FETL
Consideration RE
Cash bk - 34,500 517,590 27,572 579,662
Allotment of shares o g i in
(Note) (F5E) 50,367 - - - 50,367
50,367 34,500 517,590 27,572 630,029
Note: The fair value of the 8,790,000 shares allotted as part M3t AR 3% 8,790,000 A% I& (7 1E &
of the consideration paid for acquisition of Champion YRWEEEREIMNE D
Eye (HK$50,367,000) was based on the published A& (50,367,000 7T) 19
share price of the Company of approximately HK$5.73 ANTEEIERAEER
per share. AR B B 5,738 7T -
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38 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 38 K&/t

Shenzhen
Champion Eye Other clinics
R R
Asat Asat

Date of completion of 19 January 19 January 17 February

the acquisition 2022 2022 2022
R202F R00E RN0E
AL 14198 17198 2R17R ;
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 [ HK$'000

Recognised amounts of identifiable 7 45| FT IS B R fié
assets acquired and liabilities EEENERDLE

assumed
- Property, plant and equipment %1% - R R&E 2485 278 116,450 662 119,875
- Right-of-use assets -FREEE 7,609 2,609 70,110 2207 82,555
- Investment properties -RENE - - 14,298 - 14,298
- Intangible assets -BlEE - - 79 - 79
- Brand name -RELR ) - - 289911 - 289911
- Cash and cash equivalents -BERBLEED 18,969 1,945 27,087 A 48,742
- Trade receivables -E SRR 817 762 875 646 3,100
- Deposits, prepayments and -%%  BATERE
otfer receivables fEEE 2268 21395 58,650 448 82,761
- Inventories -k& 4,684 1,360 4831 57 10,932
- Trade payables -BSENFE (%67) (755) (5,09) - (6,814)
- Acaualsand other payables  —[Eif BB RALER
B (10477) (1,625) @271 (1,254) (56,067)
- Borrowings ~f3 - - (16,832) - (16,832)
- Lease liabilities -HE&E (7839) (2,629) (74912) (2,280) (87,660)
- Deferred income tax liabiltes ~ — B EHERE - - (12,478) - (12478)
- Current income tax liabilites ~ —~HIEAFTEH & (2.801) 1) (666) (656) (4,164)
Total identifiable net assets AHAFEELR 14,748 23299 369,600 591 408238
Non-controling interests FERER (i) - (9,320) (142,296) (175) (151,791)
Goodwil e (i) 35,619 20521 290,286 27,15 373582
Total consideration BRE 50,367 34,500 517,590 2751 630,029
Acquisition-related costs WEERRERE (i) 149 83 60 37 329
Net cash outflow on acquisiton ~~ WEHR & 158
Cash paid during the year ended ~ HAEZE 202412318
31 December 2022 HEEEMRE - - 108,327 2757 135,89
less: Cashand cash equivalents i FTEB 2 RS
acquired &7 (18,969) (1,945) (27,087) (741) (48,742)
(18,969) (1,945) 81,240 26,831 87,157
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38 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company

have

settled the consideration payable for prior year

acquisition of approximately HK$7,170,000 and the
total cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash
acquired, during the year is approximately HK$94,327,000.

Notes:

(@

(ii)

(iii)

Brand name

The brand name arising from business combination
represents the reputation and established brand that is
widely recognised by public in the dental industry. None of
the brand name recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests were recognised at their
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of identifiable
net assets.

Goodwill

The goodwill arises from a number of factors including
expected synergies through leveraging the expertise and
reputation of the Group, the local knowledge and experience
of the acquirees and the established workforce including
ophthalmologists, local doctors, dentists and supporting staff.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible
for income tax purposes.

R IR

38 ¥KE/tm
HE2022F12A31HIEFE AR

cifs)

BN E—FERBHENREL

7,170,000 7T » i 4 ;A Ug B8 B BB 2 A
MEMBRSERE (HBAERS)0A
94,327,000 7T °

B

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

e B
RE% 6 0F M E £ fhE 2 s E
FRITENRARBELERE -
T A P RE AR BY dn B8 5 RE AR T BE ORI
FR1SHL

IR
FEFE MR i 2R Th R Ho ) 0 4 AT R F
BENDHERDEER -

(G5

HEDRZERNZEL  BEMNA
AEBEWNEZNBLBRE FHE
TR E A R R S A M BEE &
N(BREEMELE  ZEHEL - T8
R 8 T) 78 B2 A /0 155 (R 8HE o
EERHEBEHMMERM = EH
R
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38 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs represent legal and professional
fees incurred to effect the business combinations. Total
acquisition-related costs amounted to HK$329,000 which
is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Revenue and profit contribution

Champion Eye contributed revenue of approximately
HK$150,773,000 and net profit of approximately
HK$3,429,000 to the Group since acquisition date to 31
December 2022. OPT contributed revenue of approximately
HK$22,253,000 and net profit of approximately
HK$3,486,000 to the Group since acquisition date to
31 December 2022. Shenzhen CKJ Group contributed
revenue of approximately HK$124,962,000 and net loss of
approximately HK$38,626,000 to the Group since acquisition
date to 31 December 2022. Other clinics contributed
revenue of approximately HK$11,875,000 and net profit of
approximately HK$182,000 to the Group since acquisition
date to 31 December 2022. For the year ended 31 December
2022, had the business combinations taken place at 1
January 2022, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income would show pro-forma revenue and net loss of
approximately HK$1,749,105,000 and HK$55,820,000,
respectively.

38 K&/t

ME ()

(iv)

(v)

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

Uy B AR A R A

AU BRI A I SR R T & BF P
SIBEERREXER - B AR
Pk 7N #858329,00058 7T+ i SERE
£2022F 12 A3MHIEFENEFEE
EEBARP AR -

W2 & FEE R
ZERMEKERBRBE2022F
1NAMBAASHEERMKEY
150,773,000 7% 7T & F 8 F 2 4
3,429,000 7% 7T ° 5% % A0 B BR AR 0
BUE B E2022F12A31H
B L EE Bk 422,253,000 7
JC K FI) B % 8 49 3,486,000 T ©
RNERBEEBGREASRES
20221231 B AAEE T B K
Z5#9124,962,000 78 7T M BB FEE L
38,626,000 7% JT ° H 402 it B U g
BHEI# E2022F12A31H AL E
E & Bt Uz #911,875,000 7% 7T M 7
8% 2 49182,00078 7T ° A £ 2022
F12A31BEFE - iWE 12022
F1RAI1B#ETEBEN  AGes
EWAERBED RIS REEREFE
#91,749,105,000% 7t & 55,820,000
PETT
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39 SUBSIDIARIES 39 BT
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 AN AR2023F12831HNEEN
December 2023: =N B

Company name

LAER

C-MER Eye Care Medical Group

Limited

AERNEREEERAA

C-MER Eye Care Group Limited

AERMEEBRAA

Hong Kong (International) Eye Care

Group Limited

2 (BER) BHEREREARA

Hong Kong C-MER International
Eye Care Group (China) Limited

3

ERABERRNEREE(PE)

AR

Shenzhen C-MER Dennis Lam Eye

Hospital*

R F BRI ER

Beijing C-MER Dennis Lam Eye

Hospital Co., Ltd.*

IRFBHIEIRNER
ARAR

Place of incorporation/

establishment and
kind of legal entity

AR,/ R

RERERER

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRITRE/
EMEARFE

The BV, limited liability company 2,000 ordinary shares

ABRKEE ARALAT

US$2,000
2,000 1% & @A
2,000% 7T

The BVI, limited liability company 2,000 ordinary shares

ABRKES ARALAT

Hong Kong, limited liability

company

R BRALERT

Hong Kong, limited liability

company

8 BRELAT

Mainland China, wholly foreign

owned enterprise

EM HNEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign

owned enterprise

RN NEBELE

US$2,000
2,000k LR
2,000% 7T

10,000 ordinary shares
HK$10,000

10,000 LBk
10,0001

500,000 ordinary shares
HK$500,000
500,000 & i
500,0007% 7T

RMB112,500,000
(2022;
RMB104,000,000)
AR 112,500,000 7
(202%F: \R¥
104,000,0007T)

RMB60,000,000

AR 60,000,000 7T

Effective interest

held by the Company
NGl g Principal activities/
BERE: place of operation
Directly Indirectly FEEH/
EE B =EEHY
100% - Investment holding,
Hong Kong

RESR &R

100% - Investment holding,
Hong Kong
REZER B4

- 100%  Provision of ophthalmic

service, Hong Kong

RERRRS - £E

- 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
service, Hong Kong

RERRRS  £E

- 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRT -+

ki)

- 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRR -
i
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39 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company name

NEER

Shenzhen Xinan C-MER Dennis Lam
Eye Hospital*

AR BB IR b *
Shenzhen C-MER Optical Trading Co.,
Ltd.*
ANEERAEFARAA*
Shenzhen Xinan C-MER Optical
Trading CO., Ltd*
AFLFEEXEFERAR

Kunming Eye Hospital*

ERRMER (BRAR)

Huizhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye

Hospital Co., Ltd*

BMABHIEBRNER

ARAA*

Shanghai Lucida Medical Scientific

Ltd. *

LERARBRSAMNR
BRRA

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

kind of legal entity
MR/ Y b5
REERRER

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

FEM SNEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

PEM NEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

EM HNEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

RN SNEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

PEMY NEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

EM NEBELE

39

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital

BRAIRE/
AMEAE

RMB20,000,000

AK#20,000,00070

RMB1,000,000

AK1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

AK1,000,0007C

RMB51,400,000

AR 51,400,007

RMB28,500,000
(2022: RMB23,000,000)

AR 28,500,0007T
(2002F : \R¥
23,000,0007T)

RMB74,474,100
(2022: RMB55,974,100)

AE#74,4741007T
(2002F : \R#
55,974,100 7%

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

[Vop=NGIRE

Effective interest
held by the Company
ARFE
BRER
Directly Indirectly
B S

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 80%

- 70%

- 100%

Principal activities/
place of operation
TEER/
EENEY

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RIS - &
it

Sales of eyewear and
eye care products,
Mainland China

HERSRRENERE
e FER

Sales of eyewear and
eye care products,
Mainland China

HERSRRENERE
@ RER

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RIS - &
i

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRT -+
il

Sales of medical
products, Mainland
China

HEREER H
Qi
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39 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company name

NEER

Shanghai C-MER Vision Eye Hospital
Co,, Ltd.*

LEABRARNBRBRAA

Zhuhai C-MER Dennis Lam Eye
Hospital Co., Ltd.*

RERBHIERRMER
ARAA*

Guangzhou Yue Xiu Economic
Development Ltd.*

ENEEEERRARRA

C-MER Dental Limited (formerly
known as D-MER Dental Limited)

EBTRARAR (ABEAETH
SEBRAR)

C-MER Family Medicine Center
(Shatin) Limited

ABFEBENO(VE)BRAR

CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre
Ltd.

CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre
Ltd.

Pro-Dental Limited

EEFHBBERAE]

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

kind of legal entity
MR/ Y b5
REERRER

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

PEM SNEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

EMY NEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

TEHBBELR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&R BRLT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&R BRLT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&R BRLH

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

A ARAH

39

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRARE/
HRERFE

RMB48,000,000

(2022: RMB40,000,000)

ARH48,000,0007
(2025 : AR¥
40,000,000 7C)

RMB17,429,234

AE#17,429.2347

RMB10,000,000

AKX 10,000,007
HK$10,000,000
10,000,000 70
HK$10,000,000
(2022: HK$10)

10,000,000 7
(202F :10%7)

HK$100

10087

HK$300,000

300,0007% 7T

R IR

[Vop=NGIRE D

Effective interest
held by the Company
ARFE
BRER
Directly Indirectly
B S

- 100%

Principal activities/
place of operation
TEER/
EENEY

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REREERS P&
i

- 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRY - R E
ki)

- 100%  Property holding,
Mainland China
BEWE  TERM

- 100%  Provision of dental
service, Hong Kong

RUTHERS BE

- 80%  Provision of family
medicine service,
Hong Kong

REFERERE -

R

Provision of dental
service, Hong Kong

RHTRIR - B

- 60%

Provision of dental
service, Hong Kong

TR - B

- 90%
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39 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company name

NEER

EON Healthcare Holdings Limited

BRBRERARAF

Guangzhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye
Hospital Co., Ltd.*

BNABHIEBRHNERER

A7

Fuzhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye
Hospital Co., Ltd.*

BMABRIEHRMSAD
ARAA*

Jieyang C-MER Dennis Lam Eye
Hospital Co., Ltd. *

BEABHIERRNBERER

NG

Foshan C-MER Dennis Lam Eye
Hospital Co., Ltd.*

BILFEHIERRR R
BRAA)*

C-MER Family Medicine Center

(Taiwai) Limited

FBREEER L (KE)BRAR]

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

kind of legal entity
MR/ Y b5
REERRER

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

AR :ING

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

PEMY NEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

PEM NEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

PEMY NEBELE

Mainland China, wholly foreign
owned enterprise

FEA NEBELE

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&R BRLH

39

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRARE/
HRERFE

HK$100

10057
RMB62,500,000
(2022: RMB50,000,000)
AE62,500,0007T
(202F : \R¥
50,000,0007T)

RMB20,000,000
AE20,000,0007T
RMB41,000,000
(2022: RMB35,000,000)
AE41,000,0007T
(2002F : \R#
35,000,0007T)

RMB39,000,000
(2022: RMB20,000,000)

AR #39,000,000 7T
(2022F : A\R#
20,000,0007T)

HK$100,000

100,000 7

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

[Vop=NGIRE

Effective interest
held by the Company
ARFE
BRER
Directly Indirectly
B S

- 70%

- 100%

- 70%

- 100%

- 100%

- 80%

Principal activities/
place of operation
TEER/
EENEY

Provision of medical
aesthetic service,
Hong Kong

REBEXARE -
BB

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRT -+
il

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RARMRE - T
it

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RARMRE - &
it

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRR -
A

Provision of family
medicine service,
Hong Kong

RUEREZRRTY -
Bk
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39 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39 MBAT @
Effective interest
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued  held by the Company
establishment and share capital/ NGl g Principal activities/
kind of legal entity registered capital ERER place of operation
Company name ML/ L BRTRA/  Directly Indirectly FEEH/
GIEL REEERER HRERFE EE B SEHY
The Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability HK$125,000 - 60%  Sales of eyewear and
company eye care products,
Hong Kong
BADBRRLERLFA BE BRAF 125,000 HERERRSERE
mEA
Champion Eye Centre Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2,400 - 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
company service, Hong Kong
RERRAOARAA BB BARRF 2,400 7T REBRRY 58
Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental  Mainland China, wholly foreign RMB62,836,647 - 61.5%  Provision of dental
Group Co., Ltd.* owned enterprise service, Mainland
China
A EEEREOREEERLA REN  NEBELE ANE62,836,647 T R\ TFRRE - PE
i

* English translation is for identification purpose only. The
English names of the group companies incorporated in
Mainland China represent the best efforts by management of
the Group in translating their Chinese names as they do not

* RXHEERBN - BARERHEA

st 3% B ST ) S 2 S A B
e REXEBAAREER
BEEASHRELS X LEEE
Tk -

have official English names.
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e BImRMEE
40 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 40 FEERER
(@) Summarised financial information of (a) EARIFFERRELHBEE I
material non-controlling interest &H
Set out below are summarised financial information ATESRERN A IS E REO B
for Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group Co., SEERA RN BER
Ltd. which has non-controlling interest (“NCI”) that RERBEHAEBRMEBERXR
is material to the Group. The amounts disclosed are RIFEIERR i =S ([ IR iR ) -
before inter-company eliminations. TREENSBAETAAM
HIHAWET -
Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group Co., RN FBEEROBEEEER
Ltd AF
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Total non-current assets IEREEELLTE 444,789 454,742
Total current assets MEEEER 173,754 69,225
Total non-current liabilities ERBBERRE (124,133) (123,923)
Total current liabilities mENBELR (107,033) (78,252)
Net assets BEFE 387,377 321,792
Accumulated NC| ZET TR ER 149,140 123,890

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE(FE)
Revenue A 384,734 124,962
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) RAFIE (B8 85 65,584 (39,211)
Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI DB E FEIEAR I Y
FE, (&) 25,250 (15,096)
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mEMBHRERMEE
40 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued) 40 FEEERAER (5
(@) Summarised financial information of (a) KI5 AR AE S HO L RE B 75
material non-controlling interest (Continued) e 16
Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group Co., F#BEEROBEEEER
Ltd (Continued) 2 E ()

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE
2023 2022

2023 F 2022 €
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FETT

Cash flows generated from/(used in) &2 EEATE,(FTH)

operating activities RenE 124,507 (13,501)
Cash flows generated from/(used in) & ESFTE,(FTH)
investing activities REeEnRE 3,904 (1,246)
Cash flows generated from/(used in) ~ BRE EBFTS,(FTH)
financing activities BeReE 9,030 (2,281)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and Re RIEeSEYILIN
cash equivalents OB FEE 137,441 (17,028)
As at 31 December 2023, all the cash and bank 7202312 A318 & INF5IH
balances of Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group EREROBESEEERRAAMEA
Co., Ltd were held in Mainland China. These cash and Be MRTESRHEYRPEAH
bank balances are subject to the rules and regulations BE ZERELBITEBRT
of foreign exchange control promulgated by Mainland PR 7A HP B A 3 DR AT A8 45 1 S BE
China Government (2022: same). EHIFRE AR F (2022 F : FHE) »
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e IR

40 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued)
(b) Transaction with non-controlling interest

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has the
following transactions with non-controlling interest:

40 FFIERRER (@)
(b) BEEFEREZKS
B4R & B T8 R 3R H 4t 50 5 BT %
B &4 - 7N £ B IE 1 A
BTHXS:

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLEE
2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Interest expenses to a non-controlling 3z~ ¥ — 42 JE 2 B #E 25 Y

interest (Note 10) B (M&E10)
— Huizhou City Changjiu Investment ~ —EJNTHRARE
Co., Ltd. BR QA 396 417

These transactions were conducted in the normal
course of business at prices and terms mutually agreed
between the parties involved.

ZERGINIERRBBERESR
REBBEINTHEEHREZE
1% R AR ETT

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e EHRRME
40 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued) 40 FEERREZS (@)
(c) Year-end balances with non-controlling () FERBEZFREAHE

interest

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2023 2022
PIPEE:S 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Non-current FEENER
Loans from non-controlling interests ~ 3F1ZAX#E w8 B X
— Huizhou City Changjiu —HEMNTRAKRESR
Investment Co., Ltd (Note (i) EENEIICEIO) - 7,415
— Individual shareholders of — B KEMERIRF LA
The Optometry (OPT) R~ &1 A & A A%
Centre Limited (Note (ii)) R (B EEGD) 13,800 13,800
13,800 21,215
Current B &R
Loan from non-controlling interest FEIERE R E R
— Huizhou City Changjiu —BINTRAKRES
Investment Co., Ltd (Note (i) IR~ E] (5L () 7.612 -
Amounts due to non-controlling FE A< FETE AR M 2 1B
interests (Note (iii) (B & i) ) 3,331 154,704
Notes: B 5
()  The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 6% (2022: i) EHERXRUNEETFENEE%
6%) per annum. It is unsecured, repayable in 2024 (20224 : 6%) 5t B ° Z
and denominated in RMB. BEE - BR2024F EE
RIAANREERE -
(i)  The loans are unsecured, interest-free, repayable in (i) FBEEFRREIER 28 A
2026 and denominated in HK$. 722026 FEE R AETTEHE ©
(i) The balances are unsecured, repayable on demand and (i) FEAEGRREER AREKR
are denominated in HK$ and RMB. The balances are BERAETRARESE -
interest-free, except for principal of HK$800,000 with FHRERREE EXASTE
interest rate of 1-month HIBOR+1.4% per annum. 800,000 7T LA 1 {6 A & 4 8
TRIZEFREMERE. 4% &t
BERIN o
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e IR

41 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is as follows:

41 REELATHNER

REFAMBARKRERN BT

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 4F

HK$000 HK$°000

FET FAET

At 1 January m1B1H 41,962 24,814
Dividend received B Y% B - (20,651)
Share of profit A E R 2,852 37,799
At 31 December M12H31H 44,814 41,962

The associates are private companies and there is no quoted
market price available for its shares.

Management assessed that the Group has significant
influence but not control over the associates, as such, they
are accounted for associates of the Group under equity
method.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interests in the associates.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance due from associates
amounted to HK$5,077,000 (2022: HK$6,739,000).

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A

BENBSMART  EROALES
LE -

EEREENEASEEBENRAE

FENEEEGE A ZFH
BRANEREARSARERZE A
ET o

o B S B ) 2 5
ZHAEE -

sl

M2023F 12 A31H - EUEZ QN
T4 84 55,077,000 7T (2022 4 -
6,739,000 7T) °
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INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is as follows:

R IR

42 R—EEELENER

REFAMBARRKER 2 BWT

2023

2023 &

HK$’000

FET

At 1 January B1A18 -
Addition NE 47,536
Share of profit A E R 312
At 31 December M12A831H 47,848

On 6 October 2023, the Group completed the acquisition
of 55% of the equity interest of a company in Hong Kong
("Joint Venture”). Under the acquisition agreement, an
unanimous consent in the board is required in relation
to decisions about the relevant activities. Management
assessed that the shareholders have equal voting rights and
joint control over the Joint Venture, as such, it is accounted
for joint venture of the Group under equity method.

The consideration was settled by way of an issuance
of a long-term bond of RMB50,490,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$47,536,000), which bears interest of
2% per annum and repayable in three years. As at 31
December 2023, long-term bond payable with carrying
amount of RMB45,291,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$49,638,000) is included in non-current other payables.

The Joint Venture is a private company and there is no
guoted market price available for its shares.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in the joint venture.

R2023F1086H » AEB TR UK
BE-—EEEAR([EELE])55%K
o RIBWE RS BEEEESH
REBARKESE—HRAE EEEE
IR REAECEREE T ERER
R AR PRSI - AL - HIREERE
ANRALEBEEDRE -

RAE LA 217 A R 50,490,000 7T (48
B R #)47,536,0008 T) 2 REIE S
ARSI ZEFHFIRFFE2%ET
B WER=FAEE - 12023F12
A318  BREEAARE45,291,000
7t (M8 % 7 4949,638,000 7% 7T ) #) & Hf
FERTESHET ASEM B A b FERT5RIE o

BECERMARR  EEROIED
BRE -

AEERBGERRE BRI AR K
REE-
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e IR

43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43 7B B AR R &

COMPANY
As at 31 December
M®12H31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS &gE
Non-current asset IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETBRARRIKE 59,522 59,522
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE Uk B B8 2 ) 308 1,699,800 1,759,020
Financial asset at fair value through ¥Z A F{Ezt ABIEH & Rl
profit or loss BE 11,748 22,484
Prepayments and other receivables T8/ 508 I H th f& KGR IR 2,453 364
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMhBESEEY 369 1,002
e e icciceicceeicccecccaccooao... R 1714370 | 1,782,870 _
Total assets BwEE 1,773,892 1,842,392
EQUITY DR
Equity attributable to equity KAFEREEAEML
holders of the Company =
Share capital f& A< 125,556 126,656
Reserves A 43(a) 1,609,992 1,681,133
_Totalequity wEm 1735548 1,807,789
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities REBEaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEFB B A B FE 34,444 30,721
Accruals and other payables FERT B A I E b FE A 5R08 3,900 3,882
_Total liabilities ] e\ 38344 . 34,603
Total equity and liabilities HWEZREE 1,773,892 1,842,392
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43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

43

R IR

FiNUNEIE: 0L b 37 O S

(C) NN

ANHERE

Contributed  Share-based

Share Treasury surplus ~ payment  Accumulated
premium shares (Note (i) reserve |osses Total
AR NROAER
RGGE  BERG (WG WBEFEE  ZHER gt
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000
As at 1 January 2022 R202%1818 1,086,722 - 57,617 26,950 (70.839) 1,100,450
Loss for the year EREE - - - - (37.131) (37.131)
Issuance of shares BT (B2 2400000 R i)
(Note 24(a)(i) and (ii) 645,623 - - - - 645,623
lssuance of shares upon exercise of BN AR ERIERIEES
pre-PO share options (Note 26) {PRF TR (H3E26) 785 - - - - 785
Purchase of own shares (Note 24(b) %8 BFR 1 (M5 24(0)) - (29.927) - - - (29.927)
Share-based payment expenses WD BERN AR
(Note 26) (Mf3t26) - - - 1333 - 1333
As at 31 December 2022 R202E128318 1,733,130 (29,927) 57,617 28,283 (107,970) 1,681,133
Loss for the year ERER - - - = (14,220) (14,220)
Cancelation of shares (Note 24(a)Gil) 55 $4R(H (Fit2E 24(aii) (40,531) 41,631 = o - 1,100
Purchase of own shares (Note 24(b) % BF 1 (M5 24(0)) - (58,294) - - - (58,294)
Share-based payment expenses R BERN AR
(Note 26 and 27) (Hfs26 527) - - - m - m
As at 31 December 2023 R0BE12A31A 1,692,599 (46,590) 57,617 28,556 (122,190) 1,609,992
Note: BT 5T -
(i)  As part of the reorganisation in preparation for (i) EREH ELTMMETHNER
listing, the Company acquired interests in subsidiaries ) — &5 - ARFIR2016%F

comprising the Group and assets and liabilities of
the operating business from Dr. Dennis LAM and
Ms. Li in 2016. As the reorganisation was regarded
as a continuation of the operating business under
the subsidiaries comprising the Group, no fair value
was applied to the acquired subsidiaries interest
and assets and liabilities. The difference between
the consideration paid to the equity holder and the
original investment of the equity holder was recorded
as a contributed surplus.

A BB B8 A N L U
AEEBETHBARERE R
REEBNEENRAR -BR
EHEWRBRAANEEETHE
NRASEEBHIEE WX
RSP U RO B B R R M 2R
IREERBERRMAATE -
B EmFA A K(E LR
BHREAANRRERZHDN
ZRIBBARER -
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e IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

44.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(refer to Note 44.2).

Intercompany transactions, balances, and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

44
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BARK-
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or
joint control. This is generally the case where
the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The
classification depends on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor, rather than
the legal structure of the joint arrangement. The
Group has a joint venture.

(i) Joint ventures
Interests in joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method (see (d)
below), after initially being recognised
at cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investment is initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment loss)
identified on acquisition. Goodwill represents the
excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair
value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquired associates at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill arising on acquisitions of
associates is included in interests in associates
and are tested for impairment as part of overall
balance.

R IR

4 HMEFHREHME®E)

U1 B NREAIRESSR
BE ()

(b)

(0

(d)

BELT
B NREAEEREEE
FEHNBI T HEE
LR ENAE
B AEBEBFEH20% K
50% B —RAEES
A /N vl = P
RS HE 1T 1) 26 RE R 1R 5 B
ERETEANR (F2H
TXHEE(d)) ©

EEZH
RIEFBHM GRS ELSE
NMRELLH REEXR
BeRENEREBERR
FEEDRE - DEIURR
BREENBOENRE
%o MIERELPRIARE
MZRE - NEBEE [
BERE-

iy BEhRFE
RAZEERZERR
MPERARERE R
5 AR O 3R HE R AR DA
BEAEAR(RTX
() -

2%
RE#EESGE REY)
TR AER - AKER
B2 N E RS B S
Ry 58 5l B 7 B (0B (E )
REFREREE) -BEE
Uit 88 R A 7R M 7S S 1B 17 R
BHH >HERKEBRER
AR BRI EEFENAF
B - BBBHEARELD
AR AR S QR R
o WIFRBEERN —
BB HETTRUERIE, ©
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)

44.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

U1 B NREAIRESSR
BE ()

(d) Equity method (Continued) (d) #zHZL(E)

220

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss,
and the Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates and joint venture are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount
of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its
interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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R IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)

44.1 Principles of consolidation and equity 41 GEANRRAIRESZSE
accounting (Continued) B ()

(e) HEEREZZE

(e) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. A change in ownership interest results
in an adjustment between the carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests
to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in
a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence,
any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified or permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture
or an associate is reduced but joint control
or significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

7R 5 [ % T 28 B R SR AR
RHIFEBRERR S RAIE
EAEEESEES AN

5 BBEEESEEHEHY
R R R s AR (B
BY 38 B - DA S B R BT B
ARH R ER - JFIER
REAEHEETMDN
B R EZ B ER =
BRARBHEE AEHE
s EVB YRR AR

EASEAEERESE -
HEZEFIEKIERTZET
ﬁﬁf?lt%mm)\,ﬁrﬁji?ﬁ¢§
ABR—IBIRER REE
TR BERENGE
ZAEQNVE mMEEHESZ
BRIEGANBR HHR
ABRFIER & N Al & &
TrESIEHEENREE
=ME ZAFEAETR
AREE © BboN - R AT H
thEEKRARZEBER
BT 2 IR AR EH
PEELEFHMEELEA
BEHAAAR - EBERE
ﬁwmﬁ@iﬁ%A%
MeEEH T HEER
%%iLﬁE%M%ﬁ%
AERIPTIERASET A8 5 —
ERERA °

MR —Ea & bR S
REINEAEED R E
REKFRZEHAERTE
71 - BISE AR E A 2 E U
AERNEHEEE —EH
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.2 Business combination

4 HMEFHREHME®E)

44.2 £ 454

222

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred;

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in
the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 44 H4SHEEHRE @)
POLICIES (Continued)
44.2 Business combination (Continued) 44.2 £ 6t(8)
The excess of the: UT&BBEERE:

° consideration transferred;

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets
of the business acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rates used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently re-measured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquired entity is
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

o  FTHEEAME:

o MBKRBEEOMTMIFE
Brgas £8 0 &

o RIS AT IR BB
BHENWEE B RFE

BHEMBREA BN FEERF
BEMER - ARIMEEE - [
F & R P UL S X 15 6 A]
MEEEMNRFE IZESR
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e IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)

44.3 Separate financial statements

443 B /R

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost RE B R F AR E DIZK A
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable BRIBETIER - AR EREEE
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are JEhBR MBAREERA
accounted for by the Company on the basis of NARIRE W R AR B A ENER -
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries WA B RARMIREELENR
is required upon receiving a dividend from these BEHBBHEARREIRRE M

investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of

FH2EBARELMZRE
A8 S B 7 #R 3R A B0 B T (B R
BREETFEE (BERBE)

the investment in the separate financial statements REREMBREANRAE
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated AR ZEREBAEHZS
financial statements of the investee’s net assets WEETREAH -

including goodwill.

44.4 Segment reporting 44.4 5K E
Operating segments are reported in a manner KE DB ERE T N EREHT
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the TELERRENAR RS
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating A—H - ETBELERKEBRED

decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating BER  fHHEE DI RKRIR -
resources and assessing performance of the operating H M AELDERERKENOH
segments, has been identified as the executive TEE -

directors who make strategic decisions.

445 s E

(a) Functional and presentation currency (@) DERZHEHK
ltems included in the financial statements of REBEERBNIMBERE
each of the Group's entities are measured NEHFNWIEE  HiZZE
using the currency of the primary economic BAEMENEZ2LBR
environment in which the entity operates (the EMEE ([TheeaH]l) &t

44.5 Foreign currency translation

“functional currency”). The consolidated BoEMBmMEUABT
financial statements are presented in HK$, which E5 - MBILTARRFH
is the Company’s functional and the Group’s MEEBERAEENZER
presentation currency. B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)

POLICIES (Continued)
44.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

445 NI E (8)
(b)) XBRAZEH

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting

INER BIRZ 5 E AR
TERRE BN ER -
INER B EEE R IR FRE
KIE IV ENE

from the settlement of such transactions and BENMBEMRESENIMNE
from the translation at year-end exchange rates BEREZEEZHEBAKA
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated TR o

in foreign currencies are recognised in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to HEREBOIINERER

borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, within
finance cost. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a net
basis within “other losses, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using

,JE\/EEHQ)\%@J)\@?T%
B BT A H A SN E 2 B
BREEREEE2EBAR
SUATHAMERFRE] -

SN IR A T R B 9
N

the exchange rates at the date when the fair ZIEERME NS ERdl
value was determined. Translation differences ﬁEZéF&Eﬁ 2 T A=
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are ERARAFERZHE

reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at FVPL are recognised in profit or loss as
part of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as

EZ—E‘B% ol IEE
ﬁ%’ﬁ?&ﬁﬁ(ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
RNFEFARSE 2 )
ZER%%EBATEI@EEW 7
ﬂ?%ﬂﬁz S ER 2 — 8P

- MIFEBEE (Wn R

equities classified as FVOCI are recognised in E?ﬁ@zﬁﬁ FAEMEE
other comprehensive income. WAz =) 2ERZERE
RE A 2 E R AFER ©
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e IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)

POLICIES (Continued)

44.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

445 NI E (8)

226

(@

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group's entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy), that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each statement of

(9]

EFR A
HRDEEE RN 2R
EBNAREETHAE
BOEEERREER
ME®) HXELMTB
RRBIMT B ERE
WE

)y BHBRKRMZS

financial position presented are translated BERBERMBR
at the closing rate at the date of that SR B HAUT BE 24
statement of financial position; i

(i) income and expenses for each statement

(i) HEEBEARHEA

of comprehensive income are translated LA EFHEER
at average exchange rates (unless this g (BRI FHE=X
average is not a reasonable approximation TRAGEHHIER

of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are

MR 5 HHmTTE
R RFTHE AT
BRI A K
XERERZEBREX
BwmE) &

(i) FTEMLLEENER

recognised in other comprehensive EEREMETEIA
income. R o

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the
associated exchange differences are reclassified
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4 FERAEHEIZBRERA A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(@

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising are recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that
is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest
in associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or
joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

R IR

4 HMEFHREHME®E)

445 NI E (8)
() EFRAFE)

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)

44.6 Investment properties

44.6 REYE

228

Investment properties, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, are held for long-term rental
yields, and that are not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the carrying
amount of the asset only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the asset will
flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Investment properties are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any.
They are depreciated using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives or over the unexpired
periods of the leases, whichever is shorter.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 44
POLICIES (Continued)

44.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

HMS5BHEEE @)

447 kR EERE

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an

R K R HA A A AR
FEELEEE BAEASFE
ﬁiJEWE‘E'J*T A EHRIE
NEEFENEAERE AR
SRE T RER S - K&
ERAEHRBEREBHBRE
[ B 7] /8 ) W Bl B 5 178U E
AH - BEBREREERETE
HEHE AT Bl © 5 2 IR o
AEeEREEZ A FER

asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in HEKAEGFHEBEMES 2
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets BeaE o RERER BER
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are AREELBRRHEMEENE

separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.

EAMNNRERACREELE
1__L) E’]Tﬁﬁ%‘gj@?ﬂjfﬁﬁ AR &
BEXDHE - BEEI - 2L
MENFTREEES RS H
RBUBMER & AT AL I TIRET ©

44.8 Investments and other financial assets UM RERHMEMEE
(a) Classification (a) 7
The Group classifies its financial assets in the PN I}EL‘AT%’%?E%U )
following measurement categories: TREEETHE

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

o HRBRRAFEGEA
Hi 2w A - KET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.8 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at FVOCl.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership. Receivables are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial asset carried at FVPL are expensed in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

44
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.8 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt

instruments

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in
“other losses, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

44

R IR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.8 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt

instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
revenue and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised
in “other losses, net”. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other losses, net”
and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented in “other losses, net” in the
period in which it arises.

44
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.8 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(9]

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at
FVPL are recognised in “other losses, net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as applicable.
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment losses

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3 for further details.

44

R IR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)

44.9 Offsetting financial instruments

449 EKEESMT A

234

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when the Group currently has
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

44.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first out (“FIFO") method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

44.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from clients,
commercial companies and local government for
services rendered and goods sold in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair values
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

44.12 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)
44.13 Share capital 44.13 B 7

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a
share buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to the owners of the
Company as treasury shares until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are
subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net
of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

Shares held by the Company Employee Share Trust are
disclosed as treasury shares and deducted from equity.

44.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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e IR

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 44

POLICIES (Continued)
44.15 Other payables

Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

44.16 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
the year in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.17 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits that are expected to
be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in
respect of employees’ services up to the end of
the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as
accruals and other payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior
periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan
that is not a defined contribution plan.

For defined contribution plans, the Group
pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 44 HMEFBERBE@)
POLICIES (Continued)
44.17 Employee benefits (Continued) 417 EEER (8)
(c) Bonus entitlements (c) TFEALEF

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on a formula that takes
into consideration the profit attributable to
the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

44.18 Share-based payments

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Group operates equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which
the entity receives services from grantees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

AEEREBEEEBEFD
ETHBEROARARR
FEAE FIE By~ L HE R AEAL
MEERAX AKER
BERHNEERBBEMN
EB| B E B AER S i
R -

418 AR A EB IR

(a)

U EURGBE
H#BNHXEZ
AEERAAEEEEN
P An 73 2 0 6 3 B =T 3 -
B BEEABARARSE
RGERAEEEDZTA
(B mRE - R
e #E T AR FE S O BR 75
FEBERARRAX IS
BRI ERE LB
BHER A HEEE - &

e including any market performance o BEEMMHRIRKE
conditions (for example, an entity’s share " (Bl E R R,
price); Bt

o excluding the impact of any service

o TEEFEMREME

and non-market performance vesting 5 & I & B k1
conditions (for example, profitability, (flanZ A ge - 88
sales growth targets and remaining an EMERELENETE
employee of the entity over a specified HENDREENE

time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for grantees to save or holding shares for
a specified period of time).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.18 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the senior management,
ophthalmologists, physicians, employees and
consultants of subsidiary undertakings in the
Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of services received, measured
by reference to the grant date fair value, is
recognised over the vesting period as an increase
to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)

44.19 Provisions

44.19 B4 4%

240

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

44.20 Provision for reinstatement cost

Provision for reinstatement cost is included in other
payables and represents the present value of the
estimated cost for the restoration work of the Group’s
leased premises agreed to be carried out upon the
expiry of the relevant leases using a risk-free pre-
tax interest rate. The provision has been determined
by the directors based on their best estimates. The
related reinstatement costs, upon initial recognition,
have been included as leasehold improvements in the
consolidated statement of financial position (Note 13).
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 44 H4SHEEHRE @)
POLICIES (Continued)
44.21 Earnings/(loss) per share MN BREREBF,(FHE)
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share (@) BREXEF (EHE)

FRERRFN, (BR) &

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by
dividing:

the profit/(loss) attributable to owners
of the company, excluding any costs of
servicing equity other than ordinary shares

KRB AR
B/ (B8 (Te1
SN B AR A SME 5
B EAARA) R

by the weighted average number of B DABA U A B 3
ordinary shares outstanding during the 1TEBAREINKE T

financial year, adjusted for bonus elements
in ordinary shares issued during the year
and excluding treasury shares.

BEE - UBFAD
BTERR(TERE
JE 17 B A7) B9 AL I 4E

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b) EREEERF (EHE)

BREERT 7 (E18) A
BETERERRF (&
18) RHERMET AFT R

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share adjusts the
figures used in the determination of basic
earnings/(loss) per share to take into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would have
been outstanding assuming the conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

44.22 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)
44.23 Leases M3 AEE

242

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a
lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as a
single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)
44.23 Leases (Continued) M3 HEEE

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the Group, which does not have
recent third party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to
the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a
starting point to determine the incremental borrowing
rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use
asset.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 4 HMEFHREHME®E)
POLICIES (Continued)

44.23 Leases (Continued) M3 HE (B

pL

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

° any initial direct costs, and
. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it
has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings
held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss without a purchases option.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT
equipment and small items of office furniture.

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Cost represents consideration paid for the right to
use the land on which various plants and buildings are
situated for a period from 13 to 40 years. Amortisation
of land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the period of leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

44.25 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in
the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of
the resolution of the uncertainty.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 44 HETTBERBE (9
POLICIES (Continued)
44.25 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 44.25 BNEA R FE AR 8 BE ()
(b) Deferred income tax (b) BRI
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the BIEFTEHRERAAEERM
liability method, on temporary differences arising BERIRABBENHREERE
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities G BHRETHEREREBE
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated MR R ZREER - A -
financial statements. However, deferred tax R IEE BEREERN
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from R mES - AETE
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred MEBEITE®ER - WK
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises LEMEHERS (X%46
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in PHBRIN AP REBEEX A
a transaction other than a business combination B L ERMESE - M
that at the time of the transaction affects neither RHEBUTNZEGFT RIE
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred TR EE  REEFTSH
income tax is determined using tax rates (and MAGARR - BLEMRMEMH
laws) that have been enacted or substantially RABBMRAEX B BHAIE
enacted by the date of statement of financial MR EE LB MM
position and are expected to apply when the E(RERB)ETE BHZ
related deferred income tax asset is realised or ERR(REBR)EEBAE
the deferred income tax liability is settled. LEFREMEEZRIEL

IS aEAERER -

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only BRARRRAIBE R R
to the extent that it is probable that future FIE AT R LA S 3% S B
taxable profit will be available to utilise those ERREBEONERLT H
temporary differences and losses. ERAELEMENEE -
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not fisd 25 2 ) B 1% Il 48 [0 & A5
recognised for temporary differences between ZHRNKBEARZEEZER
the carrying amount and tax bases of ARG F] R iGR & -
investments in foreign operations where the AN gRBINEBRAR
Company is able to control the timing of the HEERE AT RE
reversal of the temporary differences and it is HRRECHIEEERE
probable that the differences will not reverse in E ©

the foreseeable future.
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44 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

44.25 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(@

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and where
the deferred tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

44.26 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.
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Financial Infformation Summary
M ENRE

AREBRANHEHN 2 EEFHRBERE
MRFEMNCTRXE BERABEME
o

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, prepared on the basis as set
out herein, is set out below:

Year ended 31 December

248

BZ12R31HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 PANS)
2023 F 20225 20216 20206 2019
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET AT
Results ES
Revenue LON 1,923,964 1,731,903 1,112,577 699,545 576,209
Gross profit =7 618,962 447,697 358,228 194,077 191,321
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE/ (F8) 86,335 (46,225) 16,230 (8,412) 39,122
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity ARRERTEARE
holders of the Company FERFE/ (EB) 61,998 (21,875) 21,861 (6,246) 41,435
Eamings before interest, taxes, BRE B TEREH
depreciation and amortisation® RO 343,491 225,351 183,976 121,362 125,796
Gross profit margin (%) FEME (%) 32.2% 25.9% 322% 27.7% 33.2%
Net profit margin (%) F I X (%) N/A N/A
4.5% TiE A 1.5% TiE A 6.8%
Earnings/(loss) per share for profit! £RAAFERFEEA
(loss) attributable to equity GRS,/ (FE) M
holders of the Company during ~ SKREH,/ (H#8)
the year (expressed in HK cents ~ (LABRELZIR)
per share)
- Basic -EK 494 (1.77) 1.90 0.57) 3.96
- Diluted -%E 494 (1.77) 1.90 0.57) 3.87
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BERE 2,748,635 2,901,687 1955877  1,629211 1,119,649
Total liabilities BAEET 755,349 903,448 618,634 331,980 258,328
Total equity EmeE 1,993,286 1,998,239 1,337,243 1,297,231 861,321
Note: [{hg=3
(1) This is not a measure of performance under HKFRS, but is widely (1) WHEEBMBRESENNRRG=E -

used by management for monitoring business performance of a
company from operational perspective. It may not be comparable to
similar measures presented by other companies.
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